
 

Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage 
and excited by its diverse opportunities and future 

 
 

Standards and Audit Committee 
 
 
The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 20 October 2022 
 
Committee Room 2, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL 
 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Elizabeth Rigby (Chair), Augustine Ononaji (Vice-Chair), Steve Liddiard, 
Kairen Raper, Graham Snell and Allen Mayes 
 
Charles Clarke 
Lisa Laybourn 
 
Substitutes: 
 
Councillors Gary Collins, Shane Ralph, Sue Sammons, Lee Watson and 
Lynn Worrall 
 

 
Agenda 

 
Open to Public and Press 

 
  Page 
  
1   Apologies for Absence  

 
 

 
2   Minutes 

 
5 - 14 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Standards and 
Audit Committee meeting held on 7 July 2022. 
  
 

 

 
3   Items of Urgent Business 

 
 

 To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

 
4   Declaration of Interests  

 
 

 



 
 

5   Annual Complaints & Enquiries Report -  2021/2022  
 

15 - 96 
 
6   Annual Information Governance Report April 2021 - March 2022  

 
97 - 110 

 
7   In Quarter 2 Refresh of the Strategic / Corporate Risk and 

Opportunity Register  
 

111 - 168 

 
8   Counter Fraud & Investigation Quarterly Update  

 
169 - 176 

 
9   Work Programme  

 
177 - 180 

 
 
Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies: 
 
Please contact Rhiannon Whiteley, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending 
an email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 
 
Agenda published on: 12 October 2022 



Information for members of the public and councillors 
 

Access to Information and Meetings 

 

Advice Regarding Public Attendance at Meetings  
 
If you are feeling ill or have tested positive for Covid and are isolating you should 
remain at home, the meeting will be webcast and you can attend in that way.  
 
Hand sanitiser will also be available at the entrance for your use.  
 
 
Recording of meetings  
 
This meeting will be live streamed and recorded with the video recording being 
published via the Council’s online webcast channel: www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk  
 
 
Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings  
 
The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities. If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have 
any special requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact 
the Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.  
 
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee. The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed 
provided it has been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to 
ensure that it will not disrupt proceedings.  
 
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting. 

  

Page 1

http://www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast
mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi 

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, smartphone or tablet. 

• You should connect to TBC-GUEST 

• Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network. 

• A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept. 

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only. 

Evacuation Procedures 

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk. 

How to view this agenda on a tablet device 

  

 

You can view the agenda on your iPad or Android Device with the free 
modern.gov app. 
 

 
Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services. 
 
To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should: 
 
• Access the modern.gov app 
• Enter your username and password 

 
 
 

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence 
 
Helpful Reminders for Members 
 

• Is your register of interests up to date?  
• In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests?  
• Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly?  

 
When should you declare an interest at a meeting? 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

• If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
• relate to; or 
• likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

• your spouse or civil partner’s
• a person you are living with as husband/ wife
• a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of the 
Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a pending 
notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



 
 
Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock 
 

An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by 
its diverse opportunities and future. 
 
 
1. People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and 

stay 
 

• High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 
 

• Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups 
to work together to improve health and wellbeing  
 

• Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger 
together  

 
 
2. Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future 
 

• Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 
 

• Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in 
 

• Fewer public buildings with better services 
 
 
 
3. Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
 

• Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local 
economy 
 

• Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all 
 

• Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services 
 

Page 4



Minutes of the Meeting of the Standards and Audit Committee held on 7 July 
2022 at 7.00 pm 
 
Present: 
 

Councillors Elizabeth Rigby (Chair), Augustine Ononaji (Vice-
Chair), Adam Carter, Steve Liddiard, Kairen Raper and 
Graham Snell 
 

 Charles Clarke, Co-Opted Member 
Lisa Laybourn, Co-Opted Member 
 

In attendance: Matthew Boulter, Democratic Services Manager and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer 
Rachel Brittain, Binder Dijke Otte (BDO) 
Nicholas Coker, Intelligence Manager & Senior Appropriate 
Officer, Counter Fraud 
Andy Owen, Corporate Risk and Insurance Manager 
Jonathon Wilson, Assistant Director, Finance 
Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 

  

Before the start of the Meeting, all present were advised that the meeting was being 
recorded, with the recording to be made available on the Council’s website. 

 
1. Minutes  

 
Minutes of the Standard and Audit Committee held on the 10 March 2022 
were approved as a correct record. 
 

2. Items of Urgent Business  
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

3. Declaration of Interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. Regulation of Investigatory Powers (RIPA) - Activity Report 2021/22  
 
The report presented provided members with an update on the usage and 
activity of RIPA requests during the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. 
Members were also presented with the refreshed RIPA Policy.  
  
Councillor Ononaji referred to the minutes of the last committee and to his 
comment made on page 6 of the agenda in regard to “low number of 
complaints in 2020/21” and again with no recorded complaints for 2021/22 
questioned the consistency behind the low numbers. Nick Coker stated that 
where possible it was to try and keep this figure as low as possible and as 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



there had been no replications this was a testament that other investigation 
methods were being employed.  
  
Councillor Ononaji stated the Standard and Audit Committee should be privy 
to data information when in relation to the prevention of crime to which Nick 
Coker stated the report on fraud this evening would provide more details for 
members on the statistics provided for the Counter Fraud Investigation Team 
and there was a requirement from the surveillance commission to bring the 
RIPA report to this committee. Councillor Ononaji stated that hopefully the 
committee would see some improvements to show that the RIPA policies 
were being implemented properly. Nick Coker stated the use of direct 
surveillance would be avoided as much as possible, so that was why the 
figures remained low and was testament to the other investigative methods 
used.  
  
Councillor Rigby asked what the alternatives were of the less non-intrusive 
methods being used to which Nick Coker stated a lot of investigations could 
be resolved without the use of direct surveillance, a lot of economic crime, 
insider threats and housing fraud cases could be resolved by reviewing 
council records, records held by external agencies and partners, speaking to 
individuals involved and avoiding the need to utilise legislation such as RIPA.  
  
Councillor Carter referred to page 18, paragraph 3.1.4 of the agenda and 
questioned whether there was any reason for the drop of requests made to 
the National Anti-Fraud Network in 2021/22 when compared to 2020/21. Nick 
Coker stated that due to how some of that work was now undertaken had sat 
around the COVID pandemic and there had been a significant drop in the type 
of investigations that would normally have been conducted and by some of 
the restrictions that had been put in place by Government.  
  
RESOLVED 
  
Noted the statistical information relating to the use of RIPA for the 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. 
  

5. Annual Review of Risk and Opportunity Management and the Policy, 
Strategy and Framework  
 
The report presented provided members with details of how the Council’s Risk 
and Opportunity Management arrangements compared against good practice, 
outlined the current activity, the proposals to maintain and improve the 
practice across the organisation and included the updated Policy, Strategy 
and Framework.  
  
Councillor Raper referred to paragraph 2.4 of the report and asked for 
clarification on who would pose and respond to those questions to which Andy 
Owen stated this model was devised by CIPFA with about 39 questions with 
strands of various sections, CIPFA posed the questions, he would undertake 
the answers as part of a self-assessment against the model, the result would 
then be shared with the performance and director boards to which information 

Page 6



and further feedback from those areas, would in turn be put into the model 
and results would be produced. Andy Owen stated the last audit report had 
ran on a similar model and produced similar results. 
  
Lisa Laybourn referred to paragraph 3.1 of the report, evaluation of results, 
and stated the results were positive but noted there had not been much 
progress between 2020 and 2021. She questioned whether there was an 
ambition to reach Level 5 and whether these were supported by actions over 
time and if so, were they being monitored. Andy Owen stated the council was 
doing well to maintain Level 4 and to reach Level 5 would take some resource 
on capacity and as the Risk Manager would take up a lot of his time, but work 
could be undertaken with the performance and director boards to make those 
improvements. Andy Owen agreed that a further review against the model 
could be undertaken to understand what more could be done to get to Level 
5, probably not possibly to obtain this year but to put in a medium-term plan to 
get to that level. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
1.       That Standards and Audit Committee noted the results of the 

review, the current ROM activity and proposals to maintain and 
improved the practice across the organisation. 

  
2.       That Standards and Audit Committee noted and approved the 

updated ROM Policy, Strategy and Framework. 
  

6. In Quarter 4 (2021- 22) Review of the Strategic / Corporate Risk and 
Opportunity Register  
 
The report presented provided the Standards and Audit Committee with the 
key risks and opportunities identified by the review and the revised Strategic/ 
Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register.  
  
Lisa Laybourn questioned whether the ratings had been based on impact to 
which Andy Owen referred Members to Appendix 3 of the report that outlined 
the current criteria for impact or likelihood on how the items were rated. A 
discussion took place on the risk scoring and concluded that the risk scoring 
in the report we’re the revised residual risks after any appropriate controls had 
been applied. 
  
RESOLVED  
  
1.       That the Standards and Audit Committee noted the items and 

details contained in the Dashboard (Appendix 1). 
  
2.       That the Standards and Audit Committee noted the ‘In Focus’ 

report (Appendix 2), which highlighted the higher priority items 
identified by the review. 

  
 

Page 7



7. Audit Progress Report for 2020/21 External Audit  
 
The report presented detailed the progress of the audit for 2020/21 financial 
statements. It was noted that much of the audit field work had been 
substantially completed with most areas of the audit being progressed. 
However much of the audit work was pending a review by the audit manager 
and audit engagement lead. With the appointment of a new audit team 
member to undertake the day-to-day management of the audit and to oversee 
the review and completion of audit procedures, audit work would restart in 
July with the expectation it would be completed by the end of September and 
to be reported to this committee in October 2022. Thurrock’s audit delay was 
in line with the national issue being raised by Government who were taking 
action to get the timeliness of local audit back on track. 
  
Councillor Carter referred to paragraph 3.3, appointment of a new audit team 
member, of the report and questioned when that position had been filled to 
which Rachel Brittain stated they had started on Monday, 4 July. 
  
Councillor Ononaji questioned how much progress had been made since the 
last report in March 2022 to which Rachel Brittain stated no progress had 
been made as that key person had not been in post and this had been the first 
opportunity for someone to be made available to start this work. Councillor 
Ononaji highlighted the importance of the work to be undertaken and 
questioned whether the right tools and resources were in place to complete 
this work to which Rachel Brittain stated they were trying to recruit and fill 
vacancies in a more innovative way. Explained the audit market was a tough 
market at this time to recruit with lots of competition for each of their 
vacancies. They were looking at different solutions, looking at using overseas 
staff, had a centre of excellence which had been set up in South Africa but 
tended to be more junior grades. The position that needed to be replaced was 
a key senior member of the team and required public sector experience to be 
able to do a good job. Councillor Ononaji questioned when progress would be 
made to which Rachel Brittain stated she hoped to bring the audit completion 
report to the October committee, at that point the audit should be finished. 
  
Charles Clarke referred to the recently closed consultation and that the audit 
could not be signed off without the completion or the final result, questioned 
whether the October date proposed was subject to that consultation to which 
Rachel Brittain confirmed that was vital before she could sign off, there may 
be some additional work, but confirmed to be able to do this within the 
timeline proposed.  Charles Clarke questioned whether this would give the 
committee the guarantee that come October all 21 audits would be completed 
and would be looking at the next year’s audit to which Rachel Brittain stated 
this would be achievable, unless any unexpected issues arose, to be finalised 
in that timeline. 
  
Lisa Laybourn asked for some clarification on how the open consultation 
would impact the prior period to which Rachel Brittain stated the issues were  
with infrastructure assets, in the way they are accounted for and the fact that 
quite often those assets would be added to and then not written off. 

Page 8



Therefore, there was a potentially issue on the balance sheet where both the 
asset and the depreciation would be overstated, but the net position would 
probably be right. Confirmed that the consultation had gone out therefore any 
changes made would apply retrospectively so that there were not any issues 
over comparatives. 
  
Councillor Rigby referred to the objection to the financial statements and 
questioned whether this had delayed the work that was on going to which 
Rachel Brittain stated there would be additional work to be undertaken that 
would need to be carried out on the final accounts to address this objection 
but confirmed that this had not delayed the process.  
  
Councillor Rigby questioned whether the staff crisis would be better managed 
going forward to which Rachel Brittain stated there were still vacancies within 
the team but were actively looking at different ways to recruit, there was a 
significant backlog that needed to be caught up on but was confident they had 
sufficient number of staff to get these completed.  
  
RESOLVED 
  
That the Standards and Audit Committee noted the progress of the 
external auditors in completing the audit of 2020/21 financial statements. 
  

8. Ethical Standards Report  
 
The report presented asked the committee to recommend to Council that the 
Local Government Association’s (LGA) model Councillor Code of Conduct 
and the Social media policy for Members were adopted. The committee was 
asked to consider the LGA’s Guidance on Member Code of Conduct 
Complaints Handling.  
  
Councillor Snell referred to page 132, sanctions, of the report and questioned 
whether in the report there was a trigger point when a Member may have 
taken a step too far. Mathew Boulter stated the Monitoring Officer would be 
the gatekeeper for the complaints service and would need to attend this 
committee to ask members for advice and guidance regarding any sanctions 
as part of a member advisory group. The Monitoring Officer would make an 
assessment of any trigger and concluded that if a members behaviour needed 
some form of sanction it would need to come to that advisory group for 
investigation. 
  
Councillor Ononaji questioned whether the Policy was here this evening for 
the committee to agree for it to be adopted to which Mathew Boulter stated 
the Local Government Association had issued a revised version of the policy 
with a few additions and amendments, these can be added to the council’s 
latest edition to bring that in line with what the Local Government Association 
had suggested as a model code. Councillor Ononaji questioned whether this 
policy had been shared with all 49 members to which Matthew Boulter stated 
the Code of Conduct Report would be presented to Full Council in due course 
to be signed off.  

Page 9



  
Councillor Carter thanked Matthew Boulter for the social media guidelines 
prepared and thanked him for the very good report. 
  
Councillor Rigby referred to Sanctions in the report and that none of them had 
mentioned suspension of a councillor and this would only take place if a 
member committed a criminal offence would they then be disqualified. She 
asked for clarification that if a member broke the code of conduct, they would 
still be able to act as a councillor but not sit on any committees to which 
Matthew Boulter stated that was correct unless they broke the law and stated 
that political party discipline would kick in at some point if a member were to 
breach something significant. Also, an advisory group could look at what 
sanctions could be put in place for any such breach. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
1.       The committee recommended to Full Council the adoption of the 

Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct 
as set out in Appendix 1. 

  
2.       The committee considered and recommended to Full Council the 

adoption of the Social Media policy for Members as set out in 
Appendix 2. 

  
3.       The committee considered the LGA’s Guidance on Member Code 

of Conduct Complaints Handling and that the Monitoring Officer 
revises the Council’s existing arrangements to reflect best 
practice. 

 
9. Complaints received under Members' Code of Conduct  

 
The report presented set out details of complaints against Members of the 
council received during the municipal year 2021/22. 
  
Councillor Snell questioned whether there had been an incidence when a 
complaint about a member was dealt with without that member ever finding 
out to which Matthew Boulter stated the complaints in the report where formal 
complaints which had been assessed against the seven Nolan principles. As 
Monitoring Officer, he received a lot of issues from people about relationships 
with councillor, with residents and officers and a lot of those would be dealt 
with before a member had been informed as these would have been 
assessed as a non-complaint or been resolved without the due process of the 
complaints system. 
  
Charles Clarke referred to paragraph 2.4 of the report and questioned 
whether there was a different process with dealing with a complaint that had 
been received from another councillor and questioned how these would be 
assessed and reported back on. Matthew Boulter stated there would be no 
discouragement on member-on-member complaints but there would be an 
expectation that members would resolve issues or disagreements between 

Page 10



themselves in a political way. Although if a member felt that another member 
had breached the Nolan principles, standards in public life, the monitoring 
officer would be fully supportive of them making a formal complaint which 
would be investigated in the same way as any other complaint would be dealt 
with.  
  
Councillor Snell questioned whether any of the decisions discussed this 
evening would be any different under the new standards to which Matthew 
Boulter stated none of the complaints represented a serious breach of the 
code with nothing in the report that would have been dealt with differently. 
  
Councillor Rigby questioned whether members would be informed of any 
complaints that had been raised again them, to which Matthew Boulter stated 
contact would be made with that resident, the complaints process explained to 
them and once they understood that process may decide not to pursue their 
complaints. Members would not be made aware of those complaints. 
Although for anything significant, behaviour or actions of a member would 
have to be addressed and that Member would be told. 
  
Councillor Ononaji questioned how complaints from members of the public 
would be dealt when that resident had not fully understood the role of a 
member to which Matthew Boulter stated every complaint had to be made 
through a complaints form which was accessible to everyone online which 
would take the complainant through a number of stages which would clarify 
their complaint. They would need to provide evidence and provide information 
on how they would like the complaint to be resolved. There may be situations 
when residents decide this would not be the route to take but confirmed to 
members that every form completed would be investigated. As part of this 
process, residents may be informed there was no complaint to be had 
because the complaint had no substance.  
  
RESOLVED 
  
That the committee noted the outcomes on complaints received under 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

10. Counter Fraud and Investigation Annual Report  
 
The report presented to members outlined the performance of the team over 
the last year, 2021/22, as well as proposed the new Counter Fraud strategy 
and proactive work plan to tackle fraud for the council in 2022/23. 
  
Councillor Carter referred to page 235 of the agenda, finances, and thanked 
the Counter Fraud Investigation team for their hard work and for the 
applaudable detection of more than £2.3 million of fraud from various sources 
whilst also recovering £1.9 million. 
  
Councillor Raper also referred to page 235 of the agenda, referred to the 
secondment of staff and whether the partner contributions covered the on-site 
budget to which Nick Coker stated it would. 

Page 11



  
Councillor Ononaji referred to page 231, results and statistics, of the agenda 
and questioned why Housing was the highest in the crime type categories in 
the number of suspected fraud and active investigations. Nick Coker stated 
housing fraud had always been a big part of the council’s investigations team, 
there had been factors over the period of the COVID pandemic with 
lockdowns, restrictions on visiting people in their homes and people isolating. 
Therefore, it had become difficult to detect, implement outstanding or normal 
investigation processes and to identify instances of house fraud such as 
subletting or abandonment. Councillor Ononaji asked what steps were being 
taken to reduce those housing fraud activities or possibly stop them from 
happening to which Nick Coker stated the team worked closely with officers 
from the housing department, provided training to officers, officers would be 
more visible within the social housing scene and by visiting tenants. Measures 
were in place to reduce the number of incidences of housing fraud and when 
such cases were uncovered the appropriate action would be taken. Councillor 
Ononaji questioned whether improvements could be made to manage this 
area to which Nick Coker stated it was a difficult area to manage given the 
way in which people lived their lives and every possible measure was being 
undertaken to reduce the number of incidences and to give those homes to 
families that genuinely needed them. 
  
Lisa Laybourn also referred to page 231 of the agenda and to the total of 
open investigations being £1.7 million and asked for a brief explanation on 
how those figures were calculated, such as how many investigations were 
open, those being conducted and how far back some of the fraud went. Nick 
Coker stated that for some incidences such as housing it was quite difficult to 
quantify but other cases such as money laundering and social care revenues 
cases a more precise figure could be given. There were standard guidelines 
in relation to calculating fraud which were followed by the Counter Fraud 
Investigation Team. There was also a criminal finance team, accredited 
financial investigations and intelligence officers who were key to calculating 
many of the figures in the report. 
  
Councillor Snell referred to the same tables on page 231, Insider Threats, and 
questioned what the prevalence of this was and whether this was diminishing 
over time to which Nick Coker stated this was not hugely prevalent in the 
council and although he did not have the exact figures to hand this maybe 
something the committee might like to revisit and bring to committee at 
another time. 
  
Charles Clarke referred to page 231, Insider Threats, and asked for some 
clarification on the number of reported suspected frauds compared to the 
active investigation figures to which Nick Coker stated that figure could 
change during the course of an investigation and would need to look at the 
specifies of each investigation to identify what may have changed that figure 
or what the process of investigation had been to have amended or changed 
that figure. 
  

Page 12



Charles Clarke noted the work undertaken with other councils, NATIS and 
Cabinet Office and questioned was this something that benefitted the council 
directly through grants or had this been consultancy work. Nick Coker stated 
the team had a very unique skill set in relation to the investigation of economic 
crime which was sought after to assist not only with the council’s 
investigations but offered their services elsewhere which in turn benefitted the 
council and the residents of Thurrock. 
  
Councillor Rigby stated that during the pandemic there were fewer referrals 
and questioned whether the number of referrals had started to increase to 
which Nick Coker stated that things had started to return to normal with the 
number of referrals picking up and engagement with the council and that 
engagement between council officers and members of the public had also 
increased.  
  
Councillor Rigby questioned whether there was any comparison with other 
boroughs on the number and type of fraudulent claims to which Nick Coker 
stated that across the national picture there had been parts of the country that 
had been more affected than Thurrock against similar schemes and business 
support grants. That fortunately Thurrock had been in a unique position with 
officers taking a lead on the investigation of such offences. 
  
RESOLVED 
 
 
1.       The Committee noted the performance of the Counter Fraud & 

Investigation team over the last year. 
  
2.       The Committee approved the Counter Fraud & Investigation 

strategy and work programme for 2022/23. 
  

11. Work Programme  
 
Members discussed the work programme and raised the concern on the 
number of items on the next committee meeting. Democratic Services agreed 
to take this away and discuss with Officers.  
 
The meeting finished at 8.20 pm 
 

Approved as a true and correct record 
 
 

CHAIR 
 
 

DATE 
 

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact 
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 13

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

20 October 2022 ITEM: 5 

Standards and Audit Committee 

Annual Complaints & Enquiries Report – 2021/2022 

Wards and communities affected:  
All 

Key Decision:  
Non-key 

Report of: Lee Henley - Strategic Lead Information Management 

Accountable Director: Jackie Hinchliffe – Director of HR, OD & Transformation  

This report is: Public 
 
Executive Summary 

 
• The number of complaints received for the reporting period is 1562. For the same 

period last year, the figure was 1227, therefore the reporting period represents an 
increase in complaints received. 
 

• Details of the top 10 complaint areas are detailed within Appendix 1.  
 

• A summary for Adult Social Care complaints is attached as Appendix 2.   
 

• A summary for Children Social Care complaints is attached as Appendix 3.  
 

• During the reporting period, 39% of complaints were upheld. This is an increase 
compared to the same period last year, which identified 33% of complaints as 
upheld.  

 
• For the reporting period, 87% of complaints were responded to within timeframe. 

This is below the 90% target and represents a slight dip in performance from last 
year, where 88% were responded to within timeframe. 

 
• A total of 286 MP enquiries were received, of which 82% were responded to 

within timeframe. This represents a dip in performance compared to last year’s 
figures of 84% within timeframe from 374 received.  

 
• A total of 4336 member enquiries were received, with 94% responded to within 

timeframe. Last year the council received 3948 enquiries with 95% responded to 
within timeframe.  The average time taken to respond to members enquiries 
across all Directorates was 4 days.  
 

• Member enquiries continue to increase in volume, requiring significant capacity 
and resources across the council. The cost of processing Member Enquiries 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 

across our service areas is estimated at £215k each year. Members have a key 
role in promoting the council’s Digital by Design principle and using digital 
channels, highlighting where improvements are needed and using Member 
Enquiries as an escalation where normal process has failed. 

 
• The council received 1565 external compliments within the reporting period 

compared to 1545 during last year.  
 

• The Housing Ombudsman (HO) asks all Landlords to complete and publish a 
self-assessment of their compliance with the HO Complaints Handling Code. The 
council’s self-assessment has been published and is attached as Appendix 4. 

 
• Due to a change in complaints process, the percentage of complaints escalating 

onto Stage 2 has reduced. 
 
1. Recommendation 

1.1 To note the statistics and performance for the reporting period. 

2. Introduction and Background 

2.1  This report sets out the council’s complaints statistics for 2021/22. 

2.2  Adult Social Care (ASC) and Children’s Social Care (CSC) have separate 
statutory complaints procedures.  

2.3    Top 10 complaint themes have been produced and are attached as Appendix 
1. The Corporate Complaints Team work with services to establish the root 
cause for complaints received, to identify reasons for complaint escalation and 
to establish the reasons why complaints are upheld.   

2.4     Ombudsman Enquiries and/or compensation payments 
 
         Below provides a summary of: 

• Enquiries where the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) and/or the Housing Ombudsman (HO) have reached a final 
decision on cases within the reporting period 

• Other payments made as a form of complaint resolution  
 
 
 
 
 

Area Issue Nature Ombudsman 
Findings  

Financial 
Remedy 

Learning 
where 
relevant 

Did the 
council 
respond to 
the LGSCO 
or HO 
timeframes  

Housing - Repairs Complaint in 
relation to 
handling of 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£250 No specific 
learning, as 
the LGSCO 

Yes 

Page 16



 

drainage issues 
at a property 

finding was 
disputed by 
the council due 
to the 
complexities of 
this case 

Housing - 
Allocations 

Complaint in 
relation to 
resident being 
offered a 
property away 
from their family 
who provides 
support 

Insufficient 
evidence of fault 

N/A N/A (no fault) 
 

Yes 

Resourcing & 
Place Delivery – 
Business Rates 

Complaint 
regarding 
handling of 
application for 
small business 
grant fund 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£200 The grant 
payment that 
should have 
been provided 
under the 
grant fund was 
issued. 
 
There was no 
associated 
learning in this 
case, as the 
council 
disputed the 
findings of the 
LGSCO 

Yes 

Housing - 
Allocations 

Complaint 
regarding 
handling of 
request to be 
reallocated 

Insufficient 
evidence of fault  

N/A N/A (due to 
insufficient 
evidence of 
fault) 

Yes 

Housing- Anti-
Social Behaviour 

Complaint 
regarding 
handling of ASB 
reports 

No 
maladministration 

N/A N/A (no fault) Yes 

HR, OD & 
Transformation - 
Complaints Team 
 
 

The council 
failed to 
respond to the 
resident’s initial 
escalation 
request and 
provided 
incorrect advice 
when she 
chased her 
escalation 
request, which 
caused 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£150 Training 
session carried 
out in the 
complaints 
team to cover 
off identifying 
complaints.  
 
 

Yes 

Page 17



 

confusion and 
delays 

Housing -Repairs Complaint 
regarding 
quality of repairs 
and time taken 
to complete  

No 
maladministration 

N/A N/A (no fault) Yes 

Housing - 
Allocations 

Complaint 
regarding 
delays in 
moving a 
resident to a 
higher banding 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

N/A Staff training 
completed on 
managing 
generic 
inboxes for 
Housing 
Solutions, to 
ensure that 
any emails 
from residents 
are being read 
and responded 
to in full 

Yes 

Public Realm – 
Development 
Control 

Complaint 
regarding 
delays in acting 
to enforce the 
protection of a 
listed building 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

N/A Processes 
changed to 
ensure that 
detailed case 
notes and 
actions for any 
historic assets 
are recorded 
on the 
council’s 
system. This 
will ensure 
new officers 
have easy 
access to all 
documentation 
 
To ensure that 
services work 
closely with 
Place Services 
(Essex County 
Council), to 
obtain any 
necessary 
advice on 
heritage at risk 
properties, 
which will 
ensure the 
required action 
is undertaken 

Yes 

Page 18



 

Public Realm – 
Transport 
Development 

Complaint that 
measures have 
not been taken 
to deal with 
HGVs using 
residential roads 

Insufficient 
evidence of fault 

N/A N/A (due to 
insufficient 
evidence of 
fault) 

Yes 

Housing - Repairs Complaint 
regarding 
handling of 
mould issues 
and a request to 
replace a 
kitchen within 
the property 

No 
Maladministration 

N/A N/A (No Fault) Yes 

Public Realm – 
Waste Collection 

Complaint 
regarding 
missed brown 
bin collections 

Insufficient 
evidence of fault 

N/A N/A (due to 
insufficient 
evidence of 
fault) 

Yes 

Adult Social Care  Complaint that 
the Care Home 
failed to allow 
the complainant 
to see their 
mother who was 
in the Home’s 
care due to 
COVID 
restrictions  

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£200 To review the 
visitors 
booking 
system to 
ensure double 
bookings are 
identified to 
avoid any 
visits being 
cancelled 

Yes 

Adult Social Care   Complaint that 
the council did 
not provide 
details of a 
safeguarding 
referral and that 
restrictions were 
not clearly 
communicated   

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

N/A Ensure that 
when 
managing any 
Safeguarding 
enquiries 
going forward, 
the reasons for 
any restrictions 
imposed 
through a 
safeguarding 
management 
plan should be 
clearly 
recorded. 
These 
restrictions 
must also be 
discussed and 
agreed with 
the person at 
risk, where 
appropriate, 
and their views 
should be 

Yes 

Page 19



 

clearly 
recorded 

Public Realm – 
Waste Collection 

Missed 
collection of 
recycling bin 

No 
Maladministration 

N/A N/A (No Fault) Yes 

Public Realm – 
Waste Collection 

Missed 
collection of 
general waste 
and recycling 
bin 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£100 Ensure that 
when 
monitoring is 
implemented 
for waste 
collections, a 
record 
evidencing this 
is saved for 
future 
reference 

Yes 

Public Realm – 
Waste Collection 

Complaint 
regarding lack 
of waste 
collection for the 
assisted waste 
collection 
service 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£650 The process 
for recording 
missed 
collections for 
the assisted 
waste 
collection 
service has 
been made to 
clear to 
relevant staff 

Yes 

Housing - 
Allocations 

Complaint 
regarding 
handling of a 
request to be 
rehoused  

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

N/A Fault was due 
to discretion 
not being 
applied. As a 
result, training 
has taken 
place in the 
team to ensure 
that Officers 
seek further 
advice on 
applying 
discretion, 
either via 
referring to the 
Allocations 
Policy and/or 
by speaking to 
a Senior 
Officer   

Yes 

Public Realm – 
Waste Collection 

Complaint 
regarding the 
council 
repeatedly 
failing to provide  

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

 £500 Resident’s 
assisted 
collection 
agreement 
reviewed to 
ensure 

Yes 

Page 20



 

 
 
Other payments made: 
 
In addition to the table above, £1157 was paid by the council as a form of complaint 
resolution across 10 Stage 2 complaints. 

agreed assisted 
bin collections  

instructions 
are clear 
 
Assisted 
collections to 
be monitored 
for two months 
following the 
final 
Ombudsman 
decision 

Housing – Tenancy 
Management 

Complaint 
regarding 
landlord’s 
management of 
their request to 
reassign their 
tenancy 
agreement after 
separation from 
partner 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£150 Officers to 
ensure that 
case records 
are updated 
after each 
contact/attemp
ted contact, to 
ensure audit 
trail exists and 
delays are 
avoided  

Yes 

Housing – 
Leaseholders 

The complaint 
concerns the 
cost of 
improvement 
works carried 
out at the 
resident’s 
property 

Outside of 
Ombudsman’s 
Jurisdiction 

N/A N/A Yes 

Housing – Repairs The complaint is 
about the 
landlord’s 
handling of 
reports of damp 
and mould 
within the 
property. 

Outside of 
Ombudsman’s 
Jurisdiction 

N/A N/A Yes 

Housing - Repairs The complaint is 
about the 
landlord’s 
handling of: 
reports of 
repairs to the 
door and 
behaviour of 
staff 

Outside of 
Ombudsman’s 
Jurisdiction 

N/A N/A Yes 

Page 21



 

 
 
2.5  MP and Members Enquiries 
 
2.5.1 During the reporting period enquiries were received as follows: 
 

• 4336 member enquiries were received, with 94% responded to within 
timeframe. The average time taken to respond to members enquiries 
across all Directorates was 4 days. 
 

 
 
 
 

• A total of 286 MP enquiries were received, of which 82% were responded 
to within the timeframe.  

 
2.5.2  MP enquiry trends and common themes are outlined below: 
 

Cllr Enquiries
4336  (94%)

MP Enquiries
286

(82%) 

Cllr Enquiries

MP Enquiries

Enquiries

Page 22



 

 
 
2.5.3  Councillor enquiry trends and common themes are outlined below: 
 

 
 
2.6    Learning lessons from complaints 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Housin
g -

 Housin
g S

olutio
ns

Housin
g -

 Repair
s

Public 
Realm

 - T
ran

sp
ort 

Deve
lopment

Public 
Realm

 - W
ast

e M
an

ag
ement

Public 
Realm

 - H
igh

way
s M

ain
tenan

ce

Housin
g -

 Esta
tes M

an
ag

ement

Public 
Realm

 - D
eve

lopment C
ontro

l

Public 
Realm

 - P
ark

ing E
nforce

ment

Child
rens S

ervi
ce

s -
 SE

ND

Child
rens S

ervi
ce

s -
 Home to

 Sc
hool T

ran
sp

ort

MP Enquiries

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Public 
Realm

 - H
igh

way
s M

ain
tenan

ce

Public 
Realm

 - W
ast

e M
an

ag
ement

Public 
Realm

 - C
lean

 &
 Green

Public 
Realm

 - D
eve

lopment C
ontro

l

Housin
g -

 Repair
s

Public 
Realm

 - T
ran

sp
ort 

Deve
lopment

Public 
Realm

 - E
nvir

onmental
 Enforce

ment

Housin
g -

 Esta
tes M

an
ag

ement

Housin
g -

 Housin
g P

rovis
ion

Public 
Realm

 - P
ark

ing E
nforce

ment

Cllr Enquiries

Page 23



 

 
          The most important aspect of any complaints management framework is the 

ability to demonstrate that the council can show evidence that it is learning from 
complaints received.  Appendix 1 shows the top 10 complaint themes and a 
summary of high-level learning from upheld complaints which has been 
identified for each area.  

 
 

2.7    Social Care Complaints & Representations  

         Appendix 2 provides a summary dashboard for Adult Social Care. 
 
         Appendix 3 provides a summary dashboard for Children’s Social Care.  
 

2.8    Complaint channels 
 

There are various means for complainants to register expressions of 
dissatisfaction. The top themes for the reporting period are shown below: 

 
Digital channel (email, social media, 
website) 

90% 

Telephone 5% 
Complaints Form 2% 
Letter 2% 
In Person 1% 

 
 
2.9    Compliments  
 
           The council received 1565 external compliments within the reporting period 

compared to 1545 from last year. A breakdown is shown below: 
 
           Note – The high volume shown for Strategy, Engagement & Growth are in the 

main due to compliments received via our contact centre call handling 
satisfaction surveys. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.10    Complaints that fall within the Housing Ombudsman Jurisdiction 
 

Area Volume 
Strategy, Engagement & Growth 1213 
Housing 101 
Public Realm 100 
Adult Social Care 99 
Children Social Care 25 
Education 25 
HR, OD & Transformation 2 
Total 1565 

Page 24



 

The Housing Ombudsman (HO) have produced a Complaints Handling Code 
that the council must comply with. A self-assessment of this code has been 
undertaken (see Appendix 4) and this is published on the council’s website.   

 
2.11    Complaints Process 

 
From 1 April 2021 the council: 

• Moved to a two-stage complaints process for all complaints (excluding 
Adult and Children Social Care Complaints). Prior to this a three-stage 
process was in place 

• Increased its timeframes to respond to Stage 1 complaints from 7 
working days to 10 working days 
 

The primary reason for the above change was to improve the customer 
experience in relation to complaints, by improving the quality of Stage 1 
complaint responses and therefore reducing the number of escalations 
(getting it right first time).  
 
The figures below show that the change to process was effective, as the 
percentage of complaints that escalated to Stage 2 has reduced. 
 

• 2020/21 - 14% of Stage 1 responses escalated to Stage 2 
• 2021/22 – 11% of Stage 1 responses escalated to Stage 2 

  
3        Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1      There are no options associated with this paper. 
 
4 Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1    This report is for noting purposes.  There are no recommendations requiring 

approval. 
 
5        Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1     This report was sent to Digital and Demand Board and Director’s Board.   
 
6 Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 
 
6.1 Complaints impact on the council’s priority of delivering excellence and 

achieving value for money. 
 
6.2 The complaints process seeks to create a culture of corporate learning from 

best practice from listening to our customers and by acting on complaints.  All 
complaints received must have learning applied if the complaint outcome is 
upheld. 

 

Page 25



 

6.3 The complaints process aims to improve customers’ and users’ experience of 
accessing council services.  This will support our customer services strategy. 
 

7      Implications 
 
7.1      Financial  
 

Implications verified by:      Jonathan Wilson 
          Assistant Director Finance 

 
The financial implications are set out in the body of the report. 

 
7.2      Legal 

 
          Implications verified by:  Gina Clarke - Corporate Governance Lawyer &  
         Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

Given that this is an update report for noting there are no legal implications 
directly arising from it. The following points should be noted by way of 
background information: 
 
• Both the Courts and the Local Government Ombudsman expect 
complainants to show that they have exhausted local complaints / appeal 
procedures before commencing external action. 
 
• The implementation of our learning from complaints and listening to our 
residents should lead to a reduction of complaints received and a reduction in 
those going to the Ombudsman or the Courts. 
 
• Social Care for Adult and Children are required to follow a separate 
procedure stipulated by the Department of Health (DOH) and Department for 
Education & Skills (DFES). 
 

7.3 Diversity and Equality 
 

   Implications verified by:  Natalie Smith - Strategic Lead Community 
Development and Equalities 

 
The Information Management Team will ensure that the Community 
Development and Equalities Manager is made aware of all complaints that 
have an equality related expression of dissatisfaction.  
 

 
7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e., Staff, Health Inequalities,    

Sustainability, Crime and Disorder or Impact on Looked After Children 

Page 26



 

 
         None 
 
8      Background papers used in preparing the report 

 
        Information has been obtained from the council’s complaints system. 
 
9.    Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1 – Top 10 complaint themes  
• Appendix 2 – Adult Social Care complaint dashboard 
• Appendix 3 – Children Social Care complaint dashboard 
• Appendix 4 – Self Assessment Housing Ombudsman Complaints Handling 

Code 
 

 
Report Author: 
 
Lee Henley 
Strategic Lead Information Management 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 Appendix 1  

High-level summary: 

 

The areas receiving the highest number of complaints are outlined below together with the individual learning for each area.  
Figures in brackets below represent 2020/21 data. 

Directorate & Area S1 
rec’d 

% 
upheld 

S1 
escalated 

S2 
rec’d 

% 
upheld 

% of S2 
upheld, that 
were not 
upheld at S1 

S2 
escalated 

S3 
rec’d 

% 
upheld 

% of S3 
upheld, 
that were 
not 
upheld at 
S2 

Public Realm -
Waste 
Management 
 

391 
(151) 
 

55% 
(58%) 
 

43 
(28) 
 

43 
(54) 

37% 
(63%) 
 

19% 
(26%) 
 

2 
(3) 
 

2 
(3) 
 

100% 
(67%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Housing –Repairs 
 

218 
(194) 
 

47% 
(39%) 
 
 

21 
(24) 
 
 

21 
(26) 
 

5% 
(31%) 
 

100% 
(38%) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Housing – Estates 
Management 
 

94 
(80) 
 

22% 
(14%) 
 

18 
(16) 
 

18 
(30) 
 

28% 
(20%) 
 

40% 
(33%)  
 

0 
(2) 
 

0 
(2) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

2021/22 – Annual Complaints Report 
 

 

Top Ten Complaints Areas   

P
age 29



2 
 

Housing – Housing 
Solutions 

81 
(75) 
 

17% 
(21%) 
 

15 
(8) 
 

15 
(18) 
 

20% 
(28%) 
 

33% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Public Realm– 
Clean & Green 

71 
(27) 
 

38% 
(30%) 
 

7 
(2) 
 

7 
(10) 
 

43% 
(30%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(2) 
 

0 
(2) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Public Realm– 
Development 
Control  

55 
(35) 
 

22% 
(9%) 
 

10 
(9) 
 

10 
(11) 
 

20% 
(0%) 
 

100% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0 
(3) 
 

0% 
(67%) 
 

0% 
(100%) 
 

Resources & 
Place Delivery – 
Council Tax 
 

57 
(30) 

32% 
(20%) 
 

3 
(3) 
 

3 
(5) 
 

67% 
(20%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Public Realm - 
Highways 
Maintenance 

29 
(15) 

34% 
(33%) 

3 
(2) 

3 
(6) 

0% 
(50%) 

0% 
(10%) 

0 
(0) 

0 
(0) 

0% 
(0) 

0% 
(0) 

Public Realm – 
Parking 
Enforcement 

30 
(11) 
 

13% 
(18%) 
 

0 
(2) 
 

0 
(15) 
 

0% 
(13%) 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

Housing – 
Transforming 
Homes 

25 
(21) 
 

32% 
(38%) 
 

3 
(0) 
 

3 
(0) 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0 
(0) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

0% 
(0%) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 30



3 
 

High Level Learning for Top 10 Areas: 

Directorate and Area 
 

High Level learning identified from complaints 

Public Realm -Waste Management 
 

• In the event of a missed waste collection the attending 
crew will be issued with clear written instructions to 
ensure that they are aware of expected standard of 
service. This will also be monitored through one-to-one 
meetings between crew members and Supervisors 

• Introduction of a monitoring system, to ensure that when 
a non-collection occurs, the relevant address is then 
flagged to collection crews, to ensure bins are collected 
the following week 

• Crews reminded of importance of ensuring that any 
spillages or waste dropped during collection must also 
be collected and not left behind 

• To review the process for capturing missed bin service 
requests and/or complaints 
 

Housing –Repairs 
 

• Mears have reviewed training requirements for their 
electricians, with a view to them all having basic 
knowledge around plumbing repairs relating to showers, 
which will further assist in Mears being able to achieve a 
first time fix for repairs 

• Mears staff have been reminded of ensuring that works 
orders that require approval are to be sent to Thurrock 
Council within a 72-hour timeframe to avoid unnecessary 
delays.  This has also recently been implemented as part 
of a process review with the council. Residents are also 
to be kept updated if delays do occur 

P
age 31



4 
 

• All Aaron Services engineers have been reminded that 
where they are running late on earlier appointments and 
cannot attend a scheduled appointment, this is to be 
relayed to the office.  This in turn will allow for the resident 
to be contacted as soon as possible and kept updated. 

• All staff managing the repairs mailbox have been 
reminded of the process of responding and progressing 
of works required within 48 hours 

• Mears operatives have been reminded of the importance 
of ensuring detailed notes are included within reports to 
ensure that there are no oversights when further 
progressing a repair and that there are no delays in 
progressing any required works 

 
 

Housing – Estates Management 
 

• To improve communication between teams, weekly 
meetings between the Central Voids Team and Tenancy 
Management have been implemented 

• Ensure that any correspondence relating to ASB cases 
is sent from the ASB generic inbox and that this is the 
email provided to residents to ensure there are no 
delays in responding to queries in the event of staff 
absence 

• Training has been provided to all Tenancy Management 
staff to ensure that all details of any tenancy changes in 
their areas are provided during staff handovers 

Housing – Housing Solutions • Temporary Accommodation officers reminded to ensure 
that they thoroughly review properties to ensure the 
property meets the expected standard before a resident 
is placed into the accommodation 

• Staff to ensure that when providing information to 
residents or to other members of the council, any emails 

P
age 32



5 
 

sent are via the generic inbox. This will ensure that any 
correspondence and the information provided in 
responses can be more easily tracked to ensure 
enquiries are being dealt with correctly 

• A new process has been implemented to ensure that in 
the event an officer leaving the council, their cases are 
distributed amongst the team 

• Staff reminded to ensure that all queries received via 
the housing.reg mailbox are answered directly by a 
member of the team. In the event that an enquiry is 
passed to another service for specialist advice, they 
must also clearly request that a response is provided to 
the resident to ensure effective communication 

Public Realm– Clean & Green • The Contact Centre have been provided with the 
staffing details of the Tree Team, to allow for contact to 
be made in the event of any staff absence 

• Members of staff within the Tree team have been 
reminded of the importance of ensuring that 
correspondence from residents is responded to in a 
timely manner. Staff also reminded to ensure that if 
responding via email then the response must include all 
of the relevant information 

• All staff reminded of importance of ensuring that when 
cutting larger areas, the grass must be cut closely 
around walls and obstacles and that areas must be left 
tidy after grass cutting works are completed 

Public Realm– Development Control  • Additional training on planning application consultation 
platform has been provided to the team to ensure they 
are fully aware of how the platform works and are able 
to ensure that consultations are created correctly 

• Updates on any enforcement cases are to be provided 
to the relevant residents more regularly. 

P
age 33



6 
 

• Measures implemented to ensure Enforcement Notices 
are correctly registered against a property. 
 
 

Resources & Place Delivery – Council Tax 
 

• Officers reminded of the importance of ensuring that any 
correspondence for another service is sent to the 
correct service to avoid any potential delays in collating 
the necessary information to respond. 

• The automated message on Council Tax emails, have 
been amended to reflect the correct expected response 
timeframes 

• Officers reminded that in any correspondence with 
residents they must use clear and plain English to 
ensure that residents will understand the advice or 
information being provided in any response. 
 

Public Realm - Highways Maintenance • ‘Report It’ system updated to provide more information 
to assist with managing resident expectations regarding 
timeframes  

• Staff reminded of the importance of ensuring that any 
potential delays in processing a dropped kerb 
application are communicated to the resident as early 
as possible and that the reason for the delay is 
explained clearly 

 
Public Realm – Parking Enforcement • Refresher training has been provided to all officers who 

are responsible for or support service request 
responses, to ensure a quality response is provided 
back to residents 

• The back-office processing team will now take 
responsibility for ensuring initial responses and follow up 
responses are sent direct to the resident and will include 

P
age 34



7 
 

 

 

High Level Learning for other Housing Areas that fall within the Housing Ombudsman Jurisdiction: 

Note – It is a Housing Ombudsman requirement to report learning outcomes that fall within the Housing Ombudsman jurisdiction. 

Area 
 

High Level learning identified from complaints 

Rents • Additional training provided to staff on insolvency 
procedures to ensure all staff are aware of the correct 
processes  

information on expected actions and outcomes in their 
responses 

Housing – Transforming Homes • Wates contractors reminded that in instances where 
they are unable to access a site and are unsuccessful in 
speaking with the resident, they are required to contact 
the council to seek advice on how to proceed with the 
access issues 

• Ensure that any response to communications from a 
resident, addresses all concerns raised and is 
presented in a way that the response will be understood 
by the recipient 

• Deactivation of the voicemail service that had remained 
active on the previous direct line. This was because the 
direct line had been disconnected so the team did not 
have direct access to listen to any voicemails from 
residents in a timely manner. Any calls are now dealt 
with via contact slips 

P
age 35



8 
 

Voids • All staff have been reminded of the importance of 
ensuring that full and thorough checks of a property are 
carried out, as a part of the handover process 

• All Repairs relating to newly acquired properties will 
sent to the Central Voids Team in the first instance, in 
order to prevent any potential delays 

• Processes relating to recharge invoices have been 
reviewed to ensure that any invoices that are generated 
include a detailed description of the works completed 
 

Leaseholding • A policy will be produced to address the criteria for 
housing land disposals. This will help to ensure that the 
council deal with any enquiries in a consistent manner 

Sheltered Housing • No upheld complaints in this reporting period 
 

P
age 36



1 
 

    

1.Volume of Representations 2021/22 vs 2020/21  

Below is a comparison of representations received for both years. During 2021/22, 296 representations were received, compared 
with 293 for 2020/21. 

 

 

Appendix 2 – 2021/22 - Adult Social Care Complaints & Representations Report  
 

99

5

53

14

123

2

122

5

28

17

121

0

COMPLIMENTS INITIAL FEEDBACK COMPLAINTS MP ENQUIRIES MEMBER ENQUIRIES LGO ENQUIRIES

2021-22 2020-21

Representations

P
age 37



2 
 

2.Complaints – 2021/22 vs 2020/21  

Below is the comparison between the two years broken down into more specific detail including those complaints involving both 
internal and external providers.  

Feedback: Initial 
Feedback  

Low 
Intervention 

Medium 
Intervention 

High 
Intervention 

No. 
withdrawn 
/ Cancelled 

Total to be 
investigated  

Cases 
closed 
in 
period*  

% of 
complaints 
upheld in 
period 

% 
timeliness 
of response 
for those 
due in 
period 

2021/22 
 5 53 0 0 1 52 44 66% 84% 

2020/21 
 5 27 1 0 0 28 28 57% 81% 

Difference 0 +26 -1 0 +1 +24 +16 +9% +3% 

 

For 2021/22: 

• 53 complaints were received in the reporting period. Of these 53 received 1 was cancelled. These are shown within section 4 
(pages 14-15) 

• 45 complaints were due a response in this period. 38 of 45 (84%) were responded to within timeframe.  
• 44 complaints were responded to within this period. These are shown in section 5 (pages 16-17).  
• 29 of 44 complaints responded to (66%) were upheld. These are shown in section 5 (pages 16-17) and the learning is detailed 

within section 3 (pages 3-13). 

 

 

P
age 38



3 
 

3.Learning from upheld complaints: 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Learning Complaint 2: 
 
Complaint that the care worker is 
not following care plan. 
Examples provided were not 
making the bed or not closing the 
curtains (Thurrock Care at 
Home). 
 
Learning: 
 
Care plan updated to ensure that 
specified requests are clear to all 
care workers. 
 
Complaint 3: 
 
Concerns that the care worker 
had not followed the care plan, 
as the service user’s washing 
had not been undertaken 
(Leatherland Lodge). 
 
Learning: 
 
To ensure that new staff are fully 
aware of any care plans that are 
in place for a service user. 
 

Complaint 7 
 
Complaint that the care worker 
left bedroom lights, hob and the 
fan on (Guardian Care). 
 
Learning: 
 
Care staff reminded to ensure 
that prior to leaving the property, 
they must check everything is 
turned off and that the service 
user is happy. 
 
Complaint 11: 
 
After showering, the showerhead 
fell and hit the service user on 
their arm (Collins House). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaint 1: 
 
The family was not immediately 
informed about the service user 
being unwell (Leatherland 
Lodge). 
 
Learning: 
 
Change of procedure to ensure 
that in the event of any sickness, 
the family is informed with 
immediate effect and that this is 
documented and recorded. 
 
Complaint 9: 
 
Concern raised by the service 
user’s daughter that there has 
been a breakdown in 
communication, and she is not 
provided with updates regarding 
her mother’s care (Hospital 
Team). 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



4 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Complaint 4: 
 
Complaint regarding: 

• No Activities Coordinator 
in post 

• Food served cold (Willow 
Lodge Care) 

 
Learning: 
 

• Activities Coordinator 
post will be advertised 

• Staff reminded to ensure 
that plates are warm prior 
to serving 

• The temperature of food 
will be spot checked by 
the manager of the 
service  

 
Complaint 5: 
 
Concern that the service user’s 
call times are inconsistent and 
are sometimes after the agreed 
time of 9am (Thurrock Care at 
Home). 
 
 
 
 

Learning: 
 

• The member of staff was 
advised to be more 
careful when placing the 
showerhead back into its 
holder and to ensure it is 
secure. 

• An incident report was 
completed and forwarded 
to Health & Safety 

• The incident report has 
been placed on both the 
service user’s and 
member of staff’s file 

 

Learning: 
 
Staff have been spoken to and 
reminded of the importance of 
ensuring that family members are 
kept updated on any changes to 
care plans. 
 
 
Complaint 12: 
 
Complaint that the care worker’s 
call time was too early, and the 
service user was concerned their 
appointment had been missed as 
a result (Collins House). 
 
Learning:  
 

• Carer was asked to return 
to complete the call later 
that day 

• Ensure that in the event 
of any changes to AM call 
times, the care 
coordinators will ring the 
service user to ensure 
that they are made aware 
of the change 
 
 

P
age 40



5 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Learning: 
 
An alert has been placed on the 
service user’s care plan, to 
ensure all calls take place prior to 
9am. 
 
Complaint 6: 
 
The service user had requested 
no male carers, however male 
carers were allocated 
(Homecare). 
 
Learning: 
Going forward, if any client is 
unable to accept a carer of a 
certain gender, this must be 
communicated to all staff and/or 
individuals involved. 
 
Complaint 8: 
 
Complaint regarding a service 
user not being provided with their 
medication (Homecare). 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaint 14: 
 
The daughter of a service user 
complained that her father had a 
black eye and that she had not 
been informed. Checks by a GP 
confirmed that it was not a black 
eye, but instead an infection. 
(Leatherland Lodge). 
 
Learning: 
 
Training provided to staff to 
ensure that families are informed 
of sickness or wellbeing matters 
in a timely manner. 
 
Complaint 16: 
 
Complaint that a service user 
had received an injury that had 
not been reported by a social 
worker (Homecare). 
 
Learning: 
Staff reminded that all 
incidents/accidents are to be 
reported immediately and that all 
home visit notes must be 
updated with all details. Family 
members are also to be 

P
age 41



6 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Learning: 
 

• The medication error was 
investigated, and 
retraining has been 
provided to the staff 
involved with this matter 

• Monthly audits are carried 
out to identify any repeat 
issues 

 
Complaint 10: 
 
Call times were agreed to take 
place early morning and late 
evenings; however, this is not 
being followed (Thurrock Care at 
Home).  
 
Learning:  
 
When taking on a new care 
package, the service must 
ensure that all parties are clear 
on the agreed times to avoid any 
confusion. 
 
 
 
 
 

contacted as soon as practicably 
possible. Photos are to be taken 
at the initial incident for family 
and medical information 
purposes. 
 
Complaint 17: 
 
Concerns that the service user 
received correspondence relating 
to outstanding money owed and 
that this was incorrect (Finance). 
 
Learning: 
Ensure that social care cases are 
reviewed on an annual basis by 
social workers, to ensure that 
service users are receiving the 
correct care packages and that 
these are invoiced correctly.  
 

 
Complaint 21: 
 
Concerns that the family have 
had difficulty in contacting the 
service user and have to wait to 
be connected by the Care unit 
(Willow Lodge Care). 
 
Learning: 

P
age 42



7 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Complaint 13: 
 
Concern that the care worker did 
not follow appropriate PPE 
guidance by not wearing gloves 
in the property (Thurrock Care at 
Home).   
 
Learning: 
 
Regular monitoring has been put 
in place, to ensure that the 
required standards for wearing 
appropriate PPE are being 
always followed. 
 
Complaint 15: 
 
Complaint from service user’s 
son regarding a missed 
lunchtime call (Thurrock Care at 
Home). 
 
Learning: 
 
The missed call was due to a 
system error, causing calls due 
that day to not be displayed 
correctly to the care worker.  
 

 
A new telephone system has 
been implemented to assist with 
ensuring that all calls to or from 
family members are recorded. 
This will help facilitate contact 
and minimise difficulties.  
 
Complaint 22: 
 
Concerns that the cost of the 
package of care had not been 
communicated to the service 
user and that a letter stated that 
Thurrock Council would handle 
the funding (Finance). 
 
Learning: 
 
Amendments have been made to 
letters issued upon the 
arrangement of a care package, 
to ensure that they are more 
clearly worded with regards to 
the costs of the package and 
responsibility for those costs. 
 
Complaint 27: 
 
Concerns that the service user 
was registered to a different GP 

P
age 43



8 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Monitoring measures have been 
put in place, to ensure any 
system errors are identified and 
addressed promptly in the future. 
This will include ensuring that the 
individual monitoring the system, 
only has monitoring set as their 
task for the day, to ensure full 
attention can be focused on this 
task.  
 
Complaint 18: 
 
Concerns that care calls are 
being attended to by different 
carers each time (Thurrock Care 
at Home). 
 
Learning: 
Schedulers are to ensure that 
where possible calls are being 
arranged with the same carer for 
consistency.  
 
Complaint 19: 
 
Concerns that care calls are not 
long enough for carers to read 
the care plan and undertake 
required tasks (Thurrock Care at 
Home). 

than usual without their consent. 
(Collins House). 
 
Learning: 
 
Collins House office staff 
members have been informed 
that they must request a 
signature of consent from the 
service user or their next of kin if 
registration with a local GP is 
required. 
 
 

P
age 44



9 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

 
Learning: 
 
Care calls have been extended 
by 15 minutes as per the 
commissioning plan to allow for 
all tasks to be completed fully. 
 
Complaint 20: 
 
Concerns that night staff did not 
offer assistance to the service 
user (Grays Court Care Home).  
 
Learning: 
 
Ensure that any new Night Staff 
read the care plans for any 
service users so that they fully 
understand the service user’s 
needs. 
 
Complaint 23: 
 
Concerns that the service user’s 
care plan is not being followed by 
the carer (Thurrock Care at 
Home). 
 
Learning: 
 

P
age 45



10 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

To ensure more consistent care 
is provided, spot checks will be 
undertaken on a regular basis 
with notes then added to the 
system. 
 
Complaint 24: 
 
Concerns regarding missing 
items (Merrie Loots Farm). 
 
Learning 
 

• Staff reminded that all 
belongings must be 
entered on the full 
inventory, along with 
photographs of items if 
necessary for the purpose 
of identification.  

 
• For items of monetary or 

sentimental value, it 
should be considered if 
these items should 
remain with 
the individual due to risk 
of loss or damage and for 
alternative options to be 
considered. 
 

P
age 46



11 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

• Breakages/damages to 
any personal items will be 
documented and 
family/friends/advocate to 
be informed immediately. 

 
Complaint 25: 
 
Concerns that the carer did not 
follow the care plan, as evening 
sandwiches were not prepared, 
and worktops were not wiped 
down (Thurrock Care at Home). 
 
 
Learning: 
 
Carers have been reminded to 
follow the tasks in the care plan 
and to complete tasks 
accordingly. Carers have also 
been informed to continue to use 
the system put   
in place (Mobizio) so that visit 
can be monitored for any issues. 
 
Complaint 26: 
 
Concerns that the carer is not 
following care plan (Thurrock 
Care at Home). 

P
age 47



12 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

 
Learning: 
 
Carer reminded of expected 
standards when it comes to care 
visits. 
 
Complaint 28: 
 
Concerns that the carer did not 
prepare service user’s evening 
sandwich or leave it in the correct 
location (Clarity Homecare). 
 
Learning: 
 
Care staff reminded that they 
need to prepare the sandwich 
and not just prepare the 
ingredients. Staff also reminded 
that the sandwich should be left 
on the kitchen worktop and not 
on the hob. 
 
Complaint 29: 
 
Concerns that the carer was 
completing written visit notes 
before the visit had begun 
(Clarity Homecare).  
 

P
age 48



13 
 

Root cause analysis and 
learning from upheld 
complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Quality of Care 

Root Cause 2 and associated 
learning 
 
Potential Safety Concerns 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Learning: 
 
Carer reminded that they should 
not start completing their 
attendance notes before a visit 
and that going forward, they 
should only be started and 
completed when all tasks during 
a visit are completed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



14 
 

4A. Breakdown of complaints received - Internal teams and staff:  
This may be different to figures shown within the upheld complaints section below, as the upheld section is based on closed 
complaints (not complaints received). The figures shown below will also exclude cancelled complaints. 

30 of 53 complaints received within this period are for internal teams/services (1 was cancelled and this related to the Hospital 
Team). This compares with 12 of 28 during 2020/21. 

 

10
9

2 2 2 1 1 1 1 0 0 0

5

1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 1 1

THURROCK CARE AT HOME

COLLI
NS H

OUSE
 

FIN
ANCE 

HOSP
ITAL T

EAM 

COMPLE
X CARE 

COMMISS
IO

NIN
G 

TRANSIT
IO

NS T
EAM 

CATERIN
G 

EARLY
 IN

TERVENTIO
N &

 PREVENTIO
N (W

EST
) 

COMMUNITY LE
D SU

PPORT TEAM 4

THURROCK FI
RST

COMMUNITY LE
D SU

PPORT TEAM 3

2021-22 2020-21

Internal teams

P
age 50



15 
 

4B. Breakdown of complaints received - Commissioned Providers:  

This may be different to figures shown within the upheld complaints section below, as the upheld section is based on closed 
complaints (not complaints received). The figures shown below will also exclude cancelled complaints. 

23 of 53 complaints received to within this period are for commissioned providers. This compares with 16 of 28 during 2020/21. 

 

 

7

3

4

2

1 1 1 0 0 0 0

3

10

10

1 0 0 0 0 1 1

2

1 0 0

WILLOW 
LODGE CARE 

HOMECARE LEATHERLAN
D LODGE

GRAYS 
COURT CARE 

HOME 

MERRIE 
LOOTS FARM 

BLUEBELL 
COURT 

GUARDIAN 
CARE 

A K 
SUPPORTED 

HOUSING

CAROLYNE 
HOUSE

HOLLYWOOD MEADOWVIE
W

CLARITY 
HOMECARE

ROSEMONT 
CARE

2021-22 2020-21

Comissioned Providers

P
age 51



16 
 

5.Upheld Complaints:  

This may be different to figures shown above within the complaints received section, as the figures below are based on closed 
complaints (not complaints received). 

Complaint Area Volume 
Closed 
2021/22 

Upheld  Volume Closed 
2020/21 

Upheld  

Thurrock Care at Home 10 10  5 5 

Collins House 8 3 1 1  

Willow Lodge Care 6 2 0 0 

Homecare 3 3  10 4  

Leatherland Lodge 3 3  1 1 

Clarity Homecare 3 2 0 0 

Finance 2 2 0 0 

Hospital Team 2 1  0 0 

Rosemont Care 1 0 0 0 

Commissioning 1 0 2 1  

Complex Care 1 0  1 0 

Bluebell Court 1 0 0 0 

P
age 52



17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grays Court Care Home 1 1 0 0 

Guardian Care 1 1 0 0 

Merrie Loots Farm 1 1 0 0 

Hollywood Rest Home 0 0 2 0 

Community Led Support Team 4 0 0 1 1 

Community Led Support Team 3 0 0 1 1 

Thurrock First 0 0 1 0 

Carolyne House 0 0 1 1 

Meadowview House 0 0 1 0 

A K Supported Living 0 0 1 1  

P
age 53



18 
 

6.Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) Complaints: 

There were 2 enquiries from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO), where they reached a final decision on 
any cases within the reporting period.  

Area 
 

Issue Nature LGO Findings Financial Remedy Learning where 
relevant 

Did the council 
respond to the 
LGSCO or HO 
timeframes 

ASC – Willow Care 
Lodge 

Complaint that the 
Care Home failed to 
allow the 
complainant to see 
their mother who was 
in the home’s care 
due to COVID 
restrictions 

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

£200 To review the visitors 
booking system to 
ensure double 
bookings are 
identified to avoid 
any visits being 
cancelled 

Yes 

ASC – Community 
Led Support Team 
4 

Complaint that the 
council did not 
provide details of a 
safeguarding referral 
and those restrictions 
were not clearly 
communicated.   

Finding of fault / 
Service failure 

N/A Ensure that when 
managing any 
Safeguarding 
enquiries going 
forward, the reasons 
for any restrictions 
imposed through a 
safeguarding 
management plan 
should be clearly 
recorded. These 
restrictions must also 
be discussed and 
agreed with the 
person at risk, where 
appropriate, and their 
views should be 
clearly recorded 

Yes 

P
age 54



19 
 

 

7.Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR): 

Complainants are seeking resolution and welcome the involvement of a neutral third person who will be able to assist both the 
complainant and the service in negotiating a settlement to their complaint. ADR is implemented as a mechanism to resolve 
complaints swiftly should the complainant request escalation. This involves assessment of the presenting issues by the Complaints 
Team. It can also include mediation with the complainant and the service area. 

There have been 0 ADR cases in the reporting period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



20 
 

8.Enquiries: 

In the reporting period the following was received: 

• 14 MP Enquiries 
•  123 Member Enquiries 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Member enquiries Feedback total 
Public Health  36 
Community Development 31 
Thurrock First 19 
Safeguarding 7 
Thurrock Healthy Lifestyle 4 
Finance 4 
Local Area Coordination 3 
Joint Reablement Team  3 
Blue Badges 3 
Community Led Support 
Team 1 

2 

Disabled Facilities Grant 2 
Contract Compliance 1 
Hospital Team  1 
Thurrock Care at Home 1 
Catering 1 
Collins House 1 
Community Led Support 
Team 3 

1 

Complex Care 1 
Early Intervention & 
Prevention (West) 

1 

Day care  1 

MP Enquiries Feedback total 

Thurrock First  3 

Blue Badges 2 

Community 
Development 

2 

Public Health 2 

Finance 2 

Community Led 
Support Team 3 

1 

Day Care 1 

Collins House 1 

P
age 56



21 
 

9.External Compliments: 

A total of 99 compliments have been received during this period compared to 122 within the same period last year. A breakdown of 
the areas that these relate to is shown below. 

Note – These relate to compliments that have been sent to the Complaints Team to record on the complaints system. 

Service Area 2021/22 Number of Compliments Service Area 2020/21 Number of Compliments 
Thurrock First 26 Disabled Facilities Grant 30 
Joint Reablement Team 20 Thurrock First 24 
Disabled Facilities Grant 10 Hospital Team 7 
Blue Badges 6 Joint Reablement Team 7 
Community Led Support 
Team 1 

6 Community Led Support Team 
1 6 

Community Development  5 Barn & Coach House 5 
Hospital Team 3 Blue Badges 5 
Local Area Coordination 3 Day Care 5 
Community Led Support 
Team 3 

3 
Extra Care 5 

Thurrock Care at Home 3 Local Area Coordination 5 
Careline 3 Collins House 3 
Community Led Support 
Team 2 

2 Rapid Response Assessment 
Service 3 

Collins House 2 Careline 2 
Rapid Assessment Service 2 Catering 2 
Safeguarding 2 Community Development 2 
Extra Care 1 Older People Mental Health 2 
Complex Care 1 Safeguarding 2 
Preparing for Adulthood 1 Bennett Lodge 1 
  Commissioning 1 
  Community Led Support Team 

2 1 

P
age 57



22 
 

  Complex Care 1 
  Grays Court Care Home 1 
  Hollywood 1 
  Public Health 1 

 

10.Examples of External Compliments  

Disabled Facilities Grant 

I was helped and the team were so kind and couldn't do enough for me.  If I needed to get in touch, they talked to me and gave me 
their phone numbers, nothing was too much trouble. They have made me safer in my home and given my daughter and son 
peace of mind about my safety. 
 
Joint Reablement Team 

 
During review visit the service user and her brother was very complementary of reablement service and the support they have 
received. The service user commented on how pleased she has been with all the support, staff have been cheerful and 
encouraging, and kept her motivated when she has been feeling low. She said she cannot fault the support she has received, and 
her brother stated the staff have been brilliant.  

Thurrock First 

Thurrock First were an excellent starting point as we were introduced to other agencies via them. This is the first time in my life that 
I have used Social Services and I cannot thank everyone involved in mums care enough. Mum has gone through several health 
crisis in under a year and the support provided was invaluable, both for mum and me. 

Blue Badges 

I have received an email informing me that my Mum's Blue Badge has been ordered. I just wanted to say a huge thank you to the 
staff who were so kind, calm, and knowledgeable and helped me with what I thought was going to be a very stressful complicated 
process. I really appreciate the help they gave me. Also, thank you to anyone else in the team that may have been involved. 

P
age 58



23 
 

Careline 

Just received a lovely call from a husband thanking the ladies who assisted with his wife on Thursday. His words to me were ‘ he 
doesn’t know what he would of done without you.’ His wife had fractured her pelvis and the team called an ambulance, notified the 
next of kin and helped to keep the husband calm. 

 

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

        

1. Volume of Representations – 2020/21 vs 2021/22: 

Below is a comparison of all representations received during both years. A total of 90 representations were received in 2021/22 
compared to 123 in the same period of 2020/21. 

 
 

 

 

Appendix 3 - 2021/22 - Children’s Social Care – Complaints & Representations  
 

25

10

15

11

29

0

29

42

8
11

30

3

COMPLIMENTS INITIAL FEEDBACK COMPLAINTS MP ENQUIRIES MEMBER ENQUIRIES LGO ENQUIRIES

2021-22 2020-21

Representations

P
age 61



 
 

2 
 

2. Complaints – 2020/21 vs 2021/22: 

Below is the comparison between the two years with additional details provided. There were no escalations beyond stage 1 for both 
periods: 

Feedback: Initial 
Feedback  

Stage 1 
complaints 

Stage 2 
complaints 

Stage 3 
complaints 

Alternative 
Dispute 
Resolution 
Cases 

Cases 
closed 
in 
period  

Cases 
Cancelled 

% of 
complaints 
upheld in 
period 

% 
timeliness 
of 
response 
for those 
due in 
period 

 
2021/22  

10 15 0 0 0 14 0 57% 80% 

 
2020/21  

42 8 0 0 0 9 0 44% 75% 

  
Difference 
  

-32 +7 0 0 0 +5 0 +13% +5% 

 

*For 2021/22: 

• 15 complaints were received in the reporting period. These are shown within section 4 
• 15 complaints were due a response in the reporting period. 12 of 15 (80%) were responded to within timeframe 
• 14 complaints were responded to within this reporting period. These are shown in section 5 
•  8 of 14 complaints responded to (57%) were upheld. These are shown in section 5 and the learning is detailed within section 3 

 
 

P
age 62



 
 

3 
 

3. Learning from upheld complaints: 

Root cause analysis 
and learning from 
upheld complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Root Cause 2 and 
associated learning 
 
Decision Making 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Assessment 

 Complaint 3: 
 

• Concerns that the children are 
being let down regarding 
contact with their siblings. This 
is due to the contact 
arrangements not being clearly 
communicated by the Service 

• Concerns raised that there are 
outstanding expense payments 
for transportation costs for 
contact between the siblings  

 
(Children Looked After Team 1) 
 
Learning: 

• The sibling contact timetable 
has been updated    

• Contracts that detail contact 
arrangements, including sibling 
contact details, are now held 
on file to make contact 
agreements clearer for families 

• Staff reminded of the 
importance of ensuring contact 
expenses are paid on time  

 
 
 

Complaint 2: 
 

• The child submitted a 
complaint regarding 
possibly being 
removed from their 
placement at New 
Beginnings, despite 
the child feeling safe 
and happy with the 
current placement  

• The child is concerned 
that their views 
regarding the potential 
move have not been 
taken on board  

 
(Children Looked After Team 
3) 
 
Learning: 

• To ensure that an 
advocate is involved at 
an early stage of care 

• To ensure staff work 
with the young person 
to ensure that their 
views are listened to 
and/or considered 

Complaint 1: 
 

• The Child and Family 
assessment that was 
produced contained false 
and misconstrued 
information. 

 
(Children and Family assessment 
Team 1) 
 
Learning: 
The points below were made clear 
to the service via a service brief and 
in the team meeting:  

• Records held must be 
checked with multi agency 
partners 

• Records held must be 
confirmed with the parents 
to ensure they are correct 

• Child and Family 
assessments are shared 
with the family at the 
completion and any 
incorrect information is 
amended and recorded on 
the system 
 

P
age 63



 
 

4 
 

Root cause analysis 
and learning from 
upheld complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Root Cause 2 and 
associated learning 
 
Decision Making 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Assessment 

Complaint 4: 
 

• The child’s emails and 
telephone calls to the Adoption 
Team have not been 
responded to  
 

(Adoption Team) 
 
Learning: 
A duty log has been implemented 
which will be completed each day. 
This log will record all incoming 
emails/calls and will detail what needs 
to be actioned 
 
Complaint 5: 
 

• Concerns in relation to a lack 
of response from the Social 
Worker  
 

(Children Looked After Team 1) 
 
Learning: 

• Relevant Social Worker spoken 
to and reminded of the 
importance of ensuring that 
contact is consistent 

 
 

when taking any action 
relating to their care 
 
 

Complaint 6: 
 

• Concerns that the safety 
plan completed as part of 
the Child and Family 
Assessment was not explicit 
regarding potential risks to 
the child 
  

(Children and Family Assessment 
Team 4) 
 
Learning: 

• Training undertaken with the 
member of staff who 
completed the safety plan, 
to provide guidance and 
advice on how to complete a 
safety plan so any risks are 
clearly identified   

 

P
age 64



 
 

5 
 

Root cause analysis 
and learning from 
upheld complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Root Cause 2 and 
associated learning 
 
Decision Making 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Assessment 

 
Complaint 7: 
 

• Concerns that the parent was 
not informed of the requirement 
for any gifts for children to be 
brought 72 hours before 
contact, to ensure that they are 
safe to open due to COVID 
safety precautions  
 

(Children Looked After Team 1) 
 

Learning: 
• Ensure that reminders relating 

to COVID precautions are 
issued ahead of any arranged 
contact appointments 

 
Complaint 8: 
 

• Concerns from the child that 
contact received from their 
Social Worker was patronising 
and that they feel they are not 
being listened to  
 
(Children Looked After Team 
3) 

 
 

P
age 65



 
 

6 
 

Root cause analysis 
and learning from 
upheld complaints: 
 

Root Cause 1 and associated 
learning 
 
Communication 

Root Cause 2 and 
associated learning 
 
Decision Making 

Root Cause 3 and associated 
learning 
 
Assessment 

 
Learning: 

• Various methods and 
strategies of communication 
have been explored in 
supervision to ensure Social 
Workers are able to take on 
board any perspective and to 
prevent overloading service 
users or residents with too 
much information on a subject, 
as this may be perceived as 
patronising language 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 66



 
 

7 
 

4. Breakdown of complaints received:  
This may be different to figures shown within the upheld complaints section below, as the upheld section is based on closed 
complaints (not complaints received). The figures below will also exclude cancelled complaints. 

 

 

 

1 1 1 1 1

2

3

1

2

0
1 1

00 0 0 0
1

0 0
1 1

4

0 0
1

ADOPTIO
N TEAM

AFT
ERCARE

CHILD
 PROTECTIO

N/LA
DO

CHILD
REN AND FA

MILY
 ASS

ESS
MENT TEAM 1

CHILD
REN AND FA

MILY
 ASS

ESS
MENT TEAM 3

CHILD
REN AND FA

MILY
 ASS

ESS
MENT TEAM 4

CHILD
REN LO

OKED AFT
ER TEAM 1

CHILD
REN LO

OKED AFT
ER TEAM 2

CHILD
REN LO

OKED AFT
ER TEAM 3

DISA
BLE

D CHILD
REN

FA
MILY

 SU
PPORT TEAM 3

FA
MILY

 SU
PPORT TEAM 2

FA
MILY

 SU
PPORT TEAM 7

2021-22 2020-21

Complaints by Team

P
age 67



 
 

8 
 

5. Upheld Complaints: 

This may be different to figures shown above within the complaints received section, as the figures below are based on closed 
complaints (not complaints received). 

Complaint Area Volume Closed 
2021/22 

Upheld  Volume Closed  
2020/21 

 Upheld 

Adoption  1 1  0 N/A 

Aftercare 1 0 0 N/A 

Children Looked After Team 1  3 3 0 N/A 

Children Looked After Team 2 1 0 1 0 

Children Looked After Team 
3/UAS 

2 2 1 1 

Disabled Children 0 N/A 4 3 

Family Support Team 3 0 N/A 1 0 

Children and Family Assessment 
Team 4 

2 1 0 N/A 

P
age 68



 
 

9 
 

Complaint Area Volume Closed 
2021/22 

Upheld  Volume Closed  
2020/21 

 Upheld 

Family Support Team 7 0 N/A 1 0 

Children and Family Assessment 
Team 3 

1 0 1 0 

Children and Family Assessment 
Team 1 

1 1 0 N/A 

Child Protection/LADO 1 0 0 N/A 

Family Support Team 2 1 0 0 N/A 

 

6. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) Complaints: 

There were nil/zero enquiries from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO), where they reached a final 
decision on any cases within the reporting period.  This is positive and shows that the council are effective at dealing with 
complaints at the first point of contact. 

 

 

 

P
age 69



 
 

10 
 

7. Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Cases: 

Complainants are seeking resolution and welcome the involvement of a neutral third person who will be able to assist both the 
complainant and the service in negotiating a settlement to their complaint. ADR is implemented as a mechanism to resolve 
complaints swiftly should the complainant request escalation. This involves assessment of the presenting issues by the Complaints 
Team. It can also include mediation with the complainant and the service area. For the reporting period, there have been 0 cases of 
successful ADR. 

8. Initial Feedback:  
 
The Council receives feedback which following assessment does not constitute a formal complaint but still requires addressing. Those 
within scope of an ‘Initial Feedback’ are sent to the service with a request that swift action takes place to resolve the issue. This 
should negate the need for a formal complaint taking place. For the reporting period a total of 10 ‘Initial Feedback’ have been recorded: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Team  Feedback total 
Family Support Team 4 1 
Family Support Team 2 1 
Prevention/Support Service 1 
Aftercare 1 
Children & Family Assessment Team 1 1 
MASH 1 
Family Support Team 3 1 
Child Protection/LADO 1 
Disabled Children  1 
Children Looked After Team 2 1 

P
age 70



 
 

11 
 

9. Enquiries 

During the reporting period the following enquiries were received:  

•  29 Member/Cllr Enquiries  
•  11 MP Enquiries 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Member/Cllr Enquiries Feedback 
Total 

MASH 8 
All Services (Youth services) 4 
Family Support Team 3 2 
Aftercare 2 
Children and Family 
Assessment Team 2 

2 

Children Looked After Team 
1 

2 

Children Looked After Team 
2 

1 

Permanency/Court Team 1 
Children Looked After Team 
3 

1 

Disabled Children 1 
Oaktree 1 
Registration 1 
Children and Family 
Assessment Team 1 

1 

Children and Family 
Assessment Team 3 

1 

Family Support Team 4 1 

MP Enquiries Feedback Total 
MASH 3 
Permanency/Court 
Team 

2 

Child 
Protection/LADO 

2 

Children Looked 
After Team 3 

1 

Children and Family 
Assessment Team 2 

1 

Family Support 
Team 1 

1 

Children and Family 
Assessment Team 3 

1 

P
age 71



 
 

12 
 

10. External Compliments: 

25 compliments have been received during this period compared to 29 in the same period last year, breakdown of teams is below. 

Service Area (2021/22) Total 
Received 

Service Area (2020/21) Total 
Received 

Prevention/Support Service 4 Families Together 12 
Family Support Team 7 3 Family Support Team 6 7 
Family Support Team 6 3 Children and Family Assessment Team 1 2 
Fostering Team 3 Family Support Team 1 2 
Permanency/Court Team 2 Disabled Children 2 
Family Support Team 4 2 Family Placement Service 1 
Family Support Team 1 2 Children Looked After Team 1 1 
Support for childminders 2 Children Looked After Team 2 1 
Aftercare 1 Family Support Team 4 1 
Family Support Team 3 1   
Families Together 1   
Children Looked After Team 2 1   
    

 

11. Examples of External Compliments  

Prevention/Support Service: 

The young person spoke very highly of you and said that the support you provided helped to change her life as well as her families. 
She would like to now become a social worker so that she can offer the same support to other families which she received from 
you. She was so positive about the support she received from your team and is very grateful.  

Fostering Team: 

I would like to take this opportunity to say thank you for the opportunity to be part of the support of the Sibling group of 4. 

P
age 72



 
 

13 
 

I would like to thank both social workers for the opportunity to gain more skills. I would like to say thank you for communicating and 
working as a team supporting children with their reunification with Dad. Both working with us and our agency to support young 
people. It has been a real positive working professional relationship which I will always take with us in supporting young people.  

Family Support Team 4: 

I just wanted to thank you for finding the emergency placement for the children and all the additional support you have put in place. 
The children have told me how supportive you have been recently and how grateful they are for all the additional time you given 
them. I think we will all be relieved to see them both settled again in a new placement before Christmas. 

 

12. Benchmarking 

Complaints benchmarking information is summarised below. This was requested by Committee when the 2020/21 annual report 
was considered. 

Council  Complaints 
Received 

% Of complaints 
upheld 

% Responded to 
within timeframe 

Thurrock  15 57% 80% 
Croydon 148 36% 70% 
Haringey 25 16% 16% 
Hounslow 19 37% 89% 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 73



 
 

14 
 

 

 

 

P
age 74



 

Appendix 4  
Thurrock Council self-assessment – 
Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 
Self-assessment undertaken in May 2022. 

Section 1 – Definition of a complaint 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
1.2 A complaint must be defined as:  

'an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about 
the standard of service, actions or lack of action by the 
organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, 
affecting an individual resident or group of residents' 

Yes The definition of a complaint on our website and within 
the complaint's procedure is as follows: 

"A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, however 
made, about the standard of service, actions, or lack of 
action by the council, our staff, or those acting on our 
behalf, affecting any individual, groups of individuals or 
businesses." 

1.3 The resident does not have to use the word 'complaint' 
for it to be treated as such. A complaint that is submitted 
via a third party or representative must still be handled in 
line with the landlord's complaints policy. 

Yes The council does not insist on residents using the word 
"complaint" for a matter to be handled as a complaint 
and this is covered within our procedure. The council's 
Complaints team oversee this. 

Any complaint submitted via a third party – for example, 
an MP or councillor – will be handled in line with the 
council complaints process and this is covered within our 

P
age 75



2 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
complaints procedure. The council's Complaints team 
oversees this. 

1.6 ...if further enquiries are needed to resolve the matter, or 
if the resident requests it, the issue must be logged as a 
complaint. 

Yes Service request failures will be captured as a complaint. 
This is detailed within our complaint procedure. The 
council's Complaints team oversees this. 

1.7 A landlord must accept a complaint unless there is a 
valid reason not to do so. 

Yes The council will accept a complaint, unless the matter 
falls within the exclusions as set out within the 
complaint's procedure. 

1.8 A complaints policy must clearly set out the 
circumstances in which a matter will not be considered, 
and these circumstances should be fair and reasonable 
to residents. 

Yes The exclusions that are set out within the council's 
complaints procedure are as follows: 

• something that happened more than 12 months ago 
although this is assessed by the council on a case-
by-case basis 

• something that has already gone to court, or could 
have gone to court 

• a matter whereby the complainant has advised that 
they intend to, or have, initiated legal proceedings 
against the council in relation to the substance of the 
complaint  

• something that has its own appeal process, such as 
parking fines, school admissions 

• a matter that involves a potential insurance claim  
• something that is being, or has been, investigated by 

the relevant Ombudsman 
1.9 If a landlord decides not to accept a complaint, a 

detailed explanation must be provided to the resident 
setting out the reasons why the matter is not suitable for 
the complaints process and the right to take that 
decision to the Ombudsman. 

Yes In cases where complaints are rejected, residents will be 
informed: 

• of the decision and provided with an explanation 

P
age 76



3 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
• of their right to take the decision to the Ombudsman 

The above is detailed within our complaint's procedure. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
1.4 Landlords should recognise the difference between a 

service request, where a resident may be unhappy with 
a situation that they wish to have rectified, and a 
complaint about the service they have/have not 
received. 

Yes Service requests are not service failures and are 
recorded separately by the council. However, a failure 
by the council in responding to a service request and/or 
if a resident raises concerns with the handling of their 
service request, will result in the matter being recorded 
as a complaint by the council. Service request failures 
are referred to within our complaint's procedure. 

1.5 Survey feedback may not necessarily need to be treated 
as a complaint, though, where possible, the person 
completing the survey should be made aware of how 
they can pursue their dissatisfaction as a complaint if 
they wish to. 

Yes This message has been communicated to our Housing 
Teams to ensure that when surveys are undertaken, the 
person completing the survey is made aware of how 
they can pursue their dissatisfaction as a complaint if 
they wish to. 

Section 2 – Accessibility and awareness 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
2.1 Landlords must make it easy for residents to complain 

by providing different channels through which residents 
can make a complaint such as in person, over the 
telephone, in writing, by email and digitally. While the 

Yes The council's complaints procedure makes it clear that 
individuals can make a complaint via email, phone, or 
letter format. In addition, complaints can also be 

P
age 77



4 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
Ombudsman recognises that it may not be feasible for a 
landlord to use all of the potential channels, there must 
be more than one route of access into the complaints 
system. 

received in person and our staff will assist the 
complainant if this is the case. 

2.3 Landlords must make their complaint policy available in 
a clear and accessible format for all residents. This will 
detail the number of stages involved, what will happen at 
each stage and the timeframes for responding. 

Yes The complaints procedure is available on our website 
and details the stages, timeframes for responding to 
each stage and the escalation process. 

The complaints procedure is also communicated to 
individuals as part of our communications schedule (that 
we have in place as part of this code). 

2.4 Landlord websites, if they exist, must include information 
on how to raise a complaint. The complaints policy and 
process must be easy to find on the website. 

Yes The complaints procedure is available on our website, 
detailing how a complaint can be made. 

2.5 Landlords must comply with the Equality Act 2010 and 
may need to adapt normal policies, procedures, or 
processes to accommodate an individual's needs. 
Landlords must satisfy themselves that their policy sets 
out how they will respond to reasonable adjustments 
requests in line with the Equality Act and that complaints 
handlers have had appropriate training to deal with such 
requests. 

Yes The complaints policy makes it clear that if residents 
need help to make a complaint, they can appoint 
someone to deal with it on their behalf, or if they don't 
have anyone to assist them, the council can help them 
find someone independent to speak to. 

In addition to the above, the council also makes it clear 
to residents via complaint acknowledgment letters that: 

• if they require assistance to take forward their 
complaint, they can appoint a representative to deal 
with their complaint on their behalf 

• any individual representing or assisting them can 
accompany them at any meeting with the council, if a 
meeting is required to consider their complaint 

P
age 78



5 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
• if they require assistance with their complaint, but 

don't have anyone to help them, they can let us know 
and the council will do all it can to find them an 
advocate 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion forms part of a 
mandatory e-learning training course within the council. 
The Complaints team has undertaken this training. 

2.6 Landlords must publicise the complaints policy and 
process, the Complaint Handling Code and the Housing 
Ombudsman Scheme in leaflets, posters, newsletters, 
online and as part of regular correspondence with 
residents. 

Yes A communication schedule is in place to cover off this 
requirement.  

The following wording is also included in our complaint 
acknowledgment communication. 

The Housing Ombudsman Service may be able to assist 
you with your complaint by allowing you the opportunity 
to engage with the Ombudsman's dispute support 
advisors. If you need to contact the Housing 
Ombudsman their contact details are below: 

Phone: 0300 111 3000 
Email: info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk 
Website: housing-ombudsman.org.uk 

The complaints handling code: 

• forms part of our annual complaints report which is a 
public report  

• is shared with our Tenants Excellence Panel 

P
age 79

mailto:info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk
http://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/


6 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
2.7 Landlords must provide residents with contact 

information for the Ombudsman as part of its regular 
correspondence with residents. 

Yes The council is clear within complaints communications – 
for example, acknowledgments – that the Housing 
Ombudsman Service may be able to assist the 
complainant by allowing them the opportunity to engage 
with the Ombudsman's dispute support advisors. The 
Ombudsman's contact details are provided to allow the 
complainant to make contact if required. 

2.8 Landlords must provide early advice to residents 
regarding their right to access the Housing Ombudsman 
Service throughout their complaint, not only when the 
landlord's complaints process is exhausted. 

Yes Residents are informed at complaint acknowledgment 
stage that they have a right to access the Housing 
Ombudsman Service, not only at the point when they 
have exhausted the council's complaints process – this 
is on the basis that the Housing Ombudsman Service 
can assist residents throughout the life of a complaint, 
and affords the resident the opportunity to engage with 
the Ombudsman's dispute support advisors. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
2.2 Where a landlord has set up channels to communicate 

with its residents via social media, then it should expect 
to receive complaints via those channels. Policies 
should contain details of the steps that will be taken 
when a complaint is received via social media and how 
confidentiality and privacy will be maintained. 

Yes Any complaint received via social media will be dealt 
with in line with our complaint's procedure. To assist with 
this, our communications team will request that the 
individual sends the details of their complaint via email 
to complaints@thurrock.gov.uk. The Complaints team 
will then follow our standard complaints process to 
consider the complaint. A response will only be sent 
back to the complainant to ensure that the council 
comply with the Data Protection Act. 

P
age 80

mailto:complaints@thurrock.gov.uk


7 

Section 3 – Complaint handling personnel 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
3.1 Landlords must have a person or team assigned to take 

responsibility for complaint handling to ensure 
complaints receive the necessary attention, and that 
these are reported to the governing body. This Code will 
refer to that person or team as the "complaints officer". 

Yes The council has a Complaints team that manages this 
area of work. 

3.2 ...the complaint handler appointed must have 
appropriate complaint handling skills and no conflicts of 
interest. 

Yes The Complaints team is trained in complaint handling 
and the 2-stage process in place ensures that there is 
no conflict of interest. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
3.3 Complaint handlers should: 

• be able to act sensitively and fairly  
• be trained to handle complaints and deal with 

distressed and upset residents  
• have access to staff at all levels to facilitate quick 

resolution of complaints  
• • have the authority and autonomy to act to resolve 

disputes quickly and fairly 

Yes The Complaints team comprises individuals who are all 
trained to work on a range of complaints-related matters. 

Escalation processes are in place to ensure all 
complaints are dealt with in line with timeframes. 

P
age 81



8 

Section 4 – Complaint handling principles 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
4.1 Any decision to try and resolve a concern must be taken 

in agreement with the resident and a landlord's audit 
trail/records should be able to demonstrate this. 
Landlords must ensure that efforts to resolve a resident's 
concerns do not obstruct access to the complaints 
procedure or result in any unreasonable delay. It is not 
appropriate to have extra named stages (such as 
'stage 0' or 'pre-complaint stage') as this causes 
unnecessary confusion for residents. When a complaint 
is made, it must be acknowledged and logged at stage 
one of the complaints procedure within five days of 
receipt. 

Yes The council does not use any extra named stages, such 
as stage 0. All complaints are handled in line with our 2- 
stage process. All complaints are acknowledged within 
5 days of receipt. 

4.2 Within the complaint acknowledgement, landlords must 
set out their understanding of the complaint and the 
outcomes the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the 
complaint is unclear, the resident must be asked for 
clarification and the full definition agreed between both 
parties. 

Yes All acknowledgement letters include: 

• the points of concern that the council consider are in 
scope of the complaint – and residents are given the 
opportunity to change this 

• a request to the resident, to confirm the outcome 
they are seeking 

4.6 A complaint investigation must be conducted in an 
impartial manner. 

Yes Council staff who may be the subject of the complaint, 
will not be involved in the complaint investigation. 

In addition to the above, any impartiality concerns will be 
picked up as part of complaint escalation, as stage 2 
complaints are investigated outside of the service area 
by the Complaints team. 

P
age 82



9 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
4.7 The complaint handler must: 

• deal with complaints on their merits 
• act independently and have an open mind 
• take measures to address any actual or perceived 

conflict of interest 
• consider all information and evidence carefully 
• keep the complaint confidential as far as possible, 

with information only disclosed if necessary to 
properly investigate the matter 

Yes All points of concern are identified up front by the 
Complaints team. Quality checks are in place, by the 
Complaints team, to ensure all points of concern have 
been fully responded to. 

Complaints handlers are trained on Data Protection to 
ensure information is disclosed on a need-to-know 
basis. 

4.11 Landlords must adhere to any reasonable arrangements 
agreed with residents in terms of frequency and method 
of communication. 

Yes The Complaints team will ensure that any reasonable 
adjustments are adhered to, along with ensuring that 
complaint timeframes are met. 

4.12 The resident, and if applicable any staff member who is 
the subject of the complaint, must also be given a fair 
chance to: 

• set out their position 
• comment on any adverse findings before a final 

decision is made 

Yes Staff members who are the subject of the complaint, will 
be interviewed as part of the complaint investigation. 
This will allow them to set out their own position. 

Residents' concerns are firmed up at the complaint 
acknowledgment stage. Concerns regarding overall 
complaints findings will be picked up as part of our 
complaint escalation process. 

4.13 A landlord must include in its complaints policy its 
timescales for a resident to request escalation of a 
complaint. 

Yes Timeframes are clearly set out within our complaints 
procedure. 

4.14 A landlord must not unreasonably refuse to escalate a 
complaint through all stages of the complaints procedure 
and must have clear and valid reasons for taking that 
course of action. Reasons for declining to escalate a 
complaint must be clearly set out in a landlord's 

Yes The council does not refuse complaint escalations. 

The reasons for the council not accepting a complaint 
are detailed in section 1.8 above (exclusions). These 
exclusions are set out within our complaints procedure. 

P
age 83



10 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
complaints policy and must be the same as the reasons 
for not accepting a complaint. 

4.15 A full record must be kept of the complaint, any review 
and the outcomes at each stage. This must include the 
original complaint and the date received, all 
correspondence with the resident, correspondence with 
other parties and any reports or surveys prepared. 

Yes This information is held in our complaints system. 

4.18 Landlords must have policies and procedures in place 
for managing unacceptable behaviour from residents 
and/or their representatives when pursuing a complaint. 

Yes The council has an "Unreasonably persistent 
complainants and unreasonable behaviour" procedure in 
place to manage this. This procedure is on our website. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
4.3 Landlords should manage residents' expectations from 

the outset, being clear where a desired outcome is 
unreasonable or unrealistic. 

Yes Unrealistic outcomes will be managed as and when 
received. This will be managed as part of the stage 1 
process. 

4.4 A complaint should be resolved at the earliest possible 
opportunity, having assessed what evidence is needed 
to fully consider the issues, what outcome would resolve 
the matter for the resident and whether there are any 
urgent actions required. 

Yes This forms part of our complains process and the council 
aim to resolve all complaints as part of the stage 1 
process. 

4.5 Landlords should give residents the opportunity to have 
a representative deal with their complaint on their behalf, 
and to be represented or accompanied at any meeting 
with the landlord where this is reasonable. 

Yes Our complaints procedure makes it clear that if 
residents: 

• need help to make a complaint, they can appoint 
someone to deal with it on their behalf 

P
age 84



11 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
• don't have anyone to assist, we can help them find 

someone independent to speak for them 

In addition to the above, residents are informed of the 
following at the complaint acknowledgment stage: 

"If you require assistance to take forward your 
complaint, you can appoint a representative to deal with 
your complaint on your behalf. This individual can 
accompany you at any meeting with the council if a 
meeting is required to consider your complaint. If you 
are considering nominating an individual to represent 
you, then please pass on the contact details to the 
council. However, if you require assistance with your 
complaint, but don't have anyone to help you, please let 
us know and the council will do all it can to find you an 
advocate." 

4.8 Where a key issue of a complaint relates to the parties' 
legal obligations landlords should clearly set out their 
understanding of the obligations of both parties. 

Yes Points of concern involving legal obligations will be 
firmed up at the complaint acknowledgment stage. This 
will allow the council to respond to the concern in 
question. 

4.9 Communication with the resident should not generally 
identify individual members of staff or contractors. 

Yes Council staff are trained on data protection and 
information will be released on a need-to-know basis 
and in line with the Data Protection Act. 

4.10 Landlords should keep residents regularly updated 
about the progress of the investigation. 

Yes The council aims to respond to all complaints within the 
timeframes set out within its procedure. If it is known that 
timeframes cannot be met, the Complaints team will 
inform the resident of this. 

4.16 Landlords should seek feedback from residents in 
relation to the landlord's complaint handling as part of 

Yes Complaints handling feedback is sought by the 
Complaints team. 

P
age 85



12 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
the drive to encourage a positive complaint and learning 
culture. 

4.17 Landlords should recognise the impact that being 
complained about can have on future service delivery. 
Landlords should ensure that staff are supported and 
engaged in the complaints process, including the 
learning that can be gained. 

Yes The council aims to get to it right first time, however we 
view complaints as a mechanism to improve service 
delivery. Staff are supported within the council and 
understand the value of learning from complaints. 

4.19 Any restrictions placed on a resident's contact due to 
unacceptable behaviour should be appropriate to their 
needs and should demonstrate regard for the provisions 
of the Equality Act 2010. 

Yes Restrictions are assessed on a case-by-case basis. 
Prior to any restrictions being put in place, residents are 
warned beforehand that any repeat of unacceptable 
behaviour will result in restrictions being applied. 
However, at the point of applying restrictions, one form 
of contact is always offered/provided by the council. 

Section 5 – Complaint stages 
Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 1 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.1 Landlords must respond to the complaint within 

10 working days of the complaint being logged. 
Exceptionally, landlords may provide an explanation to 
the resident containing a clear timeframe for when the 
response will be received. This should not exceed a 
further 10 days without good reason. 

Yes The council always aims to respond within 10 working 
days as a maximum. We do not extend timeframes. If 
the 10-working day timeframe is not met and the 
complaint is overdue, the complaints team will continue 
to keep the resident informed of progress. 

5.5 A complaint response must be sent to the resident when 
the answer to the complaint is known, not when the 
outstanding actions required to address the issue, are 
completed. Outstanding actions must still be tracked and 

Yes This is standard practice. 

P
age 86



13 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
actioned expeditiously with regular updates provided to 
the resident. 

5.6 Landlords must address all points raised in the 
complaint and provide clear reasons for any decisions, 
referencing the relevant policy, law and good practice 
where appropriate. 

Yes This is standard practice. 

5.8 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage one in clear, plain 
language:  

• the complaint stage 
• the decision on the complaint 
• the reasons for any decisions made 
• the details of any remedy offered to put things right 
• details of any outstanding actions 
• • details of how to escalate the matter to stage two 

if the resident is not satisfied with the answer 

Yes This is standard practice. 

Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 2 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.9 If all or part of the complaint is not resolved to the 

resident's satisfaction at stage one it must be 
progressed to stage two of the landlord's procedure, 
unless an exclusion ground now applies. In instances 
where a landlord declines to escalate a complaint it must 
clearly communicate in writing its reasons for not 
escalating as well as the resident's right to approach the 
Ombudsman about its decision. 

Yes This is standard practice. 

P
age 87



14 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.10 On receipt of the escalation request, landlords must set 

out their understanding of issues outstanding and the 
outcomes the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the 
complaint is unclear, the resident must be asked for 
clarification and the full definition agreed between both 
parties. 

Yes This is standard practice. 

5.11 Landlords must only escalate a complaint to stage two 
once it has completed stage one and at the request of 
the resident. 

Yes This is standard practice. 

5.12 The person considering the complaint at stage two, must 
not be the same person that considered the complaint at 
stage one. 

Yes Stage 2 complaints are considered independently by the 
Complaints team. 

5.13 Landlords must respond to the stage two complaint 
within 20 working days of the complaint being 
escalated. Exceptionally, landlords may provide an 
explanation to the resident containing a clear timeframe 
for when the response will be received. This should not 
exceed a further 10 days without good reason. 

Yes The council always aim to respond within 20 working 
days as a maximum. We do not extend timeframes. If 
the 20-working day timeframe is not met and the 
complaint is overdue, the Complaints team will continue 
to keep the resident informed of progress. 

5.16 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage two in clear, plain 
language: 

• the complaint stage 
• the complaint definition 
• the decision on the complaint 
• the reasons for any decisions made 
• the details of any remedy offered to put things right 
• details of any outstanding actions 
• if the landlord has a third stage, details of how to 

escalate the matter to stage 3 

Yes This is standard practice. 

P
age 88



15 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
• if this was the final stage, details of how to escalate 

the matter to the Housing Ombudsman Service if the 
resident remains dissatisfied 

Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 3 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.17 Two stage landlord complaint procedures are ideal. This 

ensures that the complaint process is not unduly long. If 
landlords strongly believe a third stage is necessary, 
they must set out their reasons for this as part of their 
self-assessment. A process with more than three stages 
is not acceptable under any circumstances. 

Yes The council operates a 2-stage process. 

5.20 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage three in clear, plain 
language:  

• the complaint stage  
• the complaint definition  
• the decision on the complaint  
• the reasons for any decisions made  
• the details of any remedy offered to put things right  
• details of any outstanding actions 
• details of how to escalate the matter to the Housing 

Ombudsman Service if the resident remains 
dissatisfied 

Yes This is not applicable as the council operates a 2-stage 
process. 

P
age 89



16 

Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 1 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.2 If an extension beyond 10 working days is required to 

enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties. 

Yes For stage 1 complaints, the council always aim to 
respond within 10 working days as a maximum. We do 
not extend timeframes. If the 10-working day timeframe 
is not met and the complaint is overdue, the Complaints 
team will continue to keep the resident informed of 
progress. 

5.3 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman's contact details so the resident can 
challenge the landlord's plan for responding and/or the 
proposed timeliness of a landlord's response. 

Yes This is covered in 5.2 above. In addition to this, the 
council are clear within complaints communications 
(e.g., acknowledgments), that the Housing Ombudsman 
Service may be able to assist the complainant by 
allowing them the opportunity to engage with the 
Ombudsman's dispute support advisors. The 
Ombudsman contact details are provided to allow the 
complainant to make contact if required. 

5.4 Where the problem is a recurring issue, the landlord 
should consider any older reports as part of the 
background to the complaint if this will help to resolve 
the issue for the resident. 

Yes This is standard practice within the council. 

5.7 Where residents raise additional complaints during the 
investigation, these should be incorporated into the 
stage one response if they are relevant and the stage 
one response has not been issued. Where the stage one 
response has been issued, or it would unreasonably 
delay the response, the complaint should be logged as a 
new complaint. 

Yes This is standard practice within the council. 

P
age 90



17 

Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 2 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.14 If an extension beyond 20 working days is required to 

enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties. 

Yes For stage 2 complaints, the council always aim to 
respond within 20 working days as a maximum. We do 
not extend timeframes. If the 20-working day timeframe 
is not met and the complaint is overdue, the complaints 
team will continue to keep the resident informed of 
progress. 

5.15 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman's contact details so the resident can 
challenge the landlord's plan for responding and/or the 
proposed timeliness of a landlord's response. 

Yes This is covered in 5.14 above. In addition to this, the 
council is clear within complaints communications – for 
example, acknowledgments – that the Housing 
Ombudsman Service may be able to assist the 
complainant by allowing them the opportunity to engage 
with the Ombudsman's dispute support advisors. The 
Ombudsman contact details are provided to allow the 
complainant to make contact if required. 

Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 3 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.18 Complaints should only go to a third stage if the resident 

has actively requested a third stage review of their 
complaint. Where a third stage is in place and has been 
requested, landlords must respond to the stage three 
complaint within 20 working days of the complaint 
being escalated. Additional time will only be justified if 
related to convening a panel. An explanation and a date 
for when the stage three response will be received 
should be provided to the resident. 

Yes The council does not operate a 3-stage process. 

P
age 91



18 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
5.19 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 

reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman's contact details so the resident can 
challenge the landlord's plan for responding and/or the 
proposed timeliness of a landlord's response. 

Yes The council does not operate a 3-stage process. 

Section 6 – Putting things right 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
6.1 Effective dispute resolution requires a process designed 

to resolve complaints. Where something has gone 
wrong a landlord must acknowledge this and set out the 
actions it has already taken, or intends to take, to put 
things right. 

Yes The council's process for dealing with complaints is to: 

• acknowledge where things have gone wrong and 
apologising in these instances 

• make it clear what action will be taken when 
complaints are upheld 

• offering financial remedies, if relevant 
6.2 Any remedy offered must reflect the extent of any 

service failures and the level of detriment caused to the 
resident as a result. A landlord must carefully manage 
the expectations of residents and not promise anything 
that cannot be delivered or would cause unfairness to 
other residents. 

Yes The council's complaints procedure sets out a range of 
remedies that are considered when resolving 
complaints. 

6.5 The remedy offer must clearly set out what will happen 
and by when, in agreement with the resident where 
appropriate. Any remedy proposed must be followed 
through to completion. 

Yes Remedies offered will be clear and are tracked by the 
Complaints team, to ensure they are actioned by 
individual service areas. 

P
age 92



19 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
6.6 In awarding compensation, a landlord must consider 

whether any statutory payments are due, if any 
quantifiable losses have been incurred, the time and 
trouble a resident has been put to as well as any 
distress and inconvenience caused. 

Yes All these factors are considered at the point of offering 
compensation payments. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
6.3 Landlords should look beyond the circumstances of the 

individual complaint and consider whether anything 
needs to be 'put right' in terms of process or systems to 
the benefit of all residents. 

Yes This is standard practice. For example, any changes to 
process/procedures or reminders for staff (as forms of 
learning actions), will benefit more than just the 
complainant, as the learning action should avoid a 
repeat occurrence. 

6.7 In some cases, a resident may have a legal entitlement 
to redress. The landlord should still offer a resolution 
where possible, obtaining legal advice as to how any 
offer of resolution should be worded. 

Yes Legal advice will be obtained as and when required. 

Section 7 – Continuous learning and improvement 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
7.2 Accountability and transparency are integral to a positive 

complaint handling culture. Landlords must report back 
on wider learning and improvements from complaints in 
their annual report and more frequently to their 
residents, staff and scrutiny panels. 

Yes The council report back on learning and improvement 
from complaints via its annual report. This report goes to 
Digital and Demand Board, Directors Board and then 
onto Standards and Audit Committee. 

P
age 93



20 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
Learning from complaints is shared with our Tenants 
Excellence Panel. 

Learning from complaints is also a key part of our 
communication schedule, which we have in place as 
part of this code. 

Best practice 'should' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
7.3 A member of the governing body should be appointed to 

have lead responsibility for complaints to support a 
positive complaint handling culture. This role will be 
responsible for ensuring the governing body receives 
regular information on complaints that provides insight to 
the governing body on the landlord's complaint handling 
performance. 

Yes The council has a lead member with responsibility for 
complaints. Complaints-related reports go via this 
member prior to going onto committee. 

7.4 As a minimum, governing bodies should receive:  

• regular updates on the volume, categories and 
outcome of complaints, alongside complaint handling 
performance including compliance with the 
Ombudsman's orders 

• regular reviews of issues and trends arising from 
complaint handling 

• the annual performance report produced by the 
Ombudsman, where applicable 

• individual complaint outcomes where necessary, 
including where the Ombudsman made findings of 
severe maladministration or referrals to regulatory 

Yes This information is included within our annual complaints 
reports. 

The Housing Ombudsman annual report will be included 
if this is received in a timely manner. If not, the council 
still summarise all Housing Ombudsman decisions within 
its annual report. 

P
age 94



21 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
bodies – the implementation of management 
responses should be tracked to ensure they are 
delivered to agreed timescales 

• the annual self-assessment against the Complaint 
Handling Code for scrutiny and challenge 

7.5 Any themes or trends should be assessed by senior 
management to identify potential systemic issues, 
serious risks or policies and procedures that require 
revision. They should also be used to inform staff and 
contractor training. 

Yes Trends are analysed and are presented to senior 
management via Digital and Demand Board and 
Directors Board. 

7.6 Landlords should have a standard objective in relation to 
complaint handling for all employees that reflects the 
need to: 

• have a collaborative and co-operative approach 
towards resolving complaints, working with 
colleagues across teams and departments 

• take collective responsibility for any shortfalls 
identified through complaints rather than blaming 
others 

• act within the Professional Standards for engaging 
with complaints as set by the Chartered Institute of 
Housing 

Yes, for the 
Complaints 

team 

This standard objective is in place for all staff who work 
within the Complaints team. 

P
age 95



22 

Section 8 – Self-assessment and compliance 
Mandatory 'must' requirements 

Code section Code requirement Comply? Evidence, commentary and explanations 
8.1 Landlords must carry out an annual self-assessment 

against the Code to ensure their complaint handling 
remains in line with its requirements. 

Yes This will be undertaken annually. 

8.2 Landlords must also carry out a self-assessment 
following a significant restructure and/or change in 
procedures. 

Yes The self-assessment will be undertaken in the event of a 
significant restructure and/or change in procedures. 

8.3 Following each self-assessment, a landlord must: 

• report the outcome of their self-assessment to their 
governing body. In the case of local authorities, self-
assessment outcomes should be reported to elected 
members 

• publish the outcome of their assessment on their 
website if they have one, or otherwise make 
accessible to resident 

• include the self-assessment in their annual report 
section on complaints handling performance 

Yes All self-assessments will be: 

• reported to committee 
• published on the council's website 
• included within the annual complaints report 

 

P
age 96



 
 

20 October 2022 ITEM 6 

Standards and Audit Committee 

Annual Information Governance Report April 2021 – March 
2022 
Wards and communities affected:  
All 

Key Decision:  
Non-key 

 

Report of: Lee Henley – Strategic Lead Information Management 

Accountable Director: Jackie Hinchliffe – Director of HR, OD & Transformation 

This report is: Public 
 
Executive Summary 
 

• During 2021/22, the council processed 98% of Freedom of Information (FOI) 
requests within the 20-working day legal timeframe. The Information Commissioner 
expect public authorities to answer at least 90% on time so this is a positive. 
Thurrock’s performance is based on 903 FOI requests that were processed. 

• During the reporting period, the council received 148 Subject Access Requests 
under the Data Protection Legislation. 91% of these requests were processed within 
the legal timeframe. The volume of SAR’s received for this reporting period has 
increased by 76% compared to 2020/21. 

• The council continue to drive forward its compliance work programme in-line with 
the Data Protection Act.  

• Records Management work activity is captured within Appendix 3. Key work areas 
include ensuring records are held in-line with the Data Protection Act. 

 

1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 To note the Information Governance activity and performance 

 
2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1    This report provides an update on the following Information Governance areas: 
 

• Freedom of Information 
• Data Protection 
• Records Management 

 
2.2     Freedom of Information: 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

2.2.1   During the reporting period, 903 FOI requests were recorded on the council’s FOI 
system. The table and graph below details year-on-year volume and performance 
data since 2014. Since 2014/15, the volume of requests received have increased 
significantly, however strong performance has been maintained at all times. 
Appendix 1 provides additional information on FOI data for the reporting period. 

 
Year Number of 

Requests 
% Responded to in 
time 
 

2014/15 548 98% 
2015/16 980 98% 
2016/17 1046 97% 
2017/18 1056 96% 
2018/19 1093 95% 
2019/20 1042 97% 
2020/21 808 99% 
2021/22  903 98% 

 

             
 
 
2.2.2    There were no closed complaints from the Information Commissioners Office, 

where they have reached a final decision on FOI cases within the reporting period. 
 
2.3      Data Protection: 
 
2.3.1 Subject Access Requests (SAR): 
 

• The Data Protection Act states that personal information must be processed in 
accordance with the rights of data subjects. This can result in anybody making a 
request to the council about any information we hold on them and these are 
referred to as SARs. Requests can range from very specific records such as 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Number of requests % Responded in time

Chart Title

Page 98



 

 
 

Council Tax, Benefits claim history, Social Care records or to all information held 
by the council.  
 

• During the reporting period, the council received 148 SAR requests. This is the 
largest volume of SARs received by the council in any given year. Of the 148 
requests, 91% were processed within the legal timeframe.  

 
• The table and graph below details volumes of requests and performance since 

2014. Appendix 2 provides a breakdown of subject access requests per 
Directorate. 

 
Year Volume  Performance 

within timeframe   
 

2014/15 21 71% 
2015/16 43 93% 
2016/17 47 83% 
2017/18 29 83% 
2018/19 83 73% 
2019/20 132 97% 
2020/21  84 98% 
2021/22  148 91% 

 

              
2.3.2 Data Protection Compliance - Appendix 2 provides additional information on 

general data protection compliance for the reporting period. 
 

2.3.3 Below is a summary of complaints from the Information Commissioners Office, 
where they have reached a final decision on Data Protection related cases within 
the reporting period. 

 
Complaint  Outcome 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Number of requests % Responded in time

Chart Title

Page 99



 

 
 

Complaint received that the 
council had not responded to a 
Subject Access Request (SAR) 

The council were not the Data Controller for 
the SAR and the individual was informed of 
this. This was accepted by the ICO, however 
they raised a concern that the council 
delayed its response to the individual. 

Individual was concerned with 
the way their personal data has 
been handled. Specifically, the 
council has shared their 
personal information containing 
inaccurate data to a third party 
without her consent 

This related to a data protection incident that 
had already been considered in-line with the 
council’s procedures. A full response was 
provided to the ICO back in May 2021, setting 
out how the council handled the incident. No 
further responses were received from the ICO 
 
In addition to the above, the council linked in 
with the individual in relation to their right to 
rectification concerns (due to inaccurate 
data), however the individual chose to not 
progress this and then made a SAR instead.  

 
2.3.4 During the reporting period, the council processed 182 data sharing requests. Of 

the 182:  
• 101 were received from the Police 
• 81 were received from other third parties (e.g., another council) 

 
For sharing requests, the Data Protection Team ensure the request is a valid 
request in-line with the Data Protection Act. This will include checking that the 
purpose of sharing is lawful. 

 
2.4     Records Management: 
 
2.4.1  The council aim to reduce the number of physical records located at on-site and off-

site storage locations. Progress on this project is reported via Digital and Demand 
Board.  

 
2.4.2   A records management work programme is in place to drive forward best practice 

and compliance in relation to the management of electronic records. Appendix 3 
provides additional details regarding Records Management work activity.  

 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1      There are no options associated with this paper. 
 
4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 This report is for noting purposes.  There are no recommendations requiring 

approval. 
 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 This report was sent to the council’s Information Governance Group and Directors 

Board. 

Page 100



 

 
 

 
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community impact 
 
6.1.1 The council has effective systems and processes in place for managing Information 

Governance. 
 
6.1.2 The council’s ability to comply with information governance legislation demonstrates 

its commitment to openness and accountability.  This will allow residents and 
customers to have a confidence in what we do and will help build trusting 
relationships.   
 

6.1.3 Access to information can also be closely linked to the Customer Services and ICT 
Strategies. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by:  Jonathan Wilson 

Assistant Director Finance 
  
There are no specific financial implications from the report and the service response 
is delivered from within existing resources. It is noted there are significant financial 
penalties for non-compliance with the Data Protection Act. 

 
7.2 Legal 

 
Implications verified by:  Gina Clarke - Corporate Governance Lawyer & 

Deputy    Monitoring Officer 
 

Given that this is an update report provided for noting purposes there are no legal 
implications directly arising from it. The following points are of particular note from a 
legal compliance perspective: 

 
• Failure to respond to FOI requests within the statutory time limits could lead to 

complaints to the Information Commissioner Officer (ICO). In addition, it could 
result in regulatory intervention, as the ICO are now starting to target poor 
performing councils for the length of time taken to respond to FOI requests, 
which could lead to reputational damage. 

 
• There are various avenues available to the ICO to address an organisation’s 

shortcomings in relation to the collection, use and storage of personal information. 
These avenues can include criminal prosecution, non-criminal enforcement and 
audit. The ICO also has the power to serve a monetary penalty notice on a data 
controller.  

 
7.3 Diversity and Equality 

 

Page 101



 

 
 

Implications verified by: Natalie Smith - Strategic Lead Community 
Development and Equalities 

There are significant diversity issues for the whole community regarding FOI and 
Data Protection.  The successful implementation of FOI and Data Protection 
allows our customers, stakeholders, partners, and the public to access and 
receive information.   

 
7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e., Staff, Health Inequalities, 

Sustainability, Crime and Disorder or Impact on Looked After Children 
 

None 

8. Background papers used in preparing the report  
 

None 
 

9. Appendices to the report 
 

Appendix 1 – Freedom of Information 

Appendix 2 – Data Protection 

Appendix 3 – Records Management 

 
Report Author: 
 
Lee Henley  
Strategic Lead Information Management 
  

Page 102



 

 
 

Appendix 1 - Freedom of Information 
 
The chart below shows that of the 903 requests received in the reporting period, 565 
(63%) were supplied with all information requested, 271 (30%) were refused, 45 (5%) were 
cancelled and 22 (2%) were part supplied.  

The chart below shows requests received per Directorate. In addition to this, the FOI  
themes for the larger Directorates (in terms of FOI volumes) are shown below: 

• Adults, Housing Health: 
o Care Packages/Provision 
o Housing stock 

 
• Resources and Place Delivery: 

o Business Rates information 
o Council Tax 

 
• Public Realm: 

o Electric Vehicle Charging 
o Burials/Cremations 

 
• Childrens: 

o Looked after Children 
o Special Education Needs 

 
• HR, OD & Transformation: 

o General Staff Enquiries 
o Software Providers and Systems 

 
 

22

45

271

565

Part Supplied

Cancelled

Refused

Supplied

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

FOI Status 

Number of Requests

Page 103



 

 
 

 
The chart below shows the type of exemptions and refusals that were applied (based on a 
total of 293 requests that were part supplied or refused).  Please note the chart below may 
not always balance back to the total number of part supplied or refused requests, as more 
than one exemption can be applied per request.  
 
 
 

 

246

202
186

159

105

5

-10
10
30
50
70
90

110
130
150
170
190
210
230
250

Public Realm

Adults,
 Housing & Health

Resources &
 Place Delivery

Children's S
ervices

HR, OD & Transfo
rmation

Stra
tegy, Engagement &

 Growth

Breakdown of requests per directorate

51124

191

32

103

106

Provided In Confidence (5)

Commercial Interests (11)

Data Protection (24)

Legal Professional Privilege (1)

Law Enforcement (9)

National Security (1)

Information Not Held (32)

Already or due to be published (103)

Exceeds Cost Threshold (106)

Types of Exemption/Refusal

Page 104



 

 
 

 
 
 
The chart below identifies where FOI requests sent into the council originated from. 

 
 

 
  

380

352

98

65

8

Business

Private Individual

Journalist/Press

Charity/Campaigns

MP/Councillor

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200 220 240 260 280 300 320 340 360 380

Who FOI requests were made by

Number of Requests

Page 105



 

 
 

Appendix 2 - Data Protection  
 
Subject Access Requests: 
 
The chart below highlights the data owner areas for the 148 requests processed 
within the reporting period. 

 

 
Data Protection compliance across the Council: 

Accountability is one of the data protection principles. It makes organisations responsible 
for complying with the UK GDPR and the Data Protection (DP) Act. Due to this, the council 
must be able to demonstrate how it complies with both the Regulation and DP Act. 

Key to accountability is an evidence base to show compliance. This can be demonstrated in 
a range of ways including via policies, procedures, privacy notices, data protection impact 
assessments, staff training, incident management, having a dedicated Data Protection 
Officer in post and by ensuring effective security arrangements are in place to protect 
personal data. These information governance requirements are in place at Thurrock and 
can be evidenced.  
 
A corporate information governance group (IGG) is in place and this Group has identified 
key information assets on a central Record of Processing Activity (RoPA).  At the point new 
assets are identified and added to the ROPA, the Asset Owner is required to confirm that 
they will undertake the roles and responsibilities in relation to the asset; re-confirmation is 
then required on an annual basis along with confirmation that the details recorded in the 
RoPA are current and correct. These reviews allow any identified risks to be recorded and 
gaps in compliance to be addressed. 

4

6

9

10

16

48

55

Strategy Engagement and 
Growth 

Whole Council

Public Realm 

Resources and Place Delivery 

HR, OD & Transformation

Adults, Housing & Health 

Children's Services

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60

Subject Access Request - Data Owners

Number of Requests

Page 106



 

 
 

Appendix 3 - Records Management 

 
Physical Records: 

 
Off-Site - The numbers of boxes containing manual records stored off-site are shown 
below... 

 
 
 
The progress of this project is reported to the council’s Digital and Demand Board to 
ensure records held in boxes are managed in-line with the Data Protection Act. 
 
On-site – Approximately 2500 archive boxes are currently stored at various locations 
within Civic Offices 1. On-site archive stores must be addressed before the building is 
vacated and a project is on-going to address this.  

 
Review of electronic data in Objective in-line with the records retention schedule: 
 
The Objective system requires a ‘trigger’ to assign a disposal review date. For example, 
the retention of a standard finance file is 6 years; therefore, we need to tell the system the 
financial year the file relates to. This trigger is usually the date the file will be closed, 
therefore a finance file for the period 2021/22: 

• Will have a closed date of 31 March 2022 entered on the system 
• Will be held 6 years from the closed date  

 
Previously disposal review triggers could only be applied post file creation as this was not 
part of the file creation process in Objective Navigator. Due to this, records were created 
although a retention trigger was not applied in many cases. However, the requirement to 
assign a disposal review trigger at file creation has now been resolved using several 
methods including: 

• Workflow capability, as individuals are prompted via workflows to include a 
retention trigger 

• The Records Management Team monitor all new file creations to ensure they have 
the relevant triggers applied  

 
There are some legitimate reasons for not having disposal review triggers. Examples 
include an employee file and/or a tenancy file. A trigger cannot be applied in these cases 
until the member of staff leaves the council and/or a tenant moves out of a council 
property. 
 

12233 11263 10292 9764 9539 9244

Apr-17
OFF SITE Archive 

Box Figures

Apr-18 Apr-19 Apr-20 Apr-21 Apr-22

Page 107



 

 
 

For those records that do have a retention trigger set, Departmental Information 
Governance Leads have been tasked with driving this forward across their service area 
including: 

• Providing targets/deadlines for completion of tasks 
• Escalation to their Assistant Director if required to obtain support and/or to agree a 

departmental escalation process for non-compliance  
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 108



 

 
 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 

20 October 2022  ITEM: 7 

Standards and Audit Committee 

In Quarter 2 Refresh of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and 
Opportunity Register 

Wards and communities affected:  
All 

Key Decision:  
Non-key 

Report of: Andy Owen, Corporate Risk and Insurance Manager   

Accountable Director: Jonathan Wilson, Interim Director of Finance 

This report is a Public 
 
Executive Summary 
 
One of the functions of the Standards and Audit Committee under the Terms of 
Reference of the Constitution is to provide independent assurance that the 
authority’s risk management arrangements are adequate and effective. 
 
To enable the Standards and Audit Committee to consider the effectiveness of the 
Council’s risk and opportunity management arrangements the report on the refresh 
of the register is presented on an annual basis and provide details of how the key 
risks and opportunities facing the authority are identified and managed.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
The Corporate Risk and Insurance Manager has engaged with Services, Department 
Management Teams, Performance Board and Directors Board during July to 
September 2022 to refresh the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register. 
 
This report provides Standards and Audit Committee with the key risks and 
opportunities identified by the review and the revised Strategic/Corporate Risk and 
Opportunity Register.  
  
  
1. Recommendation(s) 
 
1.1 That Standards and Audit Committee note the items and details 

contained in the Dashboard (Appendix 1). 
 
1.2 That Standards and Audit Committee note the ‘In Focus’ report 
 (Appendix 2), which highlights the higher priority items identified by the 
 review. 
 
1.3 That Standards and Audit Committee note the Best Value Inspection of 

the governance arrangements (including risk management) outlined in 
sections 2.7 and 2.8 of the report. 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



 

2. Introduction and Background 
 
2.1 Risk and Opportunity Management (ROM) describes the planned and 

systematic approach used to identify, evaluate and manage the risks to and 
the opportunities for the achievement of the Council’s objectives. 

 
2.2 ROM contributes towards the council meeting the requirements of Corporate 

Governance and the Account & Audit Regulations and is an important part of 
the Council’s overall Performance Management Framework. 

 
2.3 In accordance with the ROM Policy, Strategy and Framework regular reviews 

of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity register were undertaken 
during 2021/22 and reported to Performance Board, Directors Board and 
Standards & Audit Committee.       

   
2.4 The annual review of the Council’s ROM arrangements was undertaken in the 

last quarter of 2021/22. As part of the review the ROM Policy, Strategy and 
Framework were updated and reported to Standards and Audit Committee 07 
July 2022, via Directors Board and Performance Board February 2022.   

 
2.5 The refresh of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register is the 

first exercise under the updated ROM Framework. The Corporate Risk and 
Insurance Manager has engaged with Services, Department Management 
Teams and Performance Board during July to September to refresh the 
Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register. 

 
2.6 The review has resulted in some changes to the register (e.g. items refreshed, 

added or removed). 
 
2.7  On 02 September 2022, the Government announced it was intervening at 

Thurrock Council to address concerns about the authority’s investment and 
borrowing activity and financial situation. Under the intervention package 
Essex County Council (ECC) have been commissioned to oversee the 
management of the Thurrock Council’s financial resources and affairs, 
undertake a Best Value Inspection of the governance arrangements (including 
risk management) and provide support for the development of plans to 
manage the position. The findings of this work are due to be reported to 
Government within the next 3 months by ECC. 

 
2.8 Any risk management improvement opportunities identified from the 

inspection will be used to inform plans to further embed the ROM 
arrangements across the Council and updates on the position will be reported 
in subsequent papers to Standards & Audit Committee.       

 
 
3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options 
 
3.1 The outcome of the review is shown in the Dashboard (Appendix 1), In Focus 

report (Appendix 2) and the following tables.   
 

Page 112



 

3.2 Appendix 1 – Dashboard 
 The dashboard provides a summary of the items in the register mapped 

against the council’s priorities, shows the significance of the risks and 
opportunities, the ratings for the items along with the management time 
frames.  

 
3.3 Appendix 2 – Risks and Opportunities In Focus report 
 This document highlights the higher priority items identified by the review.  
 
 The rationale for items being in focus is based on the numeric value of the 

rating. Any risks/opportunities which are currently rated 16 or 12 automatically 
become in focus and any which are currently rated 9 or 8 would be 
considered on a case by case basis for the in focus report. 

 
 A summary of the position for each in focus item is included below 
 
 Risk - In priority (rating) and then reference number order. 
Adult Social Care, Demand, Stability & Market Failure - Risk 2  (Rating: 16 Critical/Very Likely)                                                              
Adult Social Care has received additional funding in recent years – through a precept as part of 
the Council Tax and also through the Improved Better Care Fund. A significant proportion of this 
money has been used to stabilise the marketplace and deliver sustainability for care providers.  
This has included increasing the capacity of the contract and brokerage team to ensure contract 
compliance visits and monitoring to take place in a timely manner – reducing or aiding early 
identification of risks. The introduction of a Brokerage function has also meant that more realistic 
costs and fees are negotiated. In addition, uplifts have been provided (as described in the risk 
description) to improve stability and domiciliary care has been retendered. Through the Better 
Care Fund, we have also been able to enhance capacity through investment in a Bridging Service 
and through enhancing existing services to ensure that people can come out of hospital when 
medically fit to do so – even when they are unable to return home. This has helped to reduce 
Delayed Transfers of Care and Waiting Lists.  
 
The current Covid-19 Pandemic has significantly increased the strain on providers and the system 
as a whole with demand for home care remaining extremely high. Staffing remains a major issue 
across both residential and domiciliary care sectors. This is having a direct impact on the number 
of people we are able to provide care with across the domiciliary care sector leading to the 
implementation of waiting lists. This means hard decisions having to be made about how and 
where hours are distributed, which whilst risk assessed, is leading to some people having less 
care. As a result, additional strain is being placed on family members who are being asked to 
provide care to their loved ones where formal care capacity remains unavailable. Increased carer 
breakdown is a real risk.  It is unclear as to whether the demand will remain high, outstripping 
supply, but there seems to be no sign of demand abating. In fact, there is growing evidence that 
demand emanating from the pandemic is now beyond dispute. 
 
Whilst some additional funding was provided by the NHS to assist with system flow, this has now 
come to an end, meaning that the Council cannot afford to carry on commissioning certain 
services – for example providing notice to the Hospital’s Bridging Service. Unfortunately, this 
means that there is likely to be an impact on delays to discharge from hospital and the ability to 
provide care required as quickly as we would like. This is already starting to be experienced. 
 
Transformation work continues to progress to redesign a system that can respond to some of the 
current challenges – although some elements and benefits of the work will take time to be 
realised. Thurrock’s Integrated Care Strategy ‘A Case for Further Change’ has recently been 
published – detailing existing and future system change activity. At the beginning of 2018, the new 
domiciliary care contract started with providers now well established within the Borough, although 
one of the organisations who were successful in the tender process have failed to deliver the 
capacity contracted for; this is further evidence of the fragility of this market. Work has also taken 

Page 113



 

place on alternative approaches to traditional domiciliary care, with two Wellbeing Teams now in 
place.  Wellbeing Teams will enable us to identify the model required and will focus on enhancing 
Wellbeing and not just on meeting needs. It will also look at how to encourage people in to the 
care industry and to professionalise a caring role.   
 
Despite the work taking place, the risk of market failure and unsustainable demand remains 
extremely high.  The sheer number of challenges faced by the care market and the health and 
care system as a whole at the current time has led to the risk level being kept at 16. 
 
Adult Social Care, Care Reforms - Risk 6                                 (Rating: 16 Critical/Very Likely)                                                                                                                                      
As stated in the risk description, the care reforms will place significant additional burdens on an 
already stretched social care budget and an already fragile market place. Additional funding is 
almost certainly likely to fall short of what is required – and even if sufficient funding was available, 
it is unlikely that the Council would be able to recruit the number of staff required to undertake 
additional work – both in terms of assessing those who require it as they are now eligible to 
receive Council service and are below the care cap, and in terms of providing sufficient workforce 
capacity to provide the additional demand in care.   
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2024/25 - Risk 25   (Rating: 16 Critical/ Very Likely)                                                                                                                                         
Balanced budget for 2022/23 and remaining gap for the subsequent 2 years (2023/24 and 
2024/25) reported to Cabinet and Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee (CO&SC) January 
2022 and approved by Council in February 2022. 
 

The Government has raised concerns around the Council’s investment activity, the level of 
external borrowing and the financial/commercial risks potentially facing the Authority and put in 
place an intervention package. Essex County Council have been commissioned to oversee the 
management of the Council’s financial resources/affairs and to support the development and 
implementation of plans to manage the situation.      
 

Officers continue to work to reduce the remaining gap of £2.053m, mitigate further potential risks 
with the intention of delivering a balanced budget at the end of the financial year (as outlined in the 
Financial Update Quarter 1 2022/23 report to Cabinet 14 Sept 2022). The Council has worked with 
the Government, continues to fully co-operate with the appointed Commissioner and independent 
financial and legal experts to assess the situation. Following the review of the investments the 
further financial impacts to both the current year and the MTFS will be considered, and plans 
established to manage the situation as part of budget setting 2023/24. A revised MTFS is 
scheduled to be presented to Cabinet in Quarter 2. Risk and/action plan to be updated in the next 
risk management review (Quarter 3). 
Welfare Reform - Risk 5                                                                                             (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely)                                                                                         
The Authority’s ability to manage the effects of the reforms successfully and locally has been re-
evaluated. In Q3 2022/23 there is an increased risk to income because of the government’s 
decision to restart ‘managed migration’ in Q2 of those on legacy benefits to Universal Credit. We 
understand that the DWP plans to notify claimants that they have a three-month deadline to apply 
for UC and that if they don’t apply within that time frame, the DWP will be able to stop their current 
legacy benefit claim, regardless of their circumstances. In addition, we are concerned that 
government is still stating that all legacy benefits will be transferred to UC by 2024. If this timeline 
does not change then the majority of tenants i.e. those on legacy benefits will have to transfer to 
UC sometime between now and 2024 on what is currently an unspecified timetable.  
 

Overall, it is to be noted that given the high levels of support that officers are required to provide a 
wide range of claimants affected by such reforms the resourcing of such high numbers transferring 
from legacy benefits to UC by 2024 is likely to present a real challenge for the Council.       
 

We are taking a wide range of actions to mitigate the risk (as noted in the risk management action 
plan). The Strategic Welfare Reform Group which was established some years ago to oversee the 
introduction of the welfare reforms continues to oversee the most recent changes including the 
rollout of the Universal Credit which we have managed very effectively through our close working 
relationship with the DWP. We continue to work with Sanctuary Housing to provide appropriate 
support to tenants who may be experiencing hardship. 
 

Page 114



 

CSC, Service Standards & Inspection Outcome - Risk 8                 (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely)                                                                                                                                      
This risk evaluates the impact of increased demand and resource pressures on children’s social 
care quality of service and provision. The pressures outlined throughout previous years remain 
acute. They include increased volumes, increased complexity and ongoing activity to review high-
cost placements. The service continuously measures impact of the MASH. Thurrock has 
introduced a Think Family Service drawing together Commissioned and internal services to pool 
and reduce resource spend. The early help service model and the Thurrock multi-agency 
safeguarding hub (MASH) has been successful and this is being supported by the implementation 
of the Think Family Service. The service continues to maximize the external investment and 
opportunities presented through Supporting Families through continuing to achieving improved 
and sustained outcomes which means less children needing statutory services.  
 

The service is demand led and cannot fail to respond to the needs of a child due to budget or 
resource constraints. Changes on a local, regional and national level can have a significant impact 
on the demand for services and local authorities duties. War such as the war in the Ukraine and 
international factors can result in an unplanned increase in the number of unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children or families with no recourse to public funds. Geographical movement of families 
across the Eastern Region and London can see a rise in families needing services, including large 
sibling groups. Areas for improvement were identified in the Ofsted (ILAC) 2019 and Focused Visit 
in July 2021 and a Development Plan has been updated to address identified actions required.  
 

The level and complexity of some children and young people’s needs and the lack of available 
national resources (specialist placements) to meet those needs is driving up cost pressures. As 
the Council continues to improve practice regarding the identification and tackling of Child 
Exploitation there is an increase in demand for service provision in terms of intervention; 
prevention and victim support. Duties in terms of radicalization also place pressures on the service 
in terms of workforce capacity. Trends can be predicted based on previous levels of demand but 
these are subject to variance and there has been an increase in youth violence locally.   
 

The pressures outlined above will not be alleviated in the short term and the risk rating will remain 
at the higher (red) level for the period covered.  It is anticipated that there will continue to be court 
delays regarding management of cases. The lack of available of foster placements and residential 
placements for children with complex needs remains a national issue.  
 

Regular reporting of CSC performance and plans to CS Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
monthly Development Board. 

 

CSC, Safeguarding & Protecting Children & Young People - Risk 9  (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely)                                                              
The nature of the work in terms of safeguarding and supporting children at risk of harm means that 
this will always be a high-risk area although through the application of Local and S.E.T (Southend, 
Essex & Thurrock) Child Protection procedures the department actively works to mitigate this risk 
and reduce the likelihood. 
 

The risk of children and young people coming to harm cannot be eliminated and the risk level 
needs to remain high and ensure clear vigilance across the council and partner agencies. New 
and emerging risk factors will arise and there is always a potential for agencies ‘not knowing, what 
they don’t know’ that needs to be guarded against.    
 

Embedding the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub and Early Offer of Help has supported earlier 
identification of risk through a multi-agency approach enabling the department to work to intervene 
at an earlier stage and reduce the risk of harm in some cases. Thurrock Local Safeguarding 
Children Partnership arrangements is further improving the inter-agency arrangements to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people living in Thurrock. 
 

The impact for individual children and families, particularly in cases of child death is significant and 
whilst actions to reduce the likelihood are implemented the impact will remain as critical. There is 
also a critical impact score in terms of reputational damage if a child is not safeguarded or should 
a child death or serious injury occur. 
 

The ongoing nature of risk in child protection and safeguarding is such that despite effective 
mitigation the acknowledgement of the risk needs to remain high and will not reduce. This is not to 
say that the risks are unmanageable but for effective management the gravity and complexity of 
the risk needs to be acknowledged.   
 

Page 115



 

Managing this risk places inherent pressures on the Children’s Social Care budget as a demand 
led budget. Effective demand and resource management remain a priority for the service within an 
overriding context of keeping children safe.   
 

Risk will remain constant throughout the period covered.  Regular reporting of performance and 
progress against plans are shared at CS Overview & Scrutiny Committee and regular monthly 
Development Board. 
Property Ownership Liability - Risk 10                                                            (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely)                                                                                                                                      
The Council’s Property and Facilities Management (FM) functions have previously been 
outsourced and have been brought back in house in two separate phases, with FM the most 
recent in April 2020. The coincidence of this with the global pandemic has to a degree meant that 
the focus on short term actions in relation to the pandemic has been at the expense of a more 
strategic approach to planning and resourcing. 
 

The ongoing financial challenges faced by local authorities and the changing ways in which 
services are delivered and people work, many of which have been accelerated during the 
pandemic, mean that a wholesale review (and thereafter regular ongoing reviews) of the council’s 
property needs and associated policies and strategies (many of which remain as unadopted 
drafts) is required. These will support the Council’s Retain, Reuse, Release approach to property. 
 

The Council has already adopted a Corporate Landlord approach to operational property, but this 
requires appropriate policies to be finalised, the need for corporate properties to be reviewed and 
the portfolio reduced with sites being consolidated where appropriate and the Property & FM team 
appropriately resourced to carry out the review, develop and implement strategies and provide 
ongoing management. The Council’s medium term financial plan needs to reflect this resourcing 
need, the previous failure to transfer full budgets from services alongside the transfer of property 
and a backlog of maintenance from when properties were managed by services. This pressure 
should reduce as the portfolio is rationalised and investment focussed on properties which will be 
retained in the longer term. 
 

The Council has adopted the Concerto platform as its Asset Management System. Implementation 
of relevant management modules has commenced alongside the transfer of data. This process 
needs to be accelerated to ensure that the Council has a full picture of ownership, compliance and 
risk. Property & FM need to work closely with IT to ensure that the system sits smoothly within the 
Council wide transition to Microsoft 365.  
 

The lack of appropriate strategies, resources and budgets increases the risk of non-compliance in 
the operational property portfolio and this needs to be addressed to inform the transition to a 
smaller, more cost efficient, fit for purpose and ultimately net-zero portfolio. 
 

The closure of CO1 and opening of CO3 together with the changes in working practices and 
service delivery outlined above mean that it is now appropriate to undertake a review of the Civic 
Centre to ensure optimum utilisation of the space and effective systems covering health & safety 
and personal, data and asset security 
 

A Property Board will now be set up to ensure effective decision making, governance and 
reporting around strategic property matters including asset rationalisation, investment strategy, 
disposals and engagement with regeneration projects. 
 

An Accommodation Board is also being set up to work with services to ensure effective and 
properly planned use and reuse of operational assets whilst meeting service needs.  
 

The Property & FM Team has a number of vacancies and is also currently over reliant on a 
significant number of agency staff. Following the commencement of the new Assistant Director 
steps are being taken to review the structure and recruit into permanent roles. A challenging 
recruitment market and current perceptions of the Council’s financial position present a risk to 
achieving this. 
 

The Council also owns and manages a portfolio of investment properties. A review of whether 
these properties meet the current financial, economic and social priorities of the Council and 
Borough is overdue. Additional resource will be required in the short term to do this and this 
should be carried out alongside the development of a Property Investment and Investment 
Management Strategy.  
 

Page 116



 

Properties in the Investment portfolio may be affected by the Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) which require that no property with EPC ratings of F or G cannot continue to 
be leased after 1 April 2023. It is important that Council has a clear understanding and the 
buildings in its portfolio that may not comply. A significant number of properties still need to be 
assessed and this will require additional resource. Penalties of between 10 and 20% of the 
properties rateable value may be applied in the event of breaches. 
Fraud - Risk 20                                                                                                     (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely)                                                                                                                                
The Counter Fraud and investigation (CFI) department, under Thurrock Council, has an 
organisational-wide strategy and proactive work plan to monitor and manage the identified risks. A 
persistent training and education regime is in place, where experts from the service work with 
staff, contractors, Members and in the council’s supply chain to identify and mitigate the risks, and 
increase awareness.  
 

The council has current and effective policies on Counter Fraud, Bribery & Corruption and Money 
Laundering which are kept under constant review, with relevant updates being added or removed 
where appropriate.  These policies acknowledge the threats and install an action plan in identified 
incidents including, civil & criminal litigation and redress to recover any identified losses. Any 
control weaknesses identified in investigations are rectified in collaboration with the affected 
services and Internal Audit through SMART Action Plans. 
 

In past years (FY20/21) the council has come under pressure from COVID-19 and the situation 
has reduced the traditional work that CFI would complete during a year, however that has not 
meant the team haven’t assisted in the fight against fraud. Due to the pandemic the government 
announced a number of grants that were to be administered by local authorities, these were 
collectively known as Business Support Grants (BSG). The CFI dept  have worked closely with the 
Revenues team (those responsible for administering the grants) to complete pre and post 
assurance checks on all applications that were received. This preventative counter fraud work saw 
61 grant applications investigated and stopped, saving over £600,000 of potential losses of public 
funds.  
 

These risks have sat alongside the ‘normal’ fraud risks that the council faces every day, namely 
Single Person Discount fraud, Tenancy Fraud, Right To Buy fraud as well as other forms of fraud 
such as Procurement/Contract fraud. The fraud awareness programmes that were put to all staff 
will assist with identifying this risk and early intervention is always key to an organisation 
combating the risk it faces. These have continued and working alongside our alert system, staff 
are made aware of fraud trends and or known risks. 
 

Covid 19 has also enabled an easier avenue for ‘mandate fraud’ which has been highlighted to 
staff, as we are not in the office spaces we once shared on a daily basis, communication is largely 
placed within the email systems. This can create the opportunity for criminals to compromise email 
accounts and facilitate a fraud. Where staff would normally be able to speak directly to a 
colleague, this now does not happen on a regular occurrence and must be brought into the risk 
faced by the council. CFI have been approached by various councils who have fallen victim to 
£1m+ mandate frauds. 
 

CFI continues to run a programme of proactive work proposed to ensure the council’s posture 
against fraud is robust and effective. Details of the proactive work programme are included in the 
management action plan for the risk. 
 

The risk remains at 12, as new risks have emerged alongside old risks, the new risks have 
mitigated measures taken, however it is clear that those measures do not affect the ‘attempts’ we 
come across and thus it is felt that the risk to the council remains likely and critical. The council 
can ill afford a substantial loss of funds at this very critical time. 
Local Plan - Risk 22b                                                                            (Rating: 12 Critical/Likely) 
An up-to-date Local Plan is the main way that councils set their planning policies. Previous 
planning policy documents that have expired do not carry the same weight when it comes to 
deciding the outcome of a planning application. Without an up-to-date Local Plan, councils can 
lack the policies they need to prevent inappropriate or damaging development in their area. 
 
In 2014 Thurrock Council committed itself to preparing a new Local Plan. This Plan will set out the 
planning strategy and priorities for the area and covers issues such as where new housing should 

Page 117



 

be built, what type of homes are needed, and what additional infrastructure will be required to 
accommodate those homes. It can also designate land for different purposes, such as residential 
or industrial, and can give protection from development to open and green spaces. 
 
The new plan will set out a clear strategy for the council area, and for the different communities 
that make up that local authority. Rather than having to take a fragmented piecemeal approach to 
each individual development, a up to date Local Plan provides structure and represents a more 
coordinated and holistic approach to planning and managing growth. 
 
Policies and allocations within the emerging plan will apply to development schemes being 
promoted by private individuals, businesses and organisations as well as schemes being put 
forward by the council and other public sector organisations. 
 
Preparing a Local Plan in an area such as Thurrock can be very complex as there are lots of 
competing land pressures (balancing the need for new homes, against economic growth and the 
need to protect and enhance green infrastructure assets), several Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects which have the potential to come forward or commence within the Plan 
Period and potential changes to the national planning system. For a Plan to be successful and to 
appropriately balance these competing pressures we need to ensure that the plan making process 
is supported by robust evidence and that all key stakeholders including locally communities have 
been given appropriate opportunities to feed into and shape the Plan. 
Housing Needs and Homelessness - Risk 3                         (Rating: 12 Substantial/Very Likely)                                                                                                                                      
The C-19 pandemic saw a ban on evictions and the closure of Courts which, having reopened, are 
now clearing the backlog. There is a nationwide increase in Evictions of 158% according to Govt 
statistics. The current inflationary pressures and supply side issues detailed in the risk have seen 
more Thurrock residents accruing rent arrears and facing eviction with all economic indicators 
suggesting this will continue throughout 22/23. Neighbouring Authorities (particularly London LAs) 
are placing individuals and families in high volumes further saturating the Private Rental Sector 
market and driving up prices. Landlords are evicting for rent arrears and to achieve higher rents 
(above Local Housing Allowance) on their units. Landlords are insisting on large incentive 
payments, circa £3-5k, to grant an assured shorthold tenancy to someone on means tested 
benefits without a guarantor.   
 

In the final year pre-HRA17 (2017-18), 1395 households approached the council for assistance 
with homelessness. The numbers of households approaching the council has been consistently 
higher since, with 1638 households approaching in 2018-19, 2026 households approaching in 
2019-20, 1823 households approaching in 2020-21 and 1821 households approaching in 2021-22. 
This represents a 30% increase in approaches since the HRA17 was introduced, and the number 
of approaches is likely to have been higher had it not been for the action taken to protect renters 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Through Q1 2022/23, 495 households approached the council for 
assistance with homelessness – this represents the most Q1 approaches since 2019/20 (494). 
 

One of the most common reasons for homelessness in Thurrock remains the termination of an 
assured short hold tenancy. These most marked trend is for these evictions from assured 
shorthold tenancies are driven not by rent arrears or any other ‘tenant fault’ grounds, but by the 
landlord opting to evict the current tenant and re-let the property at a higher rent for the reasons 
set out above.   
 

Thurrock’s strategic geographical location (adjacent to London with excellent transport links) 
makes it an affordable and desirable area. The lower quintile housing market value is a realistic 
housing option when compared to London.  As such, and in the light of London’s scarce housing 
affordability, moving to Thurrock is increasingly an option which families now living in London are 
considering.  
 

The Council’s Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy represents an ambitious 
approach rooted by the fundamental principle that homelessness is not simply a housing issue, 
but is instead a complex social challenge requiring true collaboration to tackle effectively. A 
Homelessness Partnership Board has been established which aims to achieve the key strategic 
aims included within the Strategy document. These will be reached having a jointly developed and 
owned action plan, where successful outcomes will be delivered by leveraging the collective 
knowledge, experience, influence and expertise of the range of board members and their 

Page 118



 

respective organisations. 
 

Work is ongoing to reduce the use of, and thereby costs of, Temporary Accommodation (TA) in 
the private rented sector however the use of the council’s own stock for temporary 
accommodation will have a detrimental impact on the availability of properties to applicants on the 
Housing Register. Housing Solutions are working with homeless households and private landlords 
to secure longer term private sector tenancies by incentivising landlords. 
 

Last year Housing had a business case approved which utilised ‘Right to Buy’ receipts, combined 
with HRA prudential borrowing, to purchase properties in line with need. These were initially used 
to move people on from expensive nightly purchase TA into units incorporated into tenancy 
managements general needs stock. Further units were purchased which are to be used as 
‘Furnished Lets’ as a cost-effective way of providing our own TA and maintaining homeless 
households within Thurrock. There is a new business case being considered under the 
‘transformation plan’ to further expand this project. 
 
Cost of Living Fuel Poverty - Risk 7                                         (Rating: 12 Substantial/Very Likely) 
The Authority’s ability to successfully manage the effects of the cost of living increases locally will 
be re-evaluated and overseen by groups such as the corporate fuel poverty group. Overall, the 
ability of service users to deal with this issue is a challenge and it is noted that Council workers 
increasingly have to provide higher levels of support to a wide range of claimants and people 
affected.  
  

We are taking a wide range of actions to mitigate the risk as noted in the management action plan 
for the risk. We continue to work with Sanctuary Housing to provide appropriate support to tenants 
who may be experiencing hardship. Financial Inclusion Officers are tasked with dealing with all 
new claims to Universal Credit and complex or amended circumstance cases. 
Major Projects (Place Delivery) - Risk 12                                             (Rating: 12 Substantial/Very Likely) 
The Thurrock growth programme crosses many disciplines within the Council.  It requires 
significant programme management capacity from the Regeneration team to lead the programme 
alongside a joined up approach with other areas of the authority to ensure that relevant 
specialisms are brought in as required and programmes and strategies are complementary.  
Investment needs to be committed to project development stages before outputs and benefits are 
realised, significant levels of funding are committed at risk to prove feasibility and investment then 
needs to continue to secure the benefits from the initial funding.  External funding is committed to 
numerous projects, whilst this reduces the financial burden to the Council, compliance with 
funding agreements must be achieved to ensure the Council is not exposed financially via claw 
back mechanisms. Projects span numerous financial years and have to be able to respond to 
changing market, policy and financial conditions.   Strong project and programme managers are 
essential to ensuring that delivery stays on track and investment secures value for money outputs.  
Increasing resource capacity in the team via Matrix has provided some additional support and 
capability.  The project portfolio could benefit from significant external funding which will put 
additional pressure on the existing staff resource as more projects are developed. Momentum 
needs to be maintained in the ongoing restructure to improve working approaches and secure 
additional resource. 

 
  
 Opportunity - In priority (rating) and then reference number order. 
Investing in Growth - Opportunity 23                                              (Rating: 16 Exceptional/Very Likely)                                                                              
The Council has successfully secured significant amounts of Local Growth Fund, Getting Building 
Fund and other funds such as a £1.2m allocated under the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (Core) and 
£1.1m under the UKSPF (Multiply – Skills) to directly deliver projects and programmes that benefit 
local residents and businesses directly or through investment infrastructure and programmes. The 
results of the Towns Fund applications submitted in early 2021 have been announced and have 
secured, in principal, around £40m investment in Thurrock subject to business cases and due 
diligence. The Government has designated Thames Freeport. A formal decision from Government 
on Thames Freeport Business Case is expected in November / December 2022. The Freeport 
presents an opportunity to support projects through retained business rates to further invest in 
growth opportunities and support local communities in Thurrock, aligned to wider Thames 
Freeport objectives – levelling up and skills; innovation and net zero; and trade and investment. 

 

Page 119



 

 
Backing Thurrock Strategy & Action Plan - Opportunity 24        (Rating: 12 Exceptional/Likely)                                                                              
Backing Thurrock strategy and action plan adopted by Cabinet March 2021. The Action Plan 
includes a series of projects and initiatives that together seek to maximise the benefits to the local 
economy from growth in the borough. The Governance and monitoring arrangements for the 
strategy are in place. Successes to date include delivery of COVID grants programme (£35m 
implemented); secured and implemented Welcome Back Fund and Community Renewal Fund 
projects and programmes; delivered Thurrock Enterprise Week; implementation of LoCASE and 
CLLD programmes; securing cultural development funding for Thameside Theatre and HHPP; and 
delivered Thames Freeport bid and business cases to support economic growth and regeneration 
/ levelling up across Thurrock.   
 

Available resource is being targeted at the most important priorities and projects in the programme 
highlighted in the action plan.  
 

Good progress continues to be made but capacity issues mean that most important actions are 
being prioritised. Progress against key actions in line with the programme plan/management 
action plan for the opportunity. Forecast rating 12 to reflect delivery in year. 

 
3.4 For members information the Criteria Guide for Impact and Likelihood levels 

are included under Appendix 3 to show the guidelines used to rate and 
prioritise the items. 

 
3.5 Some items have been removed as a result of the exercise and the details are 

summarised in the following table: 
 

Items in alphabetical order  
A13 Widening Scheme - Risk 
Work complete to widen the A13 and the road open to traffic from 01/05/2022 and therefore the 
risk relating to the capacity to deliver the project no longer appropriate, and the item removed from 
the register.   
Delivery of MTFS 2021/22 to 2023/24 - Risk 
Item for 2021/22 managed, removed from register and replaced by new risk for the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2024/25, see new risk 25.   
Impact of Coronavirus - Risk 
Focus moved from response to recovery and living with COVID and therefore the risk relating to 
the Council failing to respond or deal with the situation no longer applicable and the item removed 
from the register.  
Pay Review, Phase 2 (Allowances) - Risk 
Majority agreement (2 of the 3 Trade Unions) obtained as of 01 July 2022 and therefore the 
ongoing risk to the Council of the impact of the review reduced. Item removed from the register. 
Treasury Management & Investment Strategy - Opportunity & Risk 
The Council’s investment strategy has been paused for new activity and the opportunity removed 
from the register. The Government has raised concerns around the Council’s investment activity, 
the level of external borrowing and the financial/commercial risks facing the authority and put in 
place an intervention package. Essex County Council have been commissioned to oversee the 
management of the Council’s financial resources/affairs and to support the development and 
implementation of plans to manage the situation. Investment risk incorporated in and replaced by 
new risk item/management action plan for the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 
2024/25, see new risk 25.   

 
3.6 The whole register has been filed on Objective under the shared file for Risk 

and Opportunity Management  
 

 

Page 120



 

4. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.1 One of the functions of the Standards and Audit Committee under the Terms 

of Reference of the Constitution is to provide independent assurance that the 
authority’s risk management arrangements are adequate and effective 

 
4.2 To enable the Standards and Audit Committee to consider the effectiveness 

of the Council’s risk and opportunity management arrangements the report on 
the refresh of the register is presented on an annual basis and provides 
details of how the key risks and opportunities facing the authority are 
identified and managed. 

 
5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
5.1 The Corporate Risk and Insurance Manager has engaged with Services, 

Department Management Teams, Performance Board and Directors Board to 
refresh the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register. 

 
5.2 The refreshed Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register was 

presented to Directors Board 28 September 2022 and Performance Board 
representatives 09 September 2022    

 
6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 
 
6.1 ROM is recognised as a good management practice and how successful the 

council is in managing the risks and opportunities it faces will have a major 
impact on the achievement of the council’s priorities and objectives. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by: Dammy Adewole 
 Senior Management Accountant  
 
Effective risk and opportunity management and the processes underpinning it 
will provide a more robust means to identify, manage and reduce the 
likelihood of financial claims and/or loss faced by the council.  

 
7.2 Legal 

 
Implications verified by: Gina Clarke, 
 Corporate Governance Lawyer and Deputy 

Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Page 121



 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to have in 
place a sound system of internal control which includes effective 
arrangements for the management of risk. Effective risk and opportunity 
management and the processes underpinning it will provide a more robust 
means for ensuring that the Council’s business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently, and effectively.  

 
7.3 Diversity and Equality 

 
Implications verified by: Rebecca Lee, 
 Team Manager, Community Development and 

Equalities 
 
The management of risk and opportunities provides an effective mechanism 
for monitoring and addressing key equality and human right risks associated 
with a range of service and business activities undertaken by the council. It 
also provides a method for reducing the likelihood of breaching statutory 
equality duties, specifically, the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality 
Duty. 

 
7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health Inequalities, 

Sustainability, Crime and Disorder and Impact on Looked After Children) 
 
Risk and opportunity management contributes towards the council meeting 
the requirements of Corporate Governance and the Account & Audit 
Regulations. 
 

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 

 
• Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register, July 2022. The 

document can be accessed via the following shared Risk and Opportunity 
Management file on Objective: https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk:443/id:fA1213633 

   
9. Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1 - Dashboard 
• Appendix 2 - In Focus report 
• Appendix 3 - Criteria Guide for Impact and Likelihood  

 
Report Author: 
 
Andy Owen  
Corporate Risk and Insurance Manager 
 

Page 122

https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633
https://edrms.thurrock.gov.uk/id:fA1213633


   

 Dashboard Table - Strategic/Corporate Risk & Opportunity Register July 2022 Appendix 1 
 

Risks 
Previous Ratings Latest Rating Forecast Risk Ref 

/ Priority  Risk Heading Director / AD or 
Strategic Lead  In Qtr 2 

 (2021/22) 
In Qtr 3 

 (2021/22) 
In Qtr 4 

 (2021/22) 
In Qtr 2 

 (2022/23) 
DOT Rating Date 

People - A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay 
• High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 

4 Fire Safety Housing Stock                                               Ewelina Sorbjan 8 8 8 8  8 *31/03/23 
15 Cyber Security                                                         Andy Best 6 6 9 9  9 *31/03/23 
17 Waste Strategy for Thurrock                                                                                    Julie Rogers 12 12 12 6  6 31/08/23 
18 Emergency Planning                            Cheryl Wells 6 6 6 6  6 *31/03/23 
19 Business Continuity Planning                                 Cheryl Wells 9 9 9 6  6 31/03/23 
20 Fraud                                                                                David Kleinberg 12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 
25 Medium Term Financial Strategy 22/23 - 24/25          (New)                                   Jonathan Wilson - - - 16 N/A 8 *28/02/23 

          

• Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work together to improve health and wellbeing 
2 ASC Demand, Stability and Market Failure                                              Les Billingham 16 16 16 16  16 *31/03/23 
3 Housing Needs and Homelessness                        Ewelina Sorbjan 9 9 9 12  12 *31/03/23 
5 Welfare Reform                                                      Peter Doherty 9 9 9 12  12 *31/03/23 
6 ASC Care Reforms                                                      (New) Les Billingham - - - 16 N/A 16 30/09/23 
7 Cost of Living Fuel Poverty                                          (New) Peter Doherty - - - 12 N/A 8 31/03/23 
8 CSC Service Standards & Inspection Outcome        Janet Simon 12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 
9 CSC Safeguarding & Protecting Children &Young People                   Janet Simon  12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 

21 Failure to Comply With the Prevent Duty 2015             Julie Rogers 8 8 8 8  8 *31/03/23 
          

Place - A heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future  
• Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 

11 Lower Thames Crossing                                                  Colin Black 9 9 9 9  9 *31/03/23 
16 Highway Funding and Standard                                       Julie Nelder 9 9 9 9  9 *31/03/23 

          

• Fewer public buildings with better services 
10 Property Ownership Liability                                    Mark Bradbury 12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 

          

Prosperity -  A borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
• Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy 

12 Major Projects (Place Delivery)                                             Keith Rumsey 12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 
22b Local Plan                                                                       Julie Rogers  12 12 12 12  12 *31/03/23 

          
 

Forecast Date: Retained = The risk is managed to the required level (risk appetite) but ongoing monitoring/review required via the S/C R&O Register. 
   Removed = The risk is removed from the S/C R&O Register (e.g. risk realised or managed to the required level - risk appetite). For items managed to the required level any ongoing monitoring to be undertaken by Dept., if needed. 
   * = The date applies to when the risk/management action plan documentation will be refreshed (e.g. used for medium/long term risks, where the risk circumstances are expected to change over a period of time).   

Footnote: 

Priority:  Red  = High,  Amber  = Medium,  Green  = Low. Ratings: Lower is best DOT: Latest v Previous Rating ( Static,  Increased,  Decreased) 
 
  

P
age 123



 Dashboard Table - Strategic/Corporate Risk & Opportunity Register July 2022 Appendix 1 
 

Opportunities 
Previous Ratings Latest Rating Forecast  Opp Ref / 

Priority  Opportunity Heading Director / AD or 
Strategic Lead  In Qtr 2 

(2021/22) 
In Qtr 3 

(2021/22) 
In Qtr 4 

(2021/22) 
In Qtr 2 

(2022/23) 
DOT Rating Date 

People - A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay 
• High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time 

14 Digital Council Programme                                      Jackie Hinchliffe 9 9 9 9  9 *31/03/23 
          

• Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work together to improve health and wellbeing 
1 Health & Social Care Transformation                               Les Billingham 6 6 6 6  6 *31/03/23 
          

Place - A heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future  
• Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 

13 Thurrock Regeneration Ltd                                              Keith Rumsey 9 9 9 9   9 *31/03/23 
          

Prosperity -  A borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations 
• Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy 

22a Local Plan                                                                    (New) Julie Rogers - - - 8 N/A 12 31/07/23 
23 Investing in Growth                 Gerard McCleave 12 16 16 16  16 31/03/23 
24 Backing Thurrock Strategy & Action Plan                                                                                    Gerard McCleave 8 12 12 12  12 31/03/23 

          
 

 Forecast Date: Retained = The opportunity is managed to the required level but ongoing monitoring/review required via the S/C R&O Register. 
    Removed = The opportunity is removed from the S/C R&O Register (e.g. opportunity realised or managed to the required level). For items managed to the required level any ongoing monitoring to be undertaken by Dept., if needed. 
     * = The date applies to when the opportunity/management action plan documentation will be refreshed (e.g. used for medium/long term opportunities, where the opportunity circumstances are expected to change over a period of 
time).   

Footnote: 

Priority:  Gold  = High,  Silver  = Medium,  Bronze  = Low. Ratings: Higher is best DOT: Latest v Previous Rating ( Static,  Increased,  Decreased) 
  

P
age 124



Appendix 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic/Corporate Risk & Opportunity Register  
July 2022 

 
 In Focus Report 

The items are split between Risk & Opportunity and listed in Priority (Rating) and then Reference Number Order. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   

P
age 125



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risks In Focus    P
age 126



 

Corporate Risk No. 2 / Adult Social Care, Demand, Stability and Market Failure 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The risk is that a combination of on-going pressures will result in lack of stability in the care market place resulting ultimately in market failure.  In 
addition, there is a risk that pressures emanating from the Pandemic and lock down period will place unsustainable demand on the Council’s 
ASC external placements budget.  Whilst the Council has given additional resource in the form of uplifts, they fall short of what is requested.  
Meeting demand would mean significantly increasing available capacity.  Not only is it difficult to recruit staff required to provide demand, but it is 
also unaffordable. The domiciliary care rate has been increased with the retender of the domiciliary care contract – this has resulted in greater 
stability, but difficulties remain.  For example, issues concerning recruitment and retention.  Hospital capacity remains an issue, with increased 
demand for care following the pandemic now having an impact on delayed discharges.  There has been some additional funding via the ASC 
precept and some funding through the NHS linked to ensuring discharge and system flow through the pandemic which is due to cease.  This has 
meant hard decisions about what is affordable needing to be taken.  There is therefore continuing risk to stability and affordability.  The recent 
and ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the pressures on the adult social care market and the extent to which local authorities and the 
nation are dependent upon the market to provide care for the some of the Country’s most vulnerable people.  Covid-19 has also led to a 
significant increase in demand for care which is pushing provider capacity and budgets further still.  For providers, fees and rates are still an 
issue, compounded by the National Living Wage.  Despite activity over the last 18 months, the risk of failure is still very real.   

Les Billingham 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People - A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay - Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work 
together to improve health and wellbeing. 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 18/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 18/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 18/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

   

P
age 127



Comments 

Adult Social Care has received additional funding in recent years – through a precept as part of the Council Tax and also through the Improved Better Care Fund.  A significant 
proportion of this money has been used to stabilise the marketplace and deliver sustainability for care providers.  This has included increasing the capacity of the contract and 
brokerage team to ensure contract compliance visits and monitoring to take place in a timely manner – reducing or aiding early identification of risks.  The introduction of a 
Brokerage function has also meant that more realistic costs and fees are negotiated.  In addition, uplifts have been provided (as described in the risk description) to improve 
stability and domiciliary care has been retendered.  Through the Better Care Fund, we have also been able to enhance capacity through investment in a Bridging Service and 
through enhancing existing services to ensure that people can come out of hospital when medically fit to do so – even when they are unable to return home.  This has helped 
to reduce Delayed Transfers of Care and Waiting Lists.  
 
The current Covid-19 Pandemic has significantly increased the strain on providers and the system as a whole with demand for home care remaining extremely high.  Staffing 
remains a major issue across both residential and domiciliary care sectors.  This is having a direct impact on the number of people we are able to provide care with across the 
domiciliary care sector leading to the implementation of waiting lists.  This means hard decisions having to be made about how and where hours are distributed, which whilst 
risk assessed, is leading to some people having less care.  As a result, additional strain is being placed on family members who are being asked to provide care to their loved 
ones where formal care capacity remains unavailable.  Increased carer breakdown is a real risk.  It is unclear as to whether the demand will remain high, outstripping supply, 
but there seems to be no sign of demand abating.  In fact, there is growing evidence that demand emanating from the pandemic is now beyond dispute. 
 
Whilst some additional funding was provided by the NHS to assist with system flow, this has now come to an end, meaning that the Council cannot afford to carry on 
commissioning certain services – for example providing notice to the Hospital’s Bridging Service.  Unfortunately, this means that there is likely to be an impact on delays to 
discharge from hospital and the ability to provide care required as quickly as we would like.  This is already starting to be experienced. 
 
Transformation work continues to progress to redesign a system that can respond to some of the current challenges – although some elements and benefits of the work will 
take time to be realised.  Thurrock’s Integrated Care Strategy ‘A Case for Further Change’ has recently been published – detailing existing and future system change activity.  
At the beginning of 2018, the new domiciliary care contract started with providers now well established within the Borough, although one of the organisations who were 
successful in the tender process have failed to deliver the capacity contracted for; this is further evidence of the fragility of this market.  Work has also taken place on 
alternative approaches to traditional domiciliary care, with two Wellbeing Teams now in place.  Wellbeing Teams will enable us to identify the model required and will focus on 
enhancing Wellbeing and not just on meeting needs.  It will also look at how to encourage people in to the care industry and to professionalise a caring role.   
 
Despite the work taking place, the risk of market failure and unsustainable demand remains extremely high.  The sheer number of challenges faced by the care market and the 
health and care system as a whole at the current time has led to the risk level being kept at 16.  

 
EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.     New Domiciliary Care Contract 
2.     Uplifts for providers 
3.     Development of New Model of Care – Wellbeing Teams 
4.     Prevention agenda – e.g. Stronger Together, identification and management of Long Term Conditions, Enhanced Primary Care 
5.     Market Development Strategy 
6.     Market Diversification – e.g. through Micro Enterprises, Shared Lives 
7.     Better Care Together Health and Social Care Transformation Programme 
8.     Implementation and evaluation of Wellbeing Teams pilot 
9.     Market place diversification 
10.   Workforce Development Strategy – establishment and implementation of regional strategy  
11.   Additional Funding – Temporary resilience payments, arrangements to assist with cash flow and additional infection control allocated to providers 
12.   Arrangement made with some micro enterprises to enable greater capacity for providing support in the home 

Implemented or 
on-going 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 128



13.   Development of a transformation plan for commissioning – including working with providers to develop an alternative approach to the delivery of 
support within the home. 

14.   Constant review of spend – e.g. review of high cost placements, risk assessment of care requirements to identify priority 
 

Dec 2021 
 
Ongoing 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 18/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

15.   Continuation and review of management action 1-14 
 

 

From July 2022 
 

 

1-14 Ongoing – see comments table. 
 
 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 
  

P
age 129



 

Corporate Risk No. 6 / Adult Social Care, Care Reforms 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

From October 2023, the government will introduce a new £86,000 cap on the amount anyone in England will need to spend on their personal 
care over their lifetime. In addition, the upper capital limit (UCL), the point at which people become eligible to receive some financial support from 
their local authority, will rise to £100,000 from the current £23,250.  The lower capital limit (LCL), the threshold below which people will not have 
to pay anything for their care from their assets will increase to £20,000 from £14,250. Any costs accrued prior to October 2023 will not count 
towards the cap. 
 

The changes pose a significant risk to the Council.  This includes the following: 
• Affordability – out of the £36 billion new health and social care levy over the next three years, only £5.4 billion has been ring-fenced for 

social care reform – which includes contributions towards the Fair Cost of Care 
• Behaviour change – residents who historically would have self-funded may present for care earlier, knowing that there is a cap on costs.  

This is likely to increase further financial pressure on the MTFS over the medium term 
• Market Destabilisation due to government intention to implement Section 18(3) of the Care Act– local authorities currently only have to 

arrange care for those who are a) eligible; and b) under the care cap.  Proposed changes mean that local authorities will have to arrange 
the care for all who wish them to.  This will place additional pressure on the current market.  Many self-funders who arrange their own 
care will pay greater rates than those arranged through the Council.  The Council has commissioned a number of providers to undertake 
care and these will have limited capacity – based on current demand.  There are many providers providing care to those who arrange it 
themselves who will not have been commissioned by the Council which in itself will pose an issue. 

• IT - a new IT system is required so that people are able to have a care account which shows them progress against the care cap. 
• Workforce – additional staff will be required to undertake additional Care Act assessments and also Financial Assessments.  There will 

also be an increased demand on Thurrock First through people wishing to make contact to arrange an assessment. 
• Communication – Many residents are likely to be unaware of find it difficult to understand the complex changes in current funding rules.  

Not all care costs will be eligible to be counted towards the cap.  There will be a need for a comprehensive and on-going communications 
campaign.  Volume of enquiries from residents are likely to increase 

• Resident challenge – the current uncertainty around what constitutes Fair Cost of Care means uncertainty as to a fair cost rate that will 
be applied to self-funders care accounts for the purposes of calculating their costs accrued towards the £86K cap.  This may be 
particularly contentious where Thurrock has a lower standard rate than other local authorities and may result in challenges including 
potential legal challenges to the council 

 

In addition, as there is general recognition that those arranging their own care pay more, the Government is implementing a ‘Fair Cost of Care’ 
for providers.  This means that the Local Authority has to establish how much it actual costs providers to provide care as opposed to the rate 
agreed by local authorities.  Where the Council is not providing the ‘Fair Cost of Care’ rate, it will be required to move towards paying providers 
what this is.  The amount allocated to local authorities through the health and social care levy is extremely unlikely to meet the increased cost 
involved with meeting the ‘Fair Cost of Care’ rate. 
 

Les Billingham 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People - A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay - Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work 
together to improve health and wellbeing. 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 18/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 

P
age 130



DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 18/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 18/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 30/09/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  
 

Comments 

As stated in the risk description, the care reforms will place significant additional burdens on an already stretched social care budget and an already fragile market place. 
Additional funding is almost certainly likely to fall short of what is required – and even if sufficient funding was available, it is unlikely that the Council would be able to recruit 
the number of staff required to undertake additional work – both in terms of assessing those who require it as they are now eligible to receive Council service and are below 
the care cap, and in terms of providing sufficient workforce capacity to provide the additional demand in care. 

 
EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.   Fair Cost of Care Project Group set up to identify work required and to analyse impact. 
2.   Early engagement with ContrOCC to address IT risk and adapt the IT system 
3.   Steering Group and Programme Plan being set up to address and mitigate risks in the light of an uncertain policy implementation framework/timescale 
4.   Engagement with Dept of Health & Social Care (DHSC) including participation in regular planned surveys with local authorities to communicate and 

mitigate ongoing risks to central government and influence national decisions on implementation. 

Implemented or 
on-going 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 18/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

5. Ongoing application of actions 1-4 above. From July 2022  

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 30/09/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 
  

P
age 131



Corporate Risk No. 25 / Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2024/25 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The Council continues to face financial pressures (i.e. combination of projected reductions in locally raised taxes, increased service costs e.g. 
adult social care providers and expected reductions in fees/charges) and to develop approaches to maintain a balanced budget (e.g. 
investments, savings plans, service reviews, expenditure efficiencies, general income increases, managing demand, transformation, etc). All 
approaches are important to maintain balanced budgets for the life of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
  
Failure to develop and implement plans to set and maintain a balanced budget, to manage the financial situation and the investment strategy 
could lead to budget pressures and result in service delivery impacts.  
 
The Government has raised concerns around the Council’s investment activity, the level of external borrowing and the financial/commercial risks 
potentially facing the Authority and put in place an intervention package. Essex County Council have been commissioned to oversee the 
management of the Council’s financial resources/affairs and to support the development and implementation of plans to manage the situation.     
 

Jonathan Wilson 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People – A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay – High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time. 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 07/09/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 07/09/2022  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 07/09/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 28/02/2023  

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

   

P
age 132



Comments 

Balanced budget for 2022/23 and remaining gap for the subsequent 2 years (2023/24 and 2024/25) reported to Cabinet and Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
(CO&SC) January 2022 and approved by Council in February 2022. 
 

The Government has raised concerns around the Council’s investment activity, the level of external borrowing and the financial/commercial risks potentially facing the Authority 
and put in place an intervention package. Essex County Council have been commissioned to oversee the management of the Council’s financial resources/affairs and to 
support the development and implementation of plans to manage the situation.      
 

Officers continue to work to reduce the remaining gap of £2.053m, mitigate further potential risks with the intention of delivering a balanced budget at the end of the financial 
year (as outlined in the Financial Update Quarter 1 2022/23 report to Cabinet 14 Sept 2022). The Council has worked with the Government, continues to fully co-operate with 
the appointed Commissioner and independent financial and legal experts to assess the situation. Following the review of the investments the further financial impacts to both 
the current year and the MTFS will be considered, and plans established to manage the situation as part of budget setting 2023/24. A revised MTFS is scheduled to be 
presented to Cabinet in Quarter 2. Risk and/action plan to be updated in the next risk management review (Quarter 3).  

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.   Pause on new activity under the Council’s investment and capital strategy 
 

2.   Regular monitoring of investment rate forecasts, investment programme and investment returns 
 

3.   Ongoing assessment of interest rates for inclusion in the MTFS 
 

4.   Cross Party Shadow Investment Committee established  
 

5.   2022/23 budget proposals and MTFS established and reported to Cabinet/Council Feb 2022 (via Overview & Scrutiny Committee Jan 2022) 
 

6.   Development of savings plans, linked to the refresh of the MTFS 
 

7.   Ongoing discussions with MHCLG in respect of cost pressures and future funding – Ongoing 
 

8.   Independent assessment of existing investments and strategy  
 

9.  Government intervention and Essex County Council appointed to oversee the management of the Council’s financial resources/affairs (including Best 
Value review of the governance, audit, risk management, overview and scrutiny functions) and to support the development and implementation of plans 
to manage the situation.  

 

10. Development and agreement of Improvement Plan, including: 
- Action Plan to achieve financial sustainability and to close any short and long-term.budget gaos identified across the period of the MTFS, 

incorporating a robust multi-year savings plan. 
- An action plan to ensure the Authority’s capital, investment and treasury management strategies are sustainable and affordable. 
- A strict debt reduction plan and an updated minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy 
- An action plan to ensure the Authority is complying with all relevant rules and guidelines relating to the financial management of the Authority 
- A suitable scheme of delegations for financial decision-making  

 

11. Ongoing work with the Commissioner for the implementation of improvements  

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Q3 2020 
 

Jan/Feb 2022 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

02 Sept 2022 
 
 
 

Sept to End 
Nov 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 07/09/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
 
 

P
age 133



FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

12.  Ongoing application of actions 1-4, 6-11 above.   
 
13.  Regular monitoring, review and reporting of the position and progress 

to the Commissioner and Committees/Boards.     
 

From Sept 2022 
 
From Sept 2022 

 
 
Financial update Quarter 1 to be reported to Cabinet 14 Sept 2022 and 
revised MTFS scheduled to be presented to Cabinet in Quarter 2. 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
28/02/2023  Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Unlikely (2) Rating: 8 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
  

P
age 134



 

Corporate Risk No. 5 / Welfare Reform 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

A wide range of changes in Government Policy under the broad banner of ‘Welfare Reform’ and various changes following Covid-19 restrictions 
have had a significant impact on the Council’s resources & continues to put further pressures on the ability to deliver effective services, and 
supporting its residents in meeting their financial obligations in particular around : 

• Tenancy sustainment 
• Access to and claim of benefits 
• Increase in Universal credit claimants as a result of migration from Legacy Benefits 
• Employment related support  
• Continuing Impact of Covid-19 

 

Failure to support our residents who are impacted by either Welfare reform or ongoing issues as a result of Covid-19 will lead to  
• Financial hardships for our tenants including some of our most vulnerable residents 
• Consequent impact on demand for core Council services 
• Direct and indirect impact on Council staffing resources 
• Direct impact on rent income stream to the Housing Revenue Account 
• Resulting in an increase in Evictions/Homelessness. 

  

Peter Doherty 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live, and stay. This means: 
•  build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work together to improve health and wellbeing 
• communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger together 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 01/0720/22 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 01/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 01/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

P
age 135



Comments 

The Authority’s ability to manage the effects of the reforms successfully and locally has been re-evaluated.  In Q3 2022/23 there is an increased risk to income because of the 
government’s decision to restart ‘managed migration’ in Q2 of those on legacy benefits to Universal Credit. We understand that the DWP plans to notify claimants that they 
have a three-month deadline to apply for UC and that if they don’t apply within that time frame, the DWP will be able to stop their current legacy benefit claim, regardless of 
their circumstances.  In addition, we are concerned that government is still stating that all legacy benefits will be transferred to UC by 2024.  If this timeline does not change 
then the majority of tenants i.e. those on legacy benefits will have to transfer to UC sometime between now and 2024 on what is currently an unspecified timetable.  
 

Overall, it is to be noted that given the high levels of support that officers are required to provide a wide range of claimants affected by such reforms the resourcing of such 
high numbers transferring from legacy benefits to UC by 2024 is likely to present a real challenge for the Council.       
 

We are taking a wide range of actions to mitigate the risk (as noted in the risk management action plan). The Strategic Welfare Reform Group which was established some 
years ago to oversee the introduction of the welfare reforms continues to oversee the most recent changes including the rollout of the Universal Credit which we have 
managed very effectively through our close working relationship with the DWP. We continue to work with Sanctuary Housing to provide appropriate support to tenants who 
may be experiencing hardship. 

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK 

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.  Welfare reform group established and meeting quarterly. 
2.  Utilising the Discretionary Housing Payment funds where appropriate – fund reduced by over 30% to £366,304.00 
3.  Housing Services :– 

(i)   Ensure the Rents Team are updated with all changes to legislation regarding Universal Credit.  
(ii)  Provide benefits, debt and money advice to council tenants, including those affected by the Welfare reform. Examples include: visits to residents at 

home and at outreach centres where needed. Partnership with Sanctuary established to provide debt and financial advice and other support 
services to residents. 

(iii)  Undertake monitoring and management of potential increased rent arrears/evictions: 
- Rents and Welfare team monitoring the level of rent arrears and endeavour to make contact with those affected and provide advice and assistance 

in order to assist in sustaining their tenancies. 
- Financial inclusion officers working with tenants affected by changes, maximizing income and reducing expenditure and Sanctuary to provide 

financial advice and other ongoing supporting services to residents. 
- Eviction and Prevention tracking for all eviction cases in the social sector resulting from the Welfare reform and Rents and welfare Manager 

undertaking evaluations to inform judgements on whether to proceed with the eviction process. Being carried out via the Pre-eviction panel (multi 
agency approach) 

- Creating closer inter-departmental working relationships with key stakeholders, such as Department of works and pensions. 
- Learning from best practice. 

4.  The Rents Team will continue to make contact with residents by visit, telephone, e-mail and text message and offer support where needed.  Rents 
arrears processes will continue to be updated on a regular basis to take into account the change in Government guidelines around Welfare reform and 
court/eviction action, this is to ensure all tenants affected by the pandemic and welfare reform issues are offered advice and support. 

5.  Universal Credit monitoring – Numbers continue to increase, and legacy benefit customers will be migrated across to UC in the next two years. Some 
may be better off, especially those on WTC and this is believed to be the cohort next to be compulsorily migrated across. 

6.  Continued use of Mobysoft text messaging service as a further means of managing our contact with tenants in arrears. 
7.  Extending contract with RentSense housing intelligence system to help facilitate the early intervention, support functions & management of tenant arrears  
8.  Engage with Mobysoft to implement ‘Automatic arrears actions’ to assist officers with growing case load. Final Planning phase. 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
 
 
Jan 2022  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 01/072022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

 
  

P
age 136



FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

9.   Monitoring and implementation of actions at points 1 – 8 above  
 
 
 
10. Renewal of Mobysoft 

 8. Rents began work with Mobysoft in January 2022 (information sharing and 
testing prior to implementation). Final phase testing and IT integrity being 
carried out 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
  

P
age 137



Corporate Risk No. 8 / Children’s Social Care, Service Standards & Inspection Outcome  2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

Failure to manage the increases in demand and budget/resource pressures for Children’s Social Care could lead to a breakdown in the quality or 
performance of the service provided to vulnerable children and results in less favourable outcomes from inspection and damage to reputation of 
the service does meet the required standards 

Janet Simon  

Link to Corporate Priority 

People - A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay – Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work 
together to improve health and wellbeing. 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 28/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 28/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 28/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      

4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  
 

Comments 

This risk evaluates the impact of increased demand and resource pressures on children’s social care quality of service and provision. The pressures outlined throughout 
previous years remain acute. They include increased volumes, increased complexity and ongoing activity to review high-cost placements. The service continuously measures 
impact of the MASH. Thurrock has introduced a Think Family Service drawing together Commissioned and internal services to pool and reduce resource spend. The early help 
service model and the Thurrock multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) has been successful and this is being supported by the implementation of the Think Family Service. 
The service continues to maximize the external investment and opportunities presented through Supporting Families through continuing to achieving improved and sustained 
outcomes which means less children needing statutory services.  
 

The service is demand led and cannot fail to respond to the needs of a child due to budget or resource constraints. Changes on a local, regional and national level can have a 
significant impact on the demand for services and local authorities duties. War such as the war in the Ukraine and international factors can result in an unplanned increase in 
the number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children or families with no recourse to public funds. Geographical movement of families across the Eastern Region and 
London can see a rise in families needing services, including large sibling groups. Areas for improvement were identified in the Ofsted (ILAC) 2019 and Focused Visit in July 
2021 and a Development Plan has been updated to address identified actions required.  
 

The level and complexity of some children and young people’s needs and the lack of available national resources (specialist placements) to meet those needs is driving up 
cost pressures. As the Council continues to improve practice regarding the identification and tackling of Child Exploitation there is an increase in demand for service provision 
in terms of intervention; prevention and victim support. Duties in terms of radicalization also place pressures on the service in terms of workforce capacity. Trends can be 
predicted based on previous levels of demand but these are subject to variance and there has been an increase in youth violence locally.   
 

P
age 138



The pressures outlined above will not be alleviated in the short term and the risk rating will remain at the higher (red) level for the period covered.  It is anticipated that there will 
continue to be court delays regarding management of cases. The lack of available of foster placements and residential placements for children with complex needs remains a 
national issue.  
 

Regular reporting of CSC performance and plans to CS Overview and Scrutiny Committee and monthly Development Board.  
 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Quality Assurance and Safeguarding functions are in place and robustly applied and a Development Board takes place on a monthly basis.  
 

2. Trix Policies and Procedures across Children’s Social care. All procedures are subject to review and regular updating. 
 
3. Joint delivery of the  ‘Early Offer of Help Strategy’ and associated services are now embedded to meet the new the duty placed on Council’s to 

coordinate an early offer of help to families who do not meet the criteria for social care services and ensure that the ‘step down and step up’ processes 
are robustly managed.  

 
4. Internal quality assurance audits to evidence appropriate application of thresholds.  

 
5. Ongoing data analysis to enable us to benchmark and target areas for improvement; complete redesign of KPI and trends analysis.  
 
6.  Ofsted inspections and action plans to address recommendations included in inspection report and subsequent visits or inspections are continually 

reviewed and updated. 
 
7.  Implementation of the Think Family Service to support early identification and family support and create financial efficiencies. 

Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
Ongoing 
 
Ongoing  
 
 
April 2022 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 28/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

8. Ongoing implementation and/or application of actions 1 - 7 above as 
appropriate. 
 
9. Review of Think Family Service to be undertaken by December 2022. 

From July 2022 
 
 
By Dec 2022 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact: Critical  Likelihood: Likely  Rating:  
 
  

P
age 139



 

Corporate Risk No. 9 / Children’s Social Care, Safeguarding & Protecting Children & Young People  2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner/ 

Failure to ensure that all children and young people in need of help or protection are safeguarded and supported could result in them not 
achieving their full potential and increasing the risk of a child death or serious injury. 
 

Janet Simon 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People – A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay – Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to 
work together to improve health and wellbeing.  

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 28/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 28/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 28/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  
 

Comments 

The nature of the work in terms of safeguarding and supporting children at risk of harm means that this will always be a high-risk area although through the application of Local 
and S.E.T (Southend, Essex & Thurrock) Child Protection procedures the department actively works to mitigate this risk and reduce the likelihood. 
 

The risk of children and young people coming to harm cannot be eliminated and the risk level needs to remain high and ensure clear vigilance across the council and partner 
agencies. New and emerging risk factors will arise and there is always a potential for agencies ‘not knowing, what they don’t know’ that needs to be guarded against.    
 

Embedding the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub and Early Offer of Help has supported earlier identification of risk through a multi-agency approach enabling the department to 
work to intervene at an earlier stage and reduce the risk of harm in some cases. Thurrock Local Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements is further improving the inter-
agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people living in Thurrock. 
 

The impact for individual children and families, particularly in cases of child death is significant and whilst actions to reduce the likelihood are implemented the impact will 
remain as critical. There is also a critical impact score in terms of reputational damage if a child is not safeguarded or should a child death or serious injury occur. 
 

The ongoing nature of risk in child protection and safeguarding is such that despite effective mitigation the acknowledgement of the risk needs to remain high and will not 
reduce. This is not to say that the risks are unmanageable but for effective management the gravity and complexity of the risk needs to be acknowledged.   
 

P
age 140



Managing this risk places inherent pressures on the Children’s Social Care budget as a demand led budget. Effective demand and resource management remain a priority for 
the service within an overriding context of keeping children safe.   
 

Risk will remain constant throughout the period covered.  Regular reporting of performance and progress against plans are shared at CS Overview & Scrutiny Committee and 
regular monthly Development Board. 

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Development and Service Plans in line with Ofsted inspections in 2019 and Focused visit in 2021 
 

2. Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership arrangements established, action plan in place and regularly monitored/reviewed.  
 

3  Application of the Southend, Essex & Thurrock Child Protection procedures  
 

4. Quality assurance and safeguarding function of Children’s Social Care. 
 

5.  Legal framework and court action  
 

6. Continue to strengthen the Thurrock Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub, launch of the Think Family Approach to support early safeguarding.   
 

7.  Case Audits 
 

8. Quality assurance framework 
 

9.  Maintaining safeguarding arrangements to meet statutory requirements 
 

June 2022 
  

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 28/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 
 

FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

10.  Ongoing implementation and/or application of 
actions 1-9 above as appropriate 

 
 
 
11.   Learning from National Safeguarding Reviews 

taken forward by Thurrock Local Safeguarding 
Children Partnership. 

 

From July 2022 
 
 
 
 
Dec 2022 

1.     Development Board and Ofsted Preparation Meetings held monthly. Areas identified 
within previous Ofsted Inspection and Focussed Visit incorporated into these meetings to 
ensure they are addressed.  

2-9. Ongoing 
 
Following information gathering – action plan being developed and will identify training and 
any further areas for improvement. 
  

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact: Critical  Likelihood: Likely  Rating:  
  

P
age 141



 

Corporate Risk No. 10 / Property Ownership Liability  2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The Council has a significant portfolio of property for operational, investment and regeneration purposes. Ensuring that these properties comply 
with appropriate statutory, regulatory and corporate standards is a significant challenge.  In addition to the direct consequences of any incident 
arising from a property’s non-compliance, the Council could be faced with damage to its reputation, financial loss, and the organisation and 
individual officers facing legal proceedings and in the worst case, the loss of lives of building users.  It is therefore imperative that suitable 
policies and systems are in place to ensure compliance and manage these risks. 

Mark Bradbury 

Link to Corporate Priority 

Place – A heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future. Fewer public buildings with better services 
People – A borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay – High quality, consistent  and accessible public services which are right first time. 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 15/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 15/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 15/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  
 

Comments 

The Council’s Property and Facilities Management (FM) functions have previously been outsourced and have been brought back in house in two separate phases, with FM the 
most recent in April 2020. The coincidence of this with the global pandemic has to a degree meant that the focus on short term actions in relation to the pandemic has been at 
the expense of a more strategic approach to planning and resourcing. 
 
The ongoing financial challenges faced by local authorities and the changing ways in which services are delivered and people work, many of which have been accelerated 
during the pandemic, mean that a wholesale review (and thereafter regular ongoing reviews) of the council’s property needs and associated policies and strategies (many of 
which remain as unadopted drafts) is required. These will support the Council’s Retain, Reuse, Release approach to property. 
 
The Council has already adopted a Corporate Landlord approach to operational property, but this requires appropriate policies to be finalised, the need for corporate properties 
to be reviewed and the portfolio reduced with sites being consolidated where appropriate and the Property & FM team appropriately resourced to carry out the review, develop 
and implement strategies and provide ongoing management. The Council’s medium term financial plan needs to reflect this resourcing need, the previous failure to transfer full 
budgets from services alongside the transfer of property and a backlog of maintenance from when properties were managed by services. This pressure should reduce as the 
portfolio is rationalised and investment focussed on properties which will be retained in the longer term. 

P
age 142



 
The Council has adopted the Concerto platform as its Asset Management System. Implementation of relevant management modules has commenced alongside the transfer of 
data. This process needs to be accelerated to ensure that the Council has a full picture of ownership, compliance and risk. Property & FM need to work closely with IT to 
ensure that the system sits smoothly within the Council wide transition to Microsoft 365.  
 
The lack of appropriate strategies, resources and budgets increases the risk of non-compliance in the operational property portfolio and this needs to be addressed to inform 
the transition to a smaller, more cost efficient, fit for purpose and ultimately net-zero portfolio. 
 
The closure of CO1 and opening of CO3 together with the changes in working practices and service delivery outlined above mean that it is now appropriate to undertake a 
review of the Civic Centre to ensure optimum utilisation of the space and effective systems covering health & safety and personal, data and asset security 
 

A Property Board will now be set up to ensure effective decision making, governance and reporting around strategic property matters including asset rationalisation, 
investment strategy, disposals and engagement with regeneration projects. 
 
An Accommodation Board is also being set up to work with services to ensure effective and properly planned use and reuse of operational assets whilst meeting service 
needs..  
 
The Property & FM Team has a number of vacancies and is also currently over reliant on a significant number of agency staff. Following the commencement of the new 
Assistant Director steps are being taken to review the structure and recruit into permanent roles. A challenging recruitment market and current perceptions of the Council’s 
financial position present a risk to achieving this. 
 
The Council also owns and manages a portfolio of investment properties. A review of whether these properties meet the current financial, economic and social priorities of the 
Council and Borough is overdue. Additional resource will be required in the short term to do this and this should be carried out alongside the development of a Property 
Investment and Investment Management Strategy.  
 
Properties in the Investment portfolio may be affected by the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) which require that no property with EPC ratings of F or G cannot 
continue to be leased after 1 April 2023. It is important that Council has a clear understanding and the buildings in its portfolio that may not comply. A significant number of 
properties still need to be assessed and this will require additional resource. Penalties of between 10 and 20% of the properties rateable value may be applied in the event of 
breaches. 

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date Implemented 

1.  Corporate Health and Safety Committee established. 
 

2.  Asset Management Strategy drafted, consultation with officers undertaken and final draft awaiting DB approval 
 

3.  Comprehensive Asbestos Register in place – review being undertaken to ensure accurate building information in place 
 

4.     Property Procedure Rules (PPRs) prepared, consulted with officers and key members, awaiting DB approval. Additional Disposals Procedure 
prepared and submitted for approval in March 2020. 

 

5.     Scheme of Delegations reviewed, amended and implemented.  
 

6. Restructure of Regeneration and Assets Service completed in September 2019 and Corporate Property Team transferred to Finance. Apleona 
FM staff TUPE’d in April 2020. 

 

7. Transfer of all phases and budgets completed 
 

8.  Compliance and condition surveys for Corporate Landlord Buildings completed April 2020 and new stock condition baseline established and 
entered into Concerto (new asset management database system), in June 2020.  

 

Ongoing 
 

2018 & ongoing 
 

2018 & ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 
 

Ongoing   

Mar 2019 to Apr 2020 
 
 

From Jun 2018 
 

Jun 2018 to Jun 2020 
 
 

P
age 143



9.  Regular updates on progress and compliance presented to Property Board 
 

10.   Retain, Release, Reuse programme for assets implemented 
 

11.   Corporate Landlord Working Group developed and work undertaken until Aug 2019  
 

12.   New Planned & Preventative Maintenance (PPM) programme and compliance module developed and proposal submitted in March 2020 to 
refresh Property Board with key reporting milestones set against a clearly defined annual forward plan. 

 

13.   Closure of Corporate Buildings due to Covid-19 - Risk assessment, closure protocols & inspection regimes implemented and measures 
introduced for partial use of Civic Centre and Oliver Road Depot. 

 

14.   Development of plans in accordance with government guidance for the recommissioning of corporate buildings due to Covid19 
 

15.   An urgent review and restructure of the FM team to cover capacity, skills, technical knowledge and capability constraints.  
 

16.   Corporate Landlord Policy and Procedure approved following finalisation of resourcing and governance issue associated with PPRs and 
restructure approved. 

 

17.   Finalisation of Concerto Estates Management Module and training for staff 
 

18.   Review and restructure of the Corporate Property Team 

From July 2018 
 

From June 2018 
 

2018 to Aug 2019 
 

Mar 2020 
 
 

March 2020 
 
 

Dec 2020 
 

From August 2020 
 

From Oct 2020 
 
 

From Oct 2020 
 

From Dec 2020 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 15/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

19.   A full review of actions 1 to 18 above to understand 
level of completion and actions outstanding. 

 
20.   A full review of all current (including draft) policies & 

strategies 
 
21.   Establishment of Property Board and Accommodation 

Board 
 
22.   Review of team structure and recruitment to replace 

agency staff. 
 

From Sept 2022 
 
 
From Sept 2022 
 
 
From Sept 2022 
 
 
From Sept 2022 

Commencing  
 
 
Resourcing plan in preparation 
 
 
First Accommodation Board planned and invites sent 
 
 
Business case being prepared 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 
  

P
age 144



 
 

Corporate Risk No. 20 / Fraud 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The Council is responsible for and provides a wide range of functions and services. 
 
There is a risk that the Authority experiences significant incidents of fraud, bribery, corruption or other economic crime as well as cases of money 
laundering. This can subsequently result in losses from the delivery of Council functions and services.  

David Kleinberg 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay. High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time. 
 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 13/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 13/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 13/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

Comments 

The Counter Fraud and investigation (CFI) department, under Thurrock Council, has an organisational-wide strategy and proactive work plan to monitor and manage the 
identified risks. A persistent training and education regime is in place, where experts from the service work with staff, contractors, Members and in the council’s supply chain to 
identify and mitigate the risks, and increase awareness.  
 

The council has current and effective policies on Counter Fraud, Bribery & Corruption and Money Laundering which are kept under constant review, with relevant updates 
being added or removed where appropriate.  These policies acknowledge the threats and install an action plan in identified incidents including, civil & criminal litigation and 
redress to recover any identified losses. Any control weaknesses identified in investigations are rectified in collaboration with the affected services and Internal Audit through 
SMART Action Plans. 
 

In past years (FY20/21) the council has come under pressure from COVID-19 and the situation has reduced the traditional work that CFI would complete during a year, 
however that has not meant the team haven’t assisted in the fight against fraud. Due to the pandemic the government announced a number of grants that were to be 
administered by local authorities, these were collectively known as Business Support Grants (BSG). The CFI dept  have worked closely with the Revenues team (those 
responsible for administering the grants) to complete pre and post assurance checks on all applications that were received. This preventative counter fraud work saw 61 grant 
applications investigated and stopped, saving over £600,000 of potential losses of public funds.  
 

P
age 145



These risks have sat alongside the ‘normal’ fraud risks that the council faces every day, namely Single Person Discount fraud, Tenancy Fraud, Right To Buy fraud as well as 
other forms of fraud such as Procurement/Contract fraud. The fraud awareness programmes that were put to all staff will assist with identifying this risk and early intervention is 
always key to an organisation combating the risk it faces. These have continued and working alongside our alert system, staff are made aware of fraud trends and or known 
risks. 
 

Covid 19 has also enabled an easier avenue for ‘mandate fraud’ which has been highlighted to staff, as we are not in the office spaces we once shared on a daily basis, 
communication is largely placed within the email systems. This can create the opportunity for criminals to compromise email accounts and facilitate a fraud. Where staff would 
normally be able to speak directly to a colleague, this now does not happen on a regular occurrence and must be brought into the risk faced by the council. CFI have been 
approached by various councils who have fallen victim to £1m+ mandate frauds. 
 
CFI continues to run a programme of proactive work proposed to ensure the council’s posture against fraud is robust and effective. Details of the proactive work programme 
are included in the management action plan for the risk. 
 

The risk remains at 12, as new risks have emerged alongside old risks, the new risks have mitigated measures taken, however it is clear that those measures do not affect the 
‘attempts’ we come across and thus it is felt that the risk to the council remains likely and critical. The council can ill afford a substantial loss of funds at this very critical time.  

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.  Establishment & proactive enhancement of CFID 
 

2.  Fraud and Corruption Policy established and maintained from 2014 
 

3.  Counter Fraud Work Plan established and maintained   

4.  Regular review of policies and procedures from within the council to ensure that it can prevent, detect and deter and fraud and other economic crime. 
 

5.  Counter Fraud and Money Laundering Policies Established and maintained. 
 

6.  Corporate-wide Bribery & Corruption Risk Review 
 

7.  Corporate-wide Cyber Crime Risk Review 
 

8.  Fraud risk matrix/loss assessment development and roll out 
 

9.  Review of supply chain against identified national crime risks 
 

10.  Ad-hoc services to prevent/detect fraud (e.g. operations to prevent/detect housing tenancy fraud, counter money laundering & social care fraud)  
 

11.  Enhanced intelligence programme 
 

12.  Application of Counter Fraud Risk Analytics across the council’s high risk/threat areas. 
 

13. Install improved Anti-Money Laundering (AML) controls at all of the council’s Customer Contact Points.  
 

14. COVID-19 Business Grants Counter Fraud Programme.  
 

15. Fraud e-learning training programme. 
 

16. Training of high risk areas in counter fraud measures 
 

17. Mandate Fraud – Counter fraud/awareness 
 

18. Renewed Education & Marketing Campaign for Countering Fraud, Bribery, Corruption and Money Laundering 
 

19. Ongoing review all policies concerning fraud aspects 
 

20. National Fraud Initiative – matching of council data with wider-public sector data to prevent fraud and possible fraud. 

Nov 2014 
 

From 2014 
 

2017 
 

From Nov 2014 
 

2017 
 

From Oct 2018 
 

From Dec 2018 
 

From Jul 2018 
 

Oct 2018 
 

From Oct 2018 
 

Feb 2019 
 

From May 2020 

From May 2020 
 

From May 2020 
 

Dec 2020 
 

From Jun 2021 
 

July 2021 
 

From Dec 2021 
 

Jan 2022 
 

March 2022 

P
age 146



 

21. Training of high risk areas in counter fraud measures 
 

22. Covid -19 Business Grants Counter Fraud 
 

23. Targeting POCA and Civil Legislation to maximise effect on criminal behaviour 

 

May 2022 
 

May 2022 
 

From Jun 2022 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 13/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 
 

FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

24.  Ongoing application of actions 1-23 above as 
appropriate. 

 
25.   Review all relevant policies concerning fraud 

aspects of the council’s business 
 
26.   Fraud Health Check on the Social Care application 

process 
 

From July 2022 
 
 
Jan 2023 
 
 
Apr 2023 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh  
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 
  

P
age 147



Corporate Risk No. 22b / Local Plan  2022 / 23 
 

UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

Councils have a legal obligation to put together a Development Plan.  The main document within our current Development Plan is the Core 
Strategy (as amended) which was adopted in 2015 although some policies within it date to 2011.  The National Planning Policy Framework 
states policies in the development plan, should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should 
then be updated as necessary.  Work on reviewing the Core Strategy and replacing it with a new Local Plan commenced in 2014.  Although the 
Council has already undertaken two public consultations on the emerging Local Plan and prepared/commissioned several technical evidence 
studies we are still at an early stage in the plan making process and will need to undertake at least two more formal consultations before the new 
Local Plan can be submitted to the Secretary of State and then subject to an independent Examination in Public.  
  
Failure to prepare and maintain an up-to-date Plan will put the Council at risk of possible intervention by the Secretary of State and may lead to 
the loss of plan making powers and the Council’s New Homes bonus and the ability to bid for national funding support for new infrastructure. In 
addition, a failure on the part of the Council to provide a rolling five-year land supply would also increase the possibility that landowners and 
developers would be able to obtain planning permission upon appeal to the Secretary of State for speculative, uncoordinated and piece–meal 
development in the Green Belt. 
 
Potential risks include: 

• Uncertainty surrounding the alignment, design and phasing of the Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) which could have an adverse impact on 
the availability of land for future development.  There is also a risk that any further delay in concluding the LTC DCO process will impact 
upon the Councils ability to submit its Local Plan for examination. 

• Uncertainty surrounding the alignment, design and phasing of the East Anglia Green Energy Enablement (GREEN) project which could 
have an adverse impact on the availability of land for future development.   

• Impact of Covid-19 in terms of team resources (risk of illness) and the plan-making process specifically with regards to planned face to 
face consultation events. 

• Impact of the Census information releases and publication of datasets looking at post pandemic trends on our evidence base production.  
Unexpected changes could involve us having to recommission evidence to ensure that the future and existing needs of local 
communities are appropriately addressed within the Plan.  

• Further changes to the national planning policy and guidance which could impact upon the content emerging policies and evidence 
causing delays to the plan making process as the Plan needs to be in conformity with national policies to be found sound. 

• Potential changes to guidelines about how a Plan should be prepared and its format could involve the Council having halt production of 
the Local Plan to transition over to the preparation of a different type of Local Plan. 

• An ongoing failure to recruit and retain experienced policy planners to support and expedite the preparation of the Local Plan. 
• Reduction in resource allocation towards the Local Plan project which could delay and/or halt the Plan’s production. 
• The impact of local and national political considerations on the plan-making process.  

Julie Rogers 
Sean Nethercott 

Link to Corporate Priority 

Prosperity – A borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations. Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy 
Place – A heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future. Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 31/08/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
 

P
age 148



DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 31/08/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 31/08/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      

4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

Comments 

An up-to-date Local Plan is the main way that councils set their planning policies. Previous planning policy documents that have expired do not carry the same weight when it 
comes to deciding the outcome of a planning application. Without an up-to-date Local Plan, councils can lack the policies they need to prevent inappropriate or damaging 
development in their area. 
 

In 2014 Thurrock Council committed itself to preparing a new Local Plan. This Plan will set out the planning strategy and priorities for the area and covers issues such as 
where new housing should be built, what type of homes are needed, and what additional infrastructure will be required to accommodate those homes. It can also designate 
land for different purposes, such as residential or industrial, and can give protection from development to open and green spaces. 
 

The new plan will set out a clear strategy for the council area, and for the different communities that make up that local authority. Rather than having to take a fragmented 
piecemeal approach to each individual development, a up to date Local Plan provides structure and represents a more coordinated and holistic approach to planning and 
managing growth. 
 

Policies and allocations within the emerging plan will apply to development schemes being promoted by private individuals, businesses and organisations as well as schemes 
being put forward by the council and other public sector organisations. 
 

Preparing a Local Plan in an area such as Thurrock can be very complex as there are lots of competing land pressures (balancing the need for new homes, against economic 
growth and the need to protect and enhance green infrastructure assets), several Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects which have the potential to come forward or 
commence within the Plan Period and potential changes to the national planning system.  For a Plan to be successful and to appropriately balance these competing pressures 
we need to ensure that the plan making process is supported by robust evidence and that all key stakeholders including locally communities have been given appropriate 
opportunities to feed into and shape the Plan. 

 
EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Main Plan Making Stages 
1.1 Initial Call for Sites 
1.2 Issues and Options (Stage 1) 
1.3 Your Place, Your Voice Roadshows 
1.4 Issues and Options (Stage 2) 
1.5 Area Based Design Charrettes 
1.6 Your Place, Your Voice Roadshows, Informal consultation 

 
Annual/ongoing 
Feb - Apr 16 
From 2018/19 
Dec18 - Mar19 
Dec20 - Mar22 
In Progress 

P
age 149



2.  Other elements and/or measures developed to manage the impact of the risk of the local plan being frustrated, delayed ore derailed by internal 
& external influences: 
2.1     Adopting an iterative approach to developing the local plan evidence base, including testing a range of scenarios to help better understand the 

potential options (e.g. with/without LTC). Evidence based approach to plan making to ensure that both Members & the Local community are made 
fully aware of the implications and impacts of adopting a range of different spatial options. 

2.2     Ongoing engagement and communication with Stakeholders   
(i)   Members  
(ii)  Public 
(iii) Gov Bodies/Depts, Public Bodies/Organisations 
(iv) Businesses, Land Owners & Developers 

2.3     Maintain and build resources/capacity to support the plan making process and help fund/prepare the plan.  
(i)   Recruitment & Retention of staff  
(ii)  Rollout of Local Plan Performance Agreements (PPAs) 
(iii) Build capacity with Gov Bodies/Depts to support the early delivery of homes and supporting infrastructure 

2.4     Planning Reforms 2020/21 – Planning White Paper (Planning for the Future). Implementation paused by Government. Further announcements 
awaited on the nature, scope and timing of any future reforms 

 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
2020/21 
Ongoing 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 31/08/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 
 

FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

Ongoing application of items 1 – 2 From Aug 2022 1.1 Ongoing 
1.2 & 1.4 completed 
1.3 & 2.2 (ii) Ongoing 
1.5 & 2.2 (ii) Design Charrettes completed via online consultation portal, 
series of workshops across the borough and virtual events Dec 2020 to Mar 
2022. 
1.6 Ongoing  
2.1 Ongoing 
2.2 Work ongoing with the Communications Team to update the web content 
2.2 (i) Ongoing Members Briefings to build understanding & maintain cross-
party support for the emerging Local Plan, including Portfolio Briefings, Local 
Plan Taskforce meetings, informal cabinet meetings and discussions with 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny committees. 
(iii) Ongoing proactive engagement with NH and Gov depts on LTC scheme  
(iv) Ongoing engagement with landowner and developers via Local Plan 
Developer Forum and the Local Plan Planning Performance Agreement 
(PPA) process to support/ the preparation of the Local Plan. 
2.3 (i) Ongoing work with other services in planning to improve employment 
terms/conditions to help recruit & retain experienced planners. Ongoing 
recruitment of additional professional/technical support (e.g. appointments of 
full time staff, consultants & short term fixed term contracts) to support plan 
preparations. 
(ii) Ongoing rollout of the Local Plan Planning Performance Agreements 
(PPA) with site promoters to support the preparation of the Local Plan 

P
age 150



(iii) Ongoing work with Dept for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities; 
Homes England, Dept for Transport and Highways England. 

1. Main Plan Making Stages 
1.7   Informal consultation opportunity – Local Plan Evidence Roadshow   
 
 
1.8    Local Plan – Preferred Options (Regulation 18) 
 
 
 
 
 
1.9    Local Plan (Reg 19) – Pre-Submission Draft 
1.10  Local Plan - Submission 
1.11  Examination in Public with people who have consulted previously 
1.12  Main modifications consultation  
1.13  Inspectors Report Published 
1.14  Adoption of Local Plan 

 
Nov 22 
 
 
July 23 
 
 
 
 
 
TBC 
TBC 
TBC 
TBC 
TBC 
TBC 

 
1.7 A number of technical evidence documents including those which set out 
anticipated housing and employment floorspace needs have been 
commissioned and are set to completed in September/October. 
1.8 We have started pulling together a skeleton draft of the document and 
are currently populating key sections of the draft Plan for discussion with 
Senior Officers and elected Members.  These discussions are anticipated to 
take place over the next few months and should ensure that the content of 
the Plan and the reasoning behind specific policy choices are fully 
understood by all when the document is considered by Full Council in July 
2023. 

2.  Other elements and/or measures developed to manage the impact 
of the risk of the local plan being frustrated, delayed ore derailed by 
internal & external influences: 
2.5  Ongoing consideration of Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects 

that may influence the plan (LTC, Future expansions of Tilbury Port, 
London Resort and National Grid Green) 

2.6  Ongoing consideration of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill  

 
 
 
From Aug 2022 
 
 
Sept 2022 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Critical  (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating:  12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:   
 
  

P
age 151



Corporate Risk No. 3 / Housing Needs and Homelessness 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

A lack of affordable private rental sector (PRS) accommodation in Thurrock due to increased rent levels, driven by migration in to the borough 
and welfare reforms meaning those on means tested benefits are unable to keep pace. These, coupled with the implementation of additional 
duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA17), have led to a year-on-year increase in households approaching the Council for 
homelessness assistance and associated pressure on the MTFS Homelessness budget. 

Ewelina Sorbjan  

Link to Corporate Priority 

People - a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and stay. Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work 
together to improve health and wellbeing. 
 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Substantial (3) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 12 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 01/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 01/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 
Li

ke
lih

oo
d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

Comments 

The C-19 pandemic saw a ban on evictions and the closure of Courts which, having reopened, are now clearing the backlog. There is a nationwide increase in Evictions of 
158% according to Govt statistics. The current inflationary pressures and supply side issues detailed in the risk have seen more Thurrock residents accruing rent arrears and 
facing eviction with all economic indicators suggesting this will continue throughout 22/23. Neighbouring Authorities (particularly London LAs) are placing individuals and 
families in high volumes further saturating the Private Rental Sector market and driving up prices. Landlords are evicting for rent arrears and to achieve higher rents (above 
Local Housing Allowance) on their units. Landlords are insisting on large incentive payments, circa £3-5k, to grant an assured shorthold tenancy to someone on means tested 
benefits without a guarantor.   
 

In the final year pre-HRA17 (2017-18), 1395 households approached the council for assistance with homelessness. The numbers of households approaching the council has 
been consistently higher since, with 1638 households approaching in 2018-19, 2026 households approaching in 2019-20, 1823 households approaching in 2020-21 and 1821 
households approaching in 2021-22. This represents a 30% increase in approaches since the HRA17 was introduced, and the number of approaches is likely to have been 
higher had it not been for the action taken to protect renters during the COVID-19 pandemic. Through Q1 2022/23, 495 households approached the council for assistance with 
homelessness – this represents the most Q1 approaches since 2019/20 (494). 
 

P
age 152



One of the most common reasons for homelessness in Thurrock remains the termination of an assured short hold tenancy. These most marked trend is for these evictions 
from assured shorthold tenancies are driven not by rent arrears or any other ‘tenant fault’ grounds, but by the landlord opting to evict the current tenant and re-let the property 
at a higher rent for the reasons set out above.   
 

Thurrock’s strategic geographical location (adjacent to London with excellent transport links) makes it an affordable and desirable area. The lower quintile housing market 
value is a realistic housing option when compared to London.  As such, and in the light of London’s scarce housing affordability, moving to Thurrock is increasingly an option 
which families now living in London are considering.  
 

The Council’s Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy represents an ambitious approach rooted by the fundamental principle that homelessness is not simply 
a housing issue, but is instead a complex social challenge requiring true collaboration to tackle effectively. A Homelessness Partnership Board has been established which 
aims to achieve the key strategic aims included within the Strategy document. These will be reached having a jointly developed and owned action plan, where successful 
outcomes will be delivered by leveraging the collective knowledge, experience, influence and expertise of the range of board members and their respective organisations. 
 

Work is ongoing to reduce the use of, and thereby costs of, Temporary Accommodation (TA) in the private rented sector however the use of the council’s own stock for 
temporary accommodation will have a detrimental impact on the availability of properties to applicants on the Housing Register. Housing Solutions are working with homeless 
households and private landlords to secure longer term private sector tenancies by incentivising landlords. 
 

Last year Housing had a business case approved which utilised ‘Right to Buy’ receipts, combined with HRA prudential borrowing, to purchase properties in line with need. 
These were initially used to move people on from expensive nightly purchase TA into units incorporated into tenancy managements general needs stock. Further units were 
purchased which are to be used as ‘Furnished Lets’ as a cost-effective way of providing our own TA and maintaining homeless households within Thurrock. There is a new 
business case being considered under the ‘transformation plan’ to further expand this project.  

 
EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.    Providing residents with budgeting advice as part of their personalised Housing Plan and assistance to access support services, including advice 
provided by our Financial Inclusion Officers 

 

2.    Working with internal and external partners to support households which are homeless or at risk of homelessness through contracted services and the 
regular Housing Mental Health and Homelessness Forum 

 

3.    Working with internal and external partners to review welfare reform and assess implications in a strategic forum, including addressing challenges 
resulting from welfare changes and increasing financial inclusion across the borough in conjunction with the Council’s Fair Debt programme. 

 

4.    Provision of incentives to encourage under-occupying social housing tenants to move to smaller properties. 
 

5.     Use of the Jigsaw and Northgate Housing Management systems to generate management and performance information to drive improvements to 
service delivery 

 

6.    Additional funding achieved to mitigate impact of new duties which form part of Homelessness Reduction Act, allowing for the recruitment of additional 
officers. 

 

7.    Regular contact and meetings with a Homelessness Adviser from MHCLG to ensure awareness of further funding and emerging best practice. 

 
 

8.    New Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy  
 

9.    Implementation of selecting licensing to improve quality of private rental sector properties in selected localities across the borough 
 

10.   Additional funding obtained from MHCLG to provide a focussed service (BEAM) aimed at empowering applicants to find employment and training 
opportunities.  

 

11.   Establishment of Homelessness Partnership Board to drive forward the key strategic actions in the Homelessness Prevention & Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 

Ongoing  
 
 

Oct 2018 
 
 

Jan 2019 
 
 

Ongoing  
 

Nov 2016 /  
Apr 2018 
 

April 2022 
 
 

Ongoing from 
April 2019 
 

March 2020 
 

Nov 2021 
 

 
Jan 2020 
 
 

Mar 2020 

P
age 153



 

12.   Adopting a Human Learning Systems Approach to achieve sustainable interventions for those with multiple and complex needs emphasising the need 
for collective work across and within departments.   

 

13.   Creation of a ‘Complex Care’ team to lead on Housing Solutions work with people in housing need whose Mental Health or Substance misuse effects 
their ability to access services.   

 

 

 
Nov 2021 
 
 

August 2022  

Residual Risk Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Substantial (3) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 12 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

14.  Ongoing application of actions 1-13 above as appropriate 
 
15.   Creation of a ‘Complex Care’ team to lead on Housing Solutions work 

with people in housing need whose Mental Health or Substance 
misuse effects their ability to access services.   

 
16.   Review of Housing Allocations Policy to identify opportunities to 

prioritise homeless prevention   
 
17.   Management of Mandatory and Additional HMO Licensing to improve 

the quality of HMO accommodation in the private sector, reducing the 
likelihood of approaches from households living in HMOs where the 
presence of severe HHSRS hazards would result the property being 
unreasonable for the household to continue to occupy, and increasing 
the levels of safe and suitable PRS stock for use in the prevention 
and relief of homelessness 

 
18.  Expansion (5 -10 units) of Thurrock’s Housing First project to include 

those with enduring mental Health challenges in addition to homeless 
individuals with a history of entrenched or repeat homelessness 

 
19.  Provision of specialised accommodation for those who’ve had 

repeated unsuccessful placements. 
 

From July 2022 
 
Aug 2022 
 
 
 
Nov 2022 
 
 
TBC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TBC - subject to 
business Case 
approval 
 
TBC- subject to 
business case 
 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Substantial (3) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 

  

P
age 154



Corporate Risk No. 7 / Cost of Living Fuel Poverty 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The cost of living is a major concern for many of our tenants at the moment. Rising prices of food, fuel and transport along with increasing 
interest rates and rents are forcing people to make hard choices about how they spend their money. The least well off are the worst affected and 
Rent Revenue from social housing tenants is likely to be impacted.  Residents in fuel poverty are more likely to experience serious adverse 
health events leading to increased hospital admissions and demand on adult social care services. 
 

There are an estimated 9,000 households in fuel poverty in Thurrock, a number expected to rise given home energy price inflation. The typical 
household energy bill is due to rise from circa £1280 to circa £3200 by the final quarter of the year. 
 

Failure to act:  
Failure to support our residents who are impacted by rising costs and interest rates will result in: 

• Financial hardships for our residents including some of our most vulnerable residents 
• Consequent impact on demand for core Council services 
• Direct and indirect impact on Council staffing resources 
• Direct impact on rent income stream to the Housing Revenue Account 
• Increased demand on ASC external placement budgets 
• An increase in Evictions/Homelessness, leading to increased demand on homelessness budgets 

 

Peter Doherty 
 

Link to Corporate Priority 

People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live, and stay. This means: 
• build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups to work together to improve health and wellbeing 
• communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger together 
 

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 01/07/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 01/072022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

P
age 155



Comments 

The Authority’s ability to successfully manage the effects of the cost of living increases locally will be re-evaluated and overseen by groups such as the corporate fuel poverty 
group.  Overall, the ability of service users to deal with this issue is a challenge and it is noted that Council workers increasingly have to provide higher levels of support to a 
wide range of claimants and people affected.  
  

We are taking a wide range of actions to mitigate the risk as noted in the management action plan for the risk. We continue to work with Sanctuary Housing to provide 
appropriate support to tenants who may be experiencing hardship. Financial Inclusion Officers are tasked with dealing with all new claims to Universal Credit and complex or 
amended circumstance cases. 

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK 

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1.   Welfare reform group established and meeting quarterly. 
  

2.   Fuel Poverty Scoping Group initiated 
 

3.   Financial Inclusion Officer intervention – increased case referral 
 

4.   Signposting of funding streams for residents - Identification and accessing of appropriate support and discounts: 
- Discretionary Housing Payment where appropriate and permitted – fund reduced by over 30% to £366,304.00 
- Foodbank/ voucher availability and issue 
- Household Support Fund/ELF for Fuel Grants  
- Warm Homes Discount 
- Government support package  

 

5.   Staff continuously updated on new measures and support available  
 

6.   Referrals to specialist support agencies eg Sanctuary, CAB, Debt Management Services, Turn2Us 
 

7.   Continued closer working with DWP and Universal Credit Management Teams 
 

8.   Housing Services: 
 (i)    Ensure the Rents team are updated with all changes to legislation regarding support packages announced by central government 
 (ii)   Provide benefits, debt and money advice to council tenants, Examples include: visits to residents at home and at outreach centres where   needed. 

Partnership with Sanctuary established to provide debt and financial advice and other support services to residents. 
 (iii)  Undertake monitoring and management of potential increased rent arrears/evictions: 

- Rents and Welfare team monitoring the level of rent arrears and endeavour to make contact with those affected and provide advice and assistance 
in order to assist in sustaining their tenancies. 

- Financial inclusion officers working with tenants affected by changes, maximizing income and reducing expenditure and Sanctuary to provide 
financial advice and other ongoing supporting services to residents. 

 

9.    The Rents team will continue to make contact with residents by visit, telephone, e-mail and text message and offer support where needed.  
  

10.  Continued use of Mobysoft text messaging service as a further means of managing our contact with tenants in arrears.and the implementation of the 
automation process to ensure early intervention and provide an extra means of communication. 

 

11.   Extended Communications methods including more focus on delivering key messages via resident newsletter and Social Media platforms. 
 

12.   The Council’s bid to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund includes funding to tackle this through additional capacity in relation to supporting financial 
inclusion, health and welling and energy efficiency improvements. This fits under the UKSPF E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living 
category. 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 
 

Ongoing 
 

Ongoing 
 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

 

P
age 156



FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

13.  Ongoing monitoring of points 1 – 12 above through report led data. 
 

From July 2022   

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 31/03/2023 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Unlikely (2) Rating: 8 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 
 
  

P
age 157



Corporate Risk No. 12 / Major Projects (Place Delivery) 2022 / 23 
UNMANAGED / INHERENT RISK  

Risk Description Risk Owner 

The growth programme in Thurrock continues to be one of the largest and most exciting opportunities in the country. Thurrock’s reputation as a 
place full of opportunity has helped attract a number of large scale projects including London Distribution Park at the Port of Tilbury, the 
continuing investment at DP World London Gateway, expansion of Lakeside, Purfleet Regeneration, Thames Freeport etc.  As a direct result of 
the scale of the growth agenda in Thurrock the Council will be involved in three National Infrastructure Projects over the coming years.   
 

Managing these projects alongside the other key regeneration projects will place significant demands on the Council and ensuring the authority 
have capacity in key areas is important in maintaining momentum and maximising opportunity for the borough. 
 

Failure to increase capacity to meet current, future or competing demands could impact the successful delivery of the major schemes and 
projects. 

Keith Rumsey 

Link to Corporate Priority 

Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations: 
• Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy • Vocational and academic education skills and job opportunities for all. 
 

Place – a heritage rich borough which is ambitious for its future: 
• Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places • Fewer public buildings with better services  

Inherent Risk Rating Date: 03/08/2022 Impact: Critical (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 
 

DASHBOARD 
Inherent Risk Rating & 
Date: 03/08/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at: 03/08/2022 

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Residual Risk Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Risk Rating &  
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 4 8 12 16 

3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 3 6 9 12 

2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 2 4 6 8 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 
1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d 

1 2 3 4 

 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  
 

Comments 

The Thurrock growth programme crosses many disciplines within the Council.  It requires significant programme management capacity from the Regeneration team to lead the 
programme alongside a joined up approach with other areas of the authority to ensure that relevant specialisms are brought in as required and programmes and strategies are 
complementary.  Investment needs to be committed to project development stages before outputs and benefits are realised, significant levels of funding are committed at risk 
to prove feasibility and investment then needs to continue to secure the benefits from the initial funding.  External funding is committed to numerous projects, whilst this 
reduces the financial burden to the Council, compliance with funding agreements must be achieved to ensure the Council is not exposed financially via claw back mechanisms. 

P
age 158



Projects span numerous financial years and have to be able to respond to changing market, policy and financial conditions.   Strong project and programme managers are 
essential to ensuring that delivery stays on track and investment secures value for money outputs.  Increasing resource capacity in the team via Matrix has provided some 
additional support and capability.  The project portfolio could benefit from significant external funding which will put additional pressure on the existing staff resource as more 
projects are developed. Momentum needs to be maintained in the ongoing restructure to improve working approaches and secure additional resource.  

 

EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL RISK  

Management Action or Mitigation Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Overall 
1.1     Managing the impact of various outcomes relating to the UK’s exit from the EU 
1.2     Include Brexit contingency in all project budgets to cover the potential for increased construction costs due to potential increases in                

labour/material costs. 
1.3     Managing the impact of COVID-19 on projects and programmes, including assessment on the cost of the programme of all projects 
1.4     Appropriately qualified team in place.   
1.5     Specialist expertise brought in on a consultancy basis as required. 
1.6     Programme Management methods in place with all projects having a project programme, budget and risk register set up from the outset. 
1.7     Area based Programme Boards to be operational to ensure cross department buy in. 
1.8     Funding agreements managed to ensure compliance and reduce risk of claw back 
1.9     Increase of capacity required in team (additional FTEs) 
1.10   Standardised project management documentation implemented and consideration of standardised project management software solution. 
1.11   Continuously improve our ability to deliver projects and share the learnings from other 
1.12   Project delivery reviews held monthly examining performance, issues and risks on all projects  
1.13   All projects now have a 6 month look ahead, a plan on a page – project management strategies in development. 
1.14   New programme and major projects board launched where each project is peer reviewed. 
1.15   Thurrock project lifecycle developed and implemented 
 

 
Ongoing 
Since Oct 2018 
 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Jun 2019 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 

2.       Grays Underpass 
2.1     Managing costs within GRIP stages with Network Rail  
2.2     Information campaign to help prevent accident or incident at level crossing 
2.3     Improving design services agreement with NR to protect Council’s interests now or in later GRIP stages 
2.4     Driving the land assembly process with negotiation/CPO to facilitate project delivery and reduce delivery risks 
 

 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
Current/Ongoing 
Ongoing 

3.       Purfleet Primary School 
3.1     Facilitated discussions with all stakeholders on size of site, budget & programme, but recognising recent desire of new funder for possible alternative 

site. 
 

 
Ongoing 

4.      Stanford le Hope Transport Interchange 
4.1     Steering Group Meetings established including strong engagement from all stakeholders 
4.2     Preliminary design to GRIP 4 (Single Option Development) completed ahead of appointing Detail Design and Construct contractor for phase 1 
4.3     Concept design work to GRIP 4 completed before appointing contractor for phase 1. 
4.4     Contract award in March 22 – but not yet executed – delay mitigated by Letter of Intent allowing initial activities to progress 
4.5     Separate Steering Groups established for Phase 1 station construction and Phase 2 Transport hub 
4.6     Senior level engagement between TC/NR/c2c and Contractor to form leadership forum for risk mitigation and issue resolution. 
4.7     Opportunities shared and developed between all parties 
4.8     Ensuring all parties are working towards common objectives – improving alignment and enhancing team collaboration 
 

 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
March 2022 
Apr 2022 
May 22 onwards 
Jun 22 onwards 
Jun 22 onwards 
Jun/Jul 2022 

Residual Risk Rating Date: 03/08/2022 Impact: Substantial (3) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 12 

 

P
age 159



FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST RISK / REVISED RESIDUAL RISK] 

Further Management or Mitigating Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

5.       Ongoing application or implementation of actions 1-4 above as 
appropriate 

From Jul 2022 Ongoing 

1.       Overall 
1.16   Strategic reviews at each stage of lifecycle to be implemented 
1.17   Improvements in project controls processes such as change, issues, 

risk and opportunity and cost management within teams to reduce 
risk exposure and enhance outcomes.  

1.  

 
TBA 
August 2022 

 
 

2.       Grays Underpass 
2.5     Formulating contracting strategy to improve schedule  
2.6     Performance of Network Rail and Council teams improved via new 

joint working arrangements 
2.7     Looking at partnering relationship with NR to get better outcomes 

and mutual benefit 
2.8     Developing utility diversion strategy  
2.9     Managing costs and possible over run via discussions with Network 

Rail on funding contribution. 

 
July/Aug 2022 
Aug 2022 
 
Summer 2022 
 
Summer 2022 
Sept/Oct 2022 

 

4.       Stanford le Hope Transport Interchange 
4.9     Creating alignment of key parties through workshops to ensure 

detail design can progress with low risk of design change 
 

 
July 2022 
 
 

 

Forecast Risk Rating Forecast 
Date: 

Refresh 
31/03/2023 Impact: Substantial (3) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Risk Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
  

P
age 160



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Opportunities In Focus  
  

P
age 161



Corporate Opportunity No. 23 / Investing in Growth 2022 / 23 
 

UNMANAGED / INHERENT OPPORTUNITY  

Opportunity Description Opportunity Owner 

Promote the borough’s assets and opportunities and secure investment in growth through SELEP, Thames Freeport and other Government 
funding sources like the UKSPF to maximise the opportunity for local residents and business to contribute to and benefit from the growth 
programme. This includes maximising opportunities created by the following:  
• impact of strategic interventions, eg Freeports  
• third party funding opportunities, eg Arts Council Cultural Development Fund  
• promotion of Thurrock’s economic assets and opportunities to attract investment eg High House Production Park 

Gerard McCleave 

Link to Corporate Priority 

Prosperity – A borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations. Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy. 

Inherent Opportunity Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Very Unlikely 

(1) Rating: 4 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Opp. Rating & 
Date: 01/07/2022 

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at: 01/07/2022 

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Opp. Rating & 
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 

12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 

8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 
 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

Comments 

The Council has successfully secured significant amounts of Local Growth Fund, Getting Building Fund and other funds such as a £1.2m allocated under the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund (Core) and £1.1m under the UKSPF (Multiply – Skills) to directly deliver projects and programmes that benefit local residents and businesses directly or 
through investment infrastructure and programmes. The results of the Towns Fund applications submitted in early 2021 have been announced and have secured, in principal, 
around £40m investment in Thurrock subject to business cases and due diligence. The Government has designated Thames Freeport. A formal decision from Government on 
Thames Freeport Business Case is expected in November / December 2022. The Freeport presents an opportunity to support projects through retained business rates to 
further invest in growth opportunities and support local communities in Thurrock, aligned to wider Thames Freeport objectives – levelling up and skills; innovation and net zero; 
and trade and investment.  

 
 

P
age 162



EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL OPPORTUNITY  

Management Action Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Monitoring of Community Renewal Fund underway  
2. Horizon scanning for investment opportunities underway  
3. Towns Fund bids - funding announced, projects being scoped and business cases underway 
4. Freeport - full business case submitted  
5. UKSPF investment plan developed in line with Government Guidance and submitted to DLUHC for consideration 

Ongoing 
Ongoing 
July 2021 
April 2022 
August 2022  

Residual Opportunity Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST OPPORTUNITY / REVISED RESIDUAL OPPORTUNITY 

Further Management Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

6.  Ongoing application of actions 1 - 5 as appropriate  
 
7.  Ideas generation and business case development for projects / 

programmes support by Thames Freeport 
 
8.  Implementation of CRF projects 9. ‘Green Economic Growth’ action 

plan being developed  
 

From July 2022  

Forecast Opportunity Rating Forecast 
Date: 31/03/2023 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Very Likely (4) Rating: 16 

Revised Residual Opportunity Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
  

P
age 163



Corporate Opportunity No. 24 / Backing Thurrock Strategy and Action Plan 2022 / 23 
 

UNMANAGED / INHERENT OPPORTUNITY  

Opportunity Description Opportunity Owner 

Delivering Backing Thurrock – Economic Development Strategy and Action Plan to maximise opportunities to deliver the Thurrock Growth 
Programme by acting as an agent of change and a leader of place shaping, collaborating with partners to reshape our local economy, address 
the challenges we face and realise the fantastic growth potential we have in the borough. 

Gerard McCleave 

Link to Corporate Priority 

Prosperity – A borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations. Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local economy 

Inherent Opportunity Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Very Unlikely 

(1) Rating: 4 

 
DASHBOARD 

Inherent Opp. Rating & 
Date: 01/07/2022 

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at: 01/07/2022 

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Residual Opp. Rating  
as at:  

Forecast Opp. Rating & 
Date: 31/03/2023 

      
16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 16 12 8 4 

12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 12 9 6 3 

8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 8 6 4 2 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 
 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 

4 3 2 1 

Likelihood 

 Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact   Impact  

 

Comments 

Backing Thurrock strategy and action plan adopted by Cabinet March 2021. The Action Plan includes a series of projects and initiatives that together seek to maximise the 
benefits to the local economy from growth in the borough. The Governance and monitoring arrangements for the strategy are in place. Successes to date include delivery of 
COVID grants programme (£35m implemented); secured and implemented Welcome Back Fund and Community Renewal Fund projects and programmes; delivered Thurrock 
Enterprise Week; implementation of LoCASE and CLLD programmes; securing cultural development funding for Thameside Theatre and HHPP; and delivered Thames 
Freeport bid and business cases to support economic growth and regeneration / levelling up across Thurrock.   
 
Available resource is being targeted at the most important priorities and projects in the programme highlighted in the action plan.  
 
Good progress continues to be made but capacity issues mean that most important actions are being prioritised. Progress against key actions in line with the programme 
plan/management action plan for the opportunity. Forecast rating 12 to reflect delivery in year.  

 

P
age 164



EXISTING ACTION / RESIDUAL OPPORTUNITY  

Management Action Already in Place Date 
Implemented 

1. Backing Thurrock Strategy adopted by Cabinet  
2. Governance arrangements established: Backing Thurrock Implementation Group and Programme Management regime   
3. Implementation underway – Actions being implemented 

March 2021 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 

Residual Opportunity Rating Date: 01/07/2022 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

 
FURTHER ACTION / FORECAST OPPORTUNITY / REVISED RESIDUAL OPPORTUNITY 

Further Management Action  Implementation 
Date Progress  

4.  Embedding governance and implementing monitoring arrangements 
 
  
5.  Delivering against priorities identified in the action plan, including:  

- Developing Freeport FBC   
- Development of skills action plan 
- Developing a new Cultural Strategy for Thurrock, co-design and co-

produced to maximise for residents and businesses the opportunities 
from cultural regeneration.  

- Development of ongoing sustainability funding 
- Facilitating delivery of Government funded Community Renewal Fund 

(CRF)  

Ongoing July / 
Aug 2022  
 
 
August 2022 
Sept 2022  
 
 
 
 
Ongoing  

Governance and monitoring arrangements in place  
 
 
 
OBC submitted and approved. FBC submitted.   
Skills action plan development underway.  
 
 
 
 
CRF delivery underway. 

Forecast Opportunity Rating Forecast 
Date: 31/03/2023 Impact: Exceptional (4) Likelihood: Likely (3) Rating: 12 

Revised Residual Opportunity Rating Date:  Impact:  Likelihood:  Rating:  
 

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Criteria Guide for Impact and Likelihood Appendix 3 
 
Criteria Guide for Impact Levels 

Risk   Opportunity 
Negative  
Impact Description   Positive  

Impact Description 

4 
Critical 

• Inability to deliver a number of strategic objectives or a priority. 
• Major loss of service, including several important service areas 
• Major reputation damage - adverse central government response, involving 

threat of / removal of delegated powers or adverse and persistent national 
media coverage 

• Loss of Life 
• Major personal privacy infringement - All personal details compromised / 

revealed 
• Huge financial loss/cost - >£1M in a year. Up to 75% of budget. 
• Major disruption to project / huge impact on ability to achieve project objectives.   

  

4 
Exceptional 

• Exceptional improvement to service(s) (e.g. quality, level, speed, cost, etc) and/or 
delivery of strategic objectives/priorities 

• National award or recognition/elevated status by national government 
• Positive national press/media coverage 
• Major improvement to the health, welfare & safety of stakeholders 
• Income/savings of >£500K in a year or exceptional saving of resource (e.g. time 

and labour) 

3 
Substantial 

• Inability to deliver an organisational priority or strategic objective.  
• Major disruption to important service or a number of service areas. 
• Significant reputation damage - adverse publicity in professional/municipal 

press or adverse local publicity of a major and persistent nature.    
• Major injury.  
• Many individual personal details compromised / revealed 
• Major financial loss/cost - >£500K - <£1M in a year. Up to 50% of budget 
• Significant disruption to project / significant impact on ability to achieve the 

project’s objectives. 

  

3 
Major 

• Major improvement to service(s) (e.g. quality, level, speed, cost, etc) and/or 
delivery of strategic objective/priority. 

• Regional recognition for initiative, partnership or arrangement.  
• Positive publicity in professional/municipal press or sustained positive local 

publicity. 
• Significant improvement to the health, welfare & safety of stakeholders 
• Income and/or savings of >£250K - <£500K in a year or major savings of resource 

(e.g. time and labour).   

2 
Marginal 

• Significant disruption to important service or major disruption to non crucial 
service. 

• Moderate reputation damage - adverse local publicity / local public awareness 
• Serious injury 
• Some individual personal details compromised / revealed 
• High financial loss/cost – >£100K - <£500K in a year. Up to 25% of budget 
• Moderate disruption to project / moderate impact on ability to achieve the 

project’s objectives.    

  

2 
Moderate 

• Moderate improvement to service(s) (e.g. quality, level, speed, cost, etc) and/or 
delivery of strategic objective/priority. 

• Borough or County wide recognition for initiative, partnership or arrangement. 
• Positive local publicity / local public awareness 
• Moderate improvement to the health, welfare & safety of stakeholders. 
• Income and/or savings of >£100K - <£250K in a year or moderate savings of 

resource (e.g. time and labour). 

1 
Negligible 

• Brief disruption to important service or significant disruption to non crucial 
service. 

• Minimal reputation damage - no external publicity and contained within Council 
• Minor injury or discomfort. 
• Isolated individual personal detail compromised/ revealed 
• Low or medium financial loss/cost <£100K in a year. Up to 10% of budget 
• Minor disruption to project / minor impact on ability to achieve the project’s 

objectives. 

  

1 
Minor 

• Minor improvement to service(s) (e.g. quality, level, speed, cost, etc) and/or 
delivery of strategic objective/priority.  

• Local level recognition for initiative, partnership or arrangement. 
• Minor positive local publicity 
• Minor improvement to the health, welfare & safety of stakeholders. 
• Income and/or savings of <£100K in a year or minor saving of resource (e.g. time 

and labour)   
 

P
age 167



 

 

 

Criteria Guide for Likelihood Levels 
Risk   Opportunity 

Likelihood Description   Likelihood Description 

4 
Very Likely 

• More than 75% chance of occurrence  
• Will probably occur at some time or in most circumstances. 
• Circumstances frequently encountered - daily, weekly, monthly and 

quarterly.  

  
4 

Very Likely 

• More than 75% chance of happening. 
• A clear opportunity already apparent, which can easily be achieved with a bit of 

further work or management. 
• Achievable in under 1 year (12 months) 

3 
Likely 

• Between 40% and 75% chance of occurrence. 
• Fairly likely to occur at some time or in some circumstances. 
• Circumstances occasionally encountered - occurs once every 1 to 2 years. 

  3 
Likely 

• Between 40% and 75% chance of happening. 
• An opportunity that has been identified and/or explored and may be achievable 

but will require some further work or management. 
• Achievable between 1 to 2 years 

2 
Unlikely 

• Between 10% and 40% chance of occurrence. 
• Fairly unlikely to occur, but could occur at some time. 
• Occurs once every 2 to 3 years 

  2 
Unlikely 

• Between 10% and 40% chance of happening 
• Opportunity that is fairly unlikely to happen that will need full investigation and 

require considerable work or management.  
• Achievable between 2 to 3 years 

1 
Very Unlikely 

• Less than 10% chance of occurrence. 
• May occur only in exceptional circumstances. 
• Has never or very rarely happened before. 

  1 
Very Unlikely 

• Less than 10% chance of happening.  
• Opportunity that is very unlikely to happen that will need full investigation and 

require considerable work or management. 
• Achievable in more than 3 years 

 
 
 
Risk/Opportunity Matrix & Priority Table 
       

  Risk  Opportunity   

Very Likely 4 4 8 12 16 High Priority 16 12 8 4 4 Very Likely 

Likely 3 3 6 9 12  12 9 6 3 3 Likely 

Unlikely 2 2 4 6 8 Medium Priority 8 6 4 2 2 Unlikely 

Very Unlikely 1 1 2 3 4 Low Priority 4 3 2 1 1 Very Unlikely 

  1 2 3 4  4 3 2 1   

  RA
B Priority Risk Rating Priority Opp. 

   High 12 - 16 High 
   Medium 6 - 9 Medium 
  

N
eg

lig
ib

le
 

M
ar

gi
na

l 

S
ub

st
an

tia
l 

C
rit

ic
al

  E
xceptional 

M
ajor 

M
oderate 

M
inor 

 Low 1 - 4 Low 

 

P
age 168



 

20 October 2022 ITEM:   8 

Standards & Audit Committee 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Quarterly Update (Q1) 

Wards and communities affected:  
All 

Key Decision:  
Non-Key 

Report of: Michael Dineen, Strategic Lead, Counter Fraud & Investigation 

Accountable Assistant Director: David Kleinberg, Assistant Director for Counter 
Fraud, Investigation & Enforcement 

Accountable Director: Julie Rogers, Director of Public Realm 

This report is Public 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Counter Fraud & Investigation service is responsible for the prevention, 
detection and deterrence of all instances of alleged economic crime affecting the 
authority including: allegations of fraud, theft, corruption, bribery and money 
laundering. 
 
This report outlines the performance of the CFI team over the last quarter (Q1) for 
Thurrock Council as well as the work the team have delivered nationally for other 
public bodies. 
 
 
1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 The Standards & Audit Committee comments on the performance of the 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Department. 
 

2. Introduction & Background 
 
2.1 The Council’s Counter Fraud team is responsible for delivering the corporate 

counter fraud programme which includes proactive work to enhance the 
council’s controls as well as respond to intelligence from that proactive work 
and information from other sources. 

 
3. Performance 
 
3.1 CFI receives reports about suspected fraud from the public, government and 

law enforcement partners, internal referral mechanisms and proactive 

Page 169

Agenda Item 8



 

operations. The figures show the performance of the department for Quarter 1 
(Q1) of 2022/23.  

 
• 12 reports of suspected fraud have been received 
• 6 Investigations have been closed as ‘no fraud’ 
• 1 sanction has been delivered in cases of proven fraud 
• 1 Social housing property has been recovered 
• 226 active investigations are currently being conducted 

 
3.2 The ring-fenced National Investigation Service (NATIS) function within the 

Counter Fraud & Investigation portfolio continues to support both central and 
local government bodies. 

  

4. Work Plan for 2022/23 
 
4.1 CFI has a programme of proactive work to ensure the council’s controls against 

fraud are robust and effective. That plan was presented and accepted by the 
Standards and Audit Committee in July 2022. Appendix 1 sets out the 
progress made in delivering the Counter Fraud & Investigation Work Plan 
2022/23. 

 
4.2 The work programme is a working document and if during the year changes 

or additions to the plan are proposed between the CFI and the Section 151 
Officer, these will be brought back to the Committee for approval. 

 
4.3 The proactive work by the service continues with a focus on delivering training 

and knowledge across the council, from employees to members The team will 
be engaging with high-risk areas, such as housing and social care, to ensure 
all that work within these high-risk areas are aware of the signs of fraud or 
unlawful behaviour. This is a significant part of the pro-active work plan. 

 
4.4 Closer interaction with Housing and Environment is envisaged for the year to 

come with specific joint working to target the assets of those that prosper from 
their criminal activity against the council. This will utilise officers with the 
appropriate powers form the CFI and share the expertise with others in the 
council.  

 
5. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
5.1 This report provides a detailed update to the Committee on the counter-fraud 

measures for the Council and how it is reducing fraud under the council’s 
counter-fraud strategy. 

   
6. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 
7. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 

impact 

Page 170



 

 
7.1 Work undertaken by CFI to reduce fraud and enhance the Council’s anti-fraud 

and corruption culture contributes to the delivery of all its aims and priorities 
supporting good corporate governance. 

 
8. Implications 
 
8.1 Financial 

 
Implications verified by:  Laura Last  

 Senior Management Accountant, Finance 
 
There are no financial implications arising from this report 

 
8.2 Legal 

 
Implications verified by:  Deirdre Collins 

 Senior Barrister, Legal Services 
 
There are no legal implications within this report. 

  
8.3 Diversity and Equality 

 
Implications verified by:  Roxanne Scanlon  

Community Engagement and Project 
Monitoring Officer, Adults, Housing & Health 

 
There are no social or community issues surrounding this report. There are 
also no Diversity or Equality issues. 

 
8.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health Inequalities, 

Sustainability, Crime and Disorder and Impact on Looked After Children) 
 
None. 

 
9. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 

on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright): 
 
Counter Fraud & Investigation Policy & Strategy – thurrock.gov.uk/fraud 
Counter Money Laundering Policy & Strategy – thurrock.gov.uk/fraud 
CroweClarkWhitehill Annual Fraud Indicator – crowe.co.uk 

Page 171



 

 
10. Appendices to the report 
 

• Appendix 1 – Counter Fraud & Investigation Proactive Work Plan 
2022/23 

 
 
Report Author:  
Michael Dineen 
Strategic Lead for Counter Fraud & Investigation 

Page 172



 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

Proactive Work Plan 2022/23 
 

 

 

 

P
age 173



 

 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Annual Strategy 2022/23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our Fraud Control Strategy
Our Strategy ensures all of our actions are considered and justified. 

The Counter Fraud & Investigation team’s work ensures that we are able to identify at an earlier stage intelligence relating to the 
key priorities below, particularly those affecting the most vulnerable of society.

P
age 174



 

 

Proactive Work Plan 2022/23 
Risk Area Activity When Current Status Responsible 

Officer 
Date 
Complete 

Council-wide Training of high risk areas in counter fraud measures 

Ensure understanding of the threats posed to those areas. 
To be tailored to the areas and ongoing support offered via 
a Single Point of Contact with CFI. This is a yearly activity 
that CFI will continue to deliver. 

July 2022 to 
June 2023 

 Ongoing and will be delivered to the 
high-risk areas. Intention to deliver 
fraud training to members within next 
6 months. 

Phil Butt/Rob 
Kleinberg 

 

Council-wide Review all relevant policies concerning fraud aspects 
of the council’s business 

Ensuring that all hold the most up to date legislative 
information as well as ensuring best practice is always 
adhered to. 

Jan 2023 Will be completed by deadline. Michael Dineen  

Council-wide A Fraud Health Check on the Social Care Application 
Process 

Ensuring the applicants that apply for Social Care 
assistance are entitled to and worthy of such care 
assistance, specifically direct payment care.  

Apr 2023 This is in planning and a strategy will 
be delivered to the AD and D within 
this work area. 

Phil Butt  

Council-wide Targeting POCA and Civil Legislation to maximise 
effect on criminal behaviour 

Ensure that CFI utilise the appropriate legislation to 
maximise the effects on criminals and ensure that our 
vision of protecting the public purse is adhered to by 
promoting this work. 

June 2023 This will be continued and working 
with Environment Crime Unit will be 
first to utilise the relationship. 

Roger Noakes  

 

As well as the proactive work, the CFI will continue to work on all the reactive investigations that continues every day from 
the referrals it receives. This is predominately the work that is required to be completed to ensure a successful CFI as can 
be seen throughout this report. 

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Standards & Audit Committee 
Work Programme 

2022/23 
 
 
Dates of Meetings: 7 July 2022, 20 October 2022, 1 November, 24 November 2022 and 2 March 2023 
 
 
 

Topic 
 

Lead Officer 

7 July 2022 

Audit Progress Report for 2020/ 21 External Audit BDO / Jonathan Wilson 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 – Activity Report 2021 /22 Lee Henley  

Counter Fraud & Investigation Annual Report & Strategy David Kleinberg 

Annual Review of Risk and Opportunity Management and the Policy, Strategy and 

Framework 

Andy Owen 

In Quarter 4 (2021/22) Review of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register Andy Owen 

Ethical Standards Report Matthew Boulter 

Complaints received under the Members’ code of conduct Matthew Boulter 

Red Reports (as required)  

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 9



 

20 October 2022 

Annual Complaints & Enquiries Report 2021/22  Lee Henley 

Annual Information Governance Report April 2021 - March 2022 Lee Henley 

In Quarter 2 Refresh of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register Andy Owen 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Performance Report Q1 David Kleinberg 

Red Reports (as required)    

1 November 2022 

Audit Completion Report BDO / Jonathan Wilson 

Financial Statements and Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 BDO / Jonathan Wilson 

  

24 November 2022 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) - Activity Report 2022/23 (April to 

September) 

Lee Henley 

Internal Audit Progress Report 2022/23 Gary Clifford 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Performance Report Q2 David Kleinberg 

Member Complaints Update Matthew Boulter 

P
age 178



 

Investment Briefing Sean Clark 

A13 Widening Project Sean Clark / Colin Black 

Stanford-Le-Hope Transport Projects Sean Clark / Colin Black 

Update of Program and Project Management Sean Clark 

Red Reports (as required)  

2 March 2023 

Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report – Year ended 31 March 2022 Gary Clifford 

Internal Audit Charter 2022 Gary Clifford 

Internal Audit Progress Report 2022/23 Gary Clifford 

Counter Fraud & Investigation Quarterly Update (Q3) David Kleinberg 

Internal Audit Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/23 and Annual Internal Audit Plan 2023/24 Gary Clifford 

Audit Progress Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2022 Jonathan Wilson 

In Quarter 4 Review of the Strategic/Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register Andy Owen 

Annual Review of Risk and Opportunity Management and the Policy, Strategy and 
Framework Andy Owen 

 
Reports for 2023/24: 
 
 
 

P
age 179



 

Clerk: Rhiannon Whiteley 
Last Updated: October 2022  
 
 
 

P
age 180


	Agenda
	 
	Helpful Reminders for Members
	When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

	2 Minutes
	5 Annual Complaints & Enquiries Report -  2021/2022
	Appendix 1 Top 10 Complaint Themes
	Appendix 2 - Adult Social Care Complaint Dashboard
	Appendix 3 - Children's Social Care Complaints Dashboard
	Appendix 4 - Self Assessment Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code
	Appendix 4
	Thurrock Council self-assessment – Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code
	Section 1 – Definition of a complaint
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 2 – Accessibility and awareness
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 3 – Complaint handling personnel
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 4 – Complaint handling principles
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 5 – Complaint stages
	Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 1
	Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 2
	Mandatory 'must' requirements – Stage 3
	Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 1
	Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 2
	Best practice 'should' requirements – Stage 3

	Section 6 – Putting things right
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 7 – Continuous learning and improvement
	Mandatory 'must' requirements
	Best practice 'should' requirements

	Section 8 – Self-assessment and compliance
	Mandatory 'must' requirements




	6 Annual Information Governance Report April 2021 - March 2022
	7 In Quarter 2 Refresh of the Strategic / Corporate Risk and Opportunity Register
	Appendix 1 Dashboard
	Appendix 2 In Focus Report
	Appendix 2
	Strategic/Corporate Risk & Opportunity Register
	In Focus Report
	Opportunities In Focus

	Appendix 3 Criteria Guide for Impact and Likelihood

	8 Counter Fraud & Investigation Quarterly Update
	Appendix 1 Proactive Work Plan 2022-23

	9 Work Programme

